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CONVEYANCE OF LAND TO HUDSON'S BAY COMPANY BY INDIAN TRIBES

No. 1

Know all men, We the Chiefs and People of the Teechamitsa
Tribe who have signed our names and made our marks to this Deed
on the twenty ninth day of April, one thousand eight hundred and
fifty do consent to surrender, entirely and for ever, to James
Douglas, the Agent of the Hudson's Bay Company in Vancouvers
Island, that 13 to say, for the Governor, Deputy Governor, and
Committee of the same, the whole of the lands situate and lying
between Esquimalt Harbour and Point Albert, including the latter,
on the Straits of Juan de Fuca, and extending backward from
thence to the range of mountains on the Sanitch Arm, about ten
miles distant. ) ‘

The Condition of or understanding of this Sale, is this,
that our Village Sites and enclosed Fields are to be kept for our
own use, for the use of our children, and for those who may
follow after us; and the land shall be properly surveyed
hereafter; it is understood, however, that the land itself, with
these small exceptions, becomes the Entire property of the White
people for ever; it 1s also understood that we are at liberty to
hunt over the unoccupied lands, and to carry on our fisheries as
formerly.

We have received as payment Twenty seven pounds ten
Shillings Sterling.

In token whereof, we have signed our names and made our
marks at Fort Victoria 29th April 1850.

his
1. See-sachasis X

mark
2. Hay-hay-kane X
3. Pee-shaymoot
4. Kals-ay-mit-*
5. Leoo-chaps
6. Phlamie
7. Chamutstin

9. Coquymilt
10. Kamostitchel
11. Minay-iitui

MMM KRR KR

Done in the presence of
Roderick Finlayson

Joseph William McKay
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Ministry of Aboriginal Affairs, Province of British Columbia

Douglas Treaties: 1850-1854

By the time the colony of Vancouver Island was established in 1849, British administrators had
developed a colonial policy that recognized aboriginal possession of land. In 1850 the Hudson's Bay
Company, which was responsible for British settlement of Vancouver Island as part of its trading license
agreement with the Crown, began purchasing lands for colonial settlement and industry-from aboriginal
peoples on Vancouver Island.

Between 1850:ind 1854, James Douglas, as chief factor of Fort Victoria and govemnor of the colony,
made a series of fourteen land purchases from aboriginal peoples. The Douglas Treaties cover
approximately 358 square miles of land around Victoria, Saanich, Sooke, Nanaimo and Port Hardy, all

on Vancouver Island.

Treaty negotiations by Douglas did not continue beyond 1854 due, in part, to a lack of funds and the
slow progress of settlement and industry in the 1850s.

Douglas' policies toward aboriginal peoples and land were generally consistent with British pdnéiples.
Those of his political successors, however, proved to be not as consistent.

The fourteen Douglas treaties are similar in approach and content. An area of land was surrendered
“entirely and forever" in exchange for cash, clothing, or blankets. The signatories and their descendants
retained existing village sites and fields for their continued use, the “liberty to hunt over unoccupied
Iands" and the right to "carry on their fisheries as formerly."

Douglas' land purchases have consistently been upheld as treaties by the courts (R. v. White and Bob,
1964; R. v. Bartleman, 1984; Claxton v. Saanichton Marina Ltd., 1989). In 1987 the Tsawout Band
successfully obtained a permanent injunction restraining the construction of a marina in Saanichton Bay
on the grounds that the proposed facility would interfere with fishing rights promised to them by their

1852 treaty.

The following is a list of the signatory tribes and their present-day names:
Saanich, Victoria, Metchosin and Sooke areas

Teechamitsa now called Esquimalt Band

Kosampson now called Esquimalt Band

‘Whyomilth now called Esquimalt Band

Swengwhung now called Songhees Band -

Chilcowitch now called Songhees Band

Che-ko-nein now called Songhees Band

Ka-ky-aakan now called Becher Bay Band
Chewhaytsum now called Becher Bay Band

Sooke now called Sooke Band

Saanich (South) now called Tsawout and Tsartlip Bands
‘Saanich (North) now called Paughachin and Tseycum Bands

Note: Due to the methodology used to determine present-day names, it is not definitely determined

(W aYio X a'th)
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that the descendants from the three tribes in Esquimalt territory are present-day Esquimalt Band
members.

Nanaimo
e Saalequun now called Nanaimo Band
Port Hardy Area

e Queackar now called Kwakiutl (Kwawkelth) Band
e Quakiolth now called Kwakiutl (Kwawkelth) Band

Members of the Malahat Band, descendants of the South Saanich, share hunting and fishing rights with
the Tsawout and Tsartlip Bands. The Nanoose Band has a similar relationship with the Nanaimo Band,
as do the Nimkish (Nungis) with the Kwakiutl (Kwawkelth). Members of the Comox and Gwa'sala-
Nakwaxda'xw Bands are also descendents of the Queackar and Quakiolth.

[ Home | Treaties | History | First Nations | Publications | FAQs | News )
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HISTORICAL REPORTS

THE DOUGLAS RESERVE POLICY

DISCLAIMER: Paper prepared for the Union of BC Indian Chiefs by Thalassa Research
Associates. Property of the Union of British Columbia Indian Chiefs. This document is
being made available to the aboriginal and wider research community as a public service. The

views expressed in this paper are not necessarily those of the Union of British Columbia
Indian Chiefs.

Introduction

Between 1850 and 1864 Sir James Douglas as Governor and Chief Factor for the Hudson’s Bay
Company and later Governor of the Colonies of Vancouver Island and British Columbia developed a broad
and consistent policy for resolving the Indian Land Question in the colonies. While the earlier aspects of
this policy, effected mainly under the auspices of land conveyances for the Hudson’s Bay company, are
easily accessible through official documentation of the so-called Fort Victoria Treaties, Douglas’s later
efforts are frequently ambiguous and difficult to document for a number of reasons. The purpose of this
memorandum is to outline the consistent, over-arching principles that informed Douglas’s approach to
aboriginal title, settlement problems and political ramifications of early colonial land policy. From
Douglas’s Fort Victoria land conveyances one can infer that his approach to reserves and land pre-emptions
would have been more rational and less ambiguous had it been within his power. In particular he would
have extinguished aboriginal title given adequate funds. Most importantly, the reserve policy implemented
by Governor Douglas in the Fort Victoria treaties, and by extension in the later reserve system, was, insofar
as he understood it, a consistent extension of both Imperial and later Dominion aboriginal policy. It
constituted a recognition of the Royal Proclamation of 1763 and its alteration in the years following his
tenure is illustrative of the developmeént of an anomalous, indigenous British Columbia approach to Indian
lands that diverged from those principles contained in the Proclamation.

The Hudson’s Bay Company

The original Royal Charter incorporating the Hudson’s Bay Company was granted by King
Charles in 1670. The original members of the corporation were persons in royal favour. The first Governor,
Prince Rupert of Bavaria, was a leader for the Stuarts in the English Civil War; the second Governor was
James, Duke of York, afterwards James II of England, and the third was John Churchill, afterwards Duke
of Marlborough. The original Hudson’s Bay Charter did not include a grant to the company of the territory
which included Vancouver Island; the Island was granted to the company on 13 January 1849. The
provisions conveying Vancouver Island to the company were definitive and confirmatory of the Charter of
1670 and specifically dealt with the matter of colonization. It did not destroy but rather affirmed the
aboriginal rights inherited from the Proclamation of 1763. As was the case in the Proclamation, the
protection and welfare of the Indians was stressed. The wording of the Hudson’s Bay Company’s Charter
of 1670 and the Royal Grant of 1849 suggested that the Governor, Factors and other officials of the
company should exercise on behalf of the company all the powers necessary to make treaties with the
Indians for the attainment of the objects of the Charter and the Grant.

And whereas it would greatly conduce to the maintenance of
peace, justice and good order, and the advancement of
colonization and the promotion and encouragement of trade
and commerce in, and also to the protection and welfare of
the native Indians residing within that portion of our territory
in North America called Vancouver’s Island, if such Island
were colonized by settlers from the British dominions, and if
the property in the land of such island were vested for the
purpose of such colonization in the said Governor and



Company of Adventurers of England trading into Hudson’s
Bay;...
(Hudson’s Bay Company, Royal Grant of 1849)

During the Company’s regime it did not presume that the Royal Grant gave it any title on
Vancouver Island to lands in actual occupation of an Indian tribe, but the Company did assume and
jealously exercise “the exclusive right of purchasing such lands as the natives were willing to sell.” In
December, 1849, Archibald Barclay, the Secretary of the Hudson’s Bay Company, wrote from London
outlining the general principles that the Governor and Committee authorized Douglas to adopt in dealing
with the Indian tribes.

With respect to the rights of the natives you will have to confer with the
Chiefs of the tribes on that subject, and in your negotiations with them
you are to consider the natives as the rightful possessors of such lands
only as they occupied by cultivation, or had houses built on, at the time
when the island came under the individual sovereignty of Great Britain
in 1846. All other land is to be regarded as waste, and applicable to the
purpose of colonization. Where any annual tribute has been paid by the
natives to the Chiefs, a fair compensation for such payments is to be
allowed.

The natives will be confirmed in the possession of their lands
as long as they occupy and cultivate them themselves, but will
not be allowed to sell or dispose of them to any private
person, the right to the entire soil having been granted to the
Company by the Crown. The right of hunting and fishing will
be continued to them, and when their lands are registered,
and they conform to the same conditions with which other
settlers are required to comply, they will enjoy the same rights
and privileges. v

(Barclay to Douglas, December, 1849)

On March 9, 1849 Richard Blanshard arrived as the first Governor of Vancouver Island, though
Imperial authority continued in fact to be exercised by James Douglas. Blanshard departed in September,
1851 and Douglas was appointed Governor of the Vancouver Island Colony, holding for a time positions
both as Chief Factor and Governor.

Douglas Policy as Governor of Vancouvert Island Colony

Several factors informed Douglas’s policy as Governor of the Colony of Vancouver Island.
Among these was his desire to avoid unrest among the natives. Douglas wished to avoid antagonism
between natives and whites which might lead to disturbances and interracial violence such as that
experienced in the U.S. territories to the South. Particularly, he wished to prevent the need for a continuing
Imperial military presence on the Island and to avoid curtailment of the lucrative fur-trade. In this early
period, pressures of settlement posed few problems. Unlike other colonies, Vancouver Island had not been
founded for the purpose of alleviating overcrowded conditions in Britain. By 1852 as few as 435
immigrants had been sent to the colony, only eleven had purchased land, and another nineteen had -applied
for land. In general, Douglas’s course of action with regard to the Indians was consistent with his
understanding of their rights under the Royal Proclamation of 1763. He adopted the same tone and attitude
toward the Indians as did the Governors and officers in dealing with the Indians in eastern America.
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First, the potential difficulties with Indians and the need for compromise without delay was of
paramount consideration for Governor Douglas. As settlement became more widely dispersed in the Island
Colony and settlers demanded increased protection from real or imaginary Indian aggression, Douglas
sought to neutralize the problem through accommodation with the natives. Because of their potential
power, the strain they put on scarce resources of the colony insofar as they increased the need for outlays
for the maintenance of order, and the general disorder that disturbances between whites and Indians could
bring, Douglas believed the hostility of the Indians was the worst calamity the infant colony could face:

I shall nevertheless continue to conciliate the good will of the
native Indian tribes by treating them with justice and
forebearance and by rigidly protecting their civil and agrarian
nghts. Many cogent reasons of humanity and sound policy
recommend that course to our attention and I shall therefore
rely on your support in carrying such measures into effect.
Their friendship is useful. Their enmity may become more
disastrous than any other calamity to which the Colony is

exposed.
(12 August 1856, Minutes of the House of Assembly of Vancouver Island)

In addition to Douglas’s personal respect for the natives, a regard well-documented in his personal
correspondence, he felt it was prudent to foster the natives’ goodwill. He saw them as potential allies in the
event of conflict with Americans over the San Juan Islands:

As friends and allies the Native races are capable of rendering
the most valuable assistance to the Colony, while their enmity
would entail on the settlers a greater amount of wretchedness
and physical suffering, and more seriously retard the growth

and materia] development of the Colony...
(Douglas to Lytton, 14 march 1859, Papers Connected... p. 16)

Second, James Douglas was first and foremost a fur-trader, reflecting the mentality of that
occupation. As Chief Factor for the Hudson’s Bay Company his primary concern was for the Hudson’s
Bay Company his primary concern was for the uninterrupted operation of the profitable fur-trade economy
of the Northwest Coast. The Indians were the primary suppliers of furs and the foundation on which the
profits of the Company were based. To jeopardize this important source of supply would have undermined
the entire raison d’etre of the Company in this area. Douglas’s awareness of the need to compromise with a
new economtic order, however, upon the shift from a fur-trading to a primarily agrarian, settler economy, is
foreshadowed in the following passage:

The interests of the Colony, and Fur Trade will never
harmonize, the former can only flourish through the
protection of equal laws, the influence of free trade, the
accession of respectable inhabitants; in short, by establishing
a new order of things, while the Fur Trade must suffer by

each innovation.
(Douglas to Hudson’s Bay Company, 18 October 1838, McLoughlin’s Letters,
First Series, p. 242)

As a man concerned primarily with the fur-trade and less attracted to the development of the new economic
order of settlement, Douglas was predisposed to treat Indians differently than those later colonists who saw
the natives as rivals for possession of good agricultural lands.



Third, Douglas wished to avoid the presence of an Imperial military force in the Colony. He made
it a policy (following an earlier episode in which Governor Blanshard had raised the spectre of a military
force in the colony for the speedy coercion of the natives) to treat Indian violence as the actions of
individuals rather than sociological symptoms of native or racial flaws. He searched out native criminals
and punished them according to British legal practices. Above all, Douglas felt the presence of troops in the
Colony was an evil to be avoided at all costs.

Fourth, Douglas found the American model of Indian settlement repugnant in several aspects. In a
Despatch from Douglas to Sir E.B. Lytton, Secretary of State for the Colonies, March 14, 1859, Douglas
detailed his plan for the settlement of the land question and expressed his objection to following a system
similar to the American:

The plan followed by the Government of the United States, in making
Indian settlements, appears in many respects objectionable; they are
supported at an enormous expense, by Congréss, which for the fiscal
year ending June 30", 1856 granted the sum of 358,000 dollars for the
support and maintenance of the Indians of California alone, and for the
four years ending with the thirtieth June, 1858, the total expenditure for
that object came to the large sum of 1,104,000 dollars, and
notwithstanding the heavy outlay, the Indians in those settlements are
rapidly degenerating; neither would I recommend the system pursued
by the founders of the Spanish missions in California.

(Douglas to Lytton, 14 March 1859, Papers Connected..., p. 17)

In addition to his interpretation of the uneconomical results of the American model, Douglas felt
that the system to the south contributed to interracial violence by unnecessarily breaking down traditional
order and necessitating the application of large quantities of coercive force on the part of the government.
In contrast to the consolidated reserve system operative in the United States, Douglas received guidance
from Lytton suggesting the superiority of the separate villages scheme developed in the Cape colony by Sir
George Grey (Lytton to Douglas, 30 December, 1858, Papers Connected..., p. 15).

The Fort Victoria Treaties

Between 1850 and 1854 Douglas made fourteen treaties with the Coast Salish natives in the immediate
vicinity of Victoria, Fort Rupert and Nanaimo. Cash payments in the form of blankets were made for small
portions of Vancouver Island, with reservation to the Indians of their village sites and enclosed fields. In
the spring of 1850 Douglas concluded nine agreements covering Victoria, Metchosin and Sooke; in 1851,
two at Fort Rupert; in 1852, two covering the Saanich peninsula; and in 1854, one at Nanaimo. The limited
area covered by these treaties was due in large measure to Douglas’s decision to conclude agreements only
as pressures of seftlement in various areas made treaties necessary. For instance, the Cowichans wanted
during this period to sell their lands in the same way as they understood the Songhees to have done, but
Douglas refused, on the grounds that settlement was not immediately moving into that region (Douglas to
Barclay, 16 May, 1850, HBCA, A-11/72). As well, a scarcity of funds with which to purchase lands in the
later period was a limiting factor on the concluding of treaties. It is clear, however, in the content of the
Fort Victoria treaties, that Douglas and the Colonial Office shared the notion that the aboriginal race
exercised some form of ownership over the land that needed to be extinguished by colonial power.

In the Despatch of December 1849, cited above, Barclay instructed Douglas as to the rights of the
natives and the extent to which they were to be respected. Upon receipt of this Despatch, Douglas
summoned the Chiefs and other influential men of the Songhees and other tribes to a conference in
Victoria. After considerable discussion it was arranged that the whole of the lands should be sold to the
Company with the exception of village sites and enclosed fields. Hunting and fishing rights were extended
to natives on unoccupied land. Compensation was offered in the form of remuneration most frequently
taken from the Bay stores usually in the form of blankets. Douglas was in favour of a series of annual
payments, but according to his report to Barclay, the Indians pressed him for immediate payment of the
entire sum, to which he finally agreed (Douglas to Barclay, 16 May, 1850, HBC Letters 1849-1861).
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The treaties drawn up during this period were practically identical for the fourteen tribes with
which agreements were concluded. Generally land was paid for in blankets valued at 16 shillings, 8 pence
during that period. The compensation to the Indians reflected a retail price for the blankets and represented
a mark-up of approximately 300 per cent over the wholesale price. Despite the apparent lucidity of the Fort
Victoria treaties, some confusion has arisen over actual boundaries agreed to and the appropriateness of the
European conception of land ownership to the colonial situation. The assumption that each group owned
exclusively tracts of land identified by them, failed to take account of shared areas. For example, the
Chekonein were designated as the owners of Cadboro Bay and therefore the Chilcowitch, who used it to the
same degree, could not under European ideas of private property be considered owners as well. In addition,
the fact that the treaties were signed at Fort Victoria, and not “on the ground” means that:

the boundaries of tribal lands were settled on the basis of
verbal description. It is doubtful that Douglas had an accurate
map to work with, and éven if he did, it is even more
doubtful that the Indians could read it. Their mental maps
and his had to be reconciled, as did any confusion which
arose over landmarks, directions, and distance. Such
confusions are apparent in several of the descriptions in the
treaties, making it impossible to map the territories in
anything more than a schematic way.
(Wilson Duff, “The Fort Victoria Treaties”, BC Studies, No. 3, Fall 1969, p. 24)

Despite these vagaries, Douglas was consistent, with few exceptions in maintaining the boundaries of land
he had reserved to the natives, suggesting that he believed Indian consent was necessary for alteration of
land allocated to the tribes. _

On March 25, 1861, Douglas wrote to Newcastle, then Secretary of State for the Colonies,
“praying for the aid of Her Majesty’s Government in extinguishing the Indian title to the public lands in
this Colony...” He argued that the natives had “distinct ideas of property in land, and mutually recognized
their several exclusive rights in certain districts.” He warned that failure to extinguish title and “the
occupation of such portions of the Colony by white settlers, unless with the full consent of the proprietary
tribes, “would be perceived as national wrongs, engender féelings of irrigation against the settlers, and
endanger the peace of the country.” Douglas estimated that it would cost 3000 pounds sterling to extinguish
title to the remaining settled districts of the Colony: He asked that the British Government extend a loan in
the form of a grant to be repaid from the proceeds of consequent sale of public lands in the Colony
(Douglas to Newcastle, 25 March 1861, Papers Connected..., p. 19). Newcastle replied:

I am fully sensible of the great importance of purchasing
without loss of time the native title to the soil of Vancouver
Island, but the acquisition of the title is a purely colonial
interest, and the Legislature must not entertain any
expectation that the British taxpayer will be burthened to
supply the funds or British credit pledged for the purpose. I
would earnestly recommend, therefore, to the House of
Assembly, that they should enable you to procure the
requisite means, but if they should not think proper to do so,
Her Majesty’s Government cannot undertake to supply the
money for an object which, whilst it is essential to the
interests of the people of Vancouver Island, is at the same
time purely colonial in character, and trifling in the charge
that it would entail.



(Newcastle to Douglas, 19 October 1861, Papers Connected..., p. 20)

This episode, based on a Petition from Douglas and the Vancouver Island House of Assembly, illustrates
recognition of aboriginal title by official bodies in the Colony and their understanding of the need to
collaborate with the Imperial Government on extinguishment of that title.

From this time forward, his access to the Hudson’s Bay Company stores cut off and his funds
severely limited, Douglas was only able to reserve lands without compensation. No. further treaties were
concluded by Governor Douglas. Without requisite funds he was severely hampered in his plan to
extinguish title both in the Colony on the Island and later as administrator for British Columbia. Lack of
adequate funds also forced Douglas to order only the staking out of reserves in lieu of more accurate
professional surveys. The critical importance of Douglas’s financial straits is further illustrated by a letter
from his secretary to the Chief Commissioner of Lands and Works emphasizing that “heavy pressure on the
resources of the Colony™ prevent Douglas from authorizing an outlay to surveyors for Indian reserves
(William A.G. Young, Colonial Secretary, to Moody; 9 June 1862, Papers Connected..., p. 24). Inasmuch-
as the Royal Engineers, whose wages were defrayed by the Imperial Government, were usually occupied in
the laying out of roads, Douglas frequently had to rely on persons unfamiliar with even rudimentary survey
or land techniques for the allocation of reserves on the site.

Douglas Reserve Policy: 1858-1864

Douglas severed his ties with the Hudson’s Bay Company in 1858 and took an appointment as
Governor of both western colonies in the same year. Shortly afterwards, he formulated his general policy
toward the native people along with a plan for extinguishment of Indian title. Communicated to Lytton in a
Despatch dated 14 March 1859, Douglas’s program provided for the “moral elevation of the native Indian
races,” the settlement of natives in self-supporting villages and the eventual inclusion of them in the
economic and cultural milieu of the European colonizers. Lord Carnarvon, in the absence of Lytton,
conveyed to Douglas his approval of the Colonial plan and suggested that “measures of liberality and
justice may be adopted for compensating them for the surrender of the territory which they had been taught
to regard as their own”(Carnarvon to Douglas, 11 April 1859, Papers Connected..., p. 18). Carnarvon’s
Despatch reflected a continuation of the far-reaching latitude and trust extended to James Douglas by both
the Hudson’s Bay Company and the Imperial Government. Virtually single-handedly, and without legal
assistance, Douglas laid out a plan for the settlement of the Indian land question consistent with the
principles of the Royal Proclamation and the intentions of Great Britain.

Despite the financial constraints under which Douglas was forced to operate in the years following
1858, there is no question that Douglas adopted a policy of “liberality and justice” as suggested to him in
the Despatch from Carnarvon. Douglas intended that reserves marked out in this period were to give the
Indians as much land as they wanted. This is a very clear thrust of Douglas’s policy and there can be no
disputing his intentions in this regard. In a letter from Charles Good (on behalf of the Colonial Secretary) to
R.C. Moody, the Chief Commissioner of Lands and Works, it is clear that Governor Douglas instructed that
the Indian reserves were to be “defined as they may be severally pointed out by the Natives themselves”
(Good to Moody 5 March 1861, Papers Connected..., p. 21). The position established by the Governor
with respect to the size of reserves was reaffirmed by Moody in a letter to (Assistant Commissioner of
Lands) Cox on 6 March 1861:

With regard to the former, I have received instructions from
His Excellency to communicate with you on the subject and
to request that you will mark out distinctly all the Indian
Reserves in your District, and define their extent as they may
be severally pointed out by the Indians themselves.

{Moody to Cox, 6 March 1861, Papers Connected..., p. 21)
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Furthermore, when word reached Douglas on several occasions about the inadequacies of reserves
or native dissatisfaction with land allotted to them, he immediately ordered the re-staking of land to
conform with their wishes:

That reserve is so small, not exceeding 50 acres of land, as to be
altogether insufficient to raise vegetables enough for their own use.

I beg that you will, therefore, immediately cause the existing
reserves to be extended in conformity with the wishes of the Natives,
and to include therein an area so large as to remove from their minds all
causes of dissatisfaction.

Notwithstanding my particular instructions to you,
that in laying out Indian Reserves, the wishes of the Natives
themselves, with respect to boundaries should in all cases be
complied with. I hear very general complaints of the
smallness of the areas set apart for their use.

(Douglas to Moody, 23 April 1863, Papers Connected..., pp. 26-7)

Douglas intended that the natives be treated no differently than British subjects. With respect to pre-
emption rights, Douglas supported the right of Indians to pre-empt lands outside reserve boundaries in the
same manner and by following the same procedures as could be effected by white men:

With reference to your letter of the 27" ultimo, on the subject of the
purchase of a Suburban Lot of Land by an Indian, on the same terms as
it could be purchased by a white man, I am directed by the Governor to
inform you that there can be no objection to your selling lands to the
Natives on the same terms as they are disposed of to any purchasers in
the colony whether British subjects or aliens. .
(Young to Moody, 18 June 1862, Papers Connected..., p. 24)

Furthermore, in a Despatch from Young, the Colonial Secretary to Moody on 5 April, 1861, it is cleaf that
Douglas wished to minimize disputes about reserve boundaries by issuing for the publication of the
position and extent of the reserves:

His Excellency further directs me to convey to you his
instructions that the position and extent of all spots of land,
now set apart as Government or.Indian Reserves, are to be
forthwith published in three different places in each district
where there may be such Reserves, and also in the local
newspapers, and should it so happen that circumstances may
afterwards render it expedient to relinquish any such reserve,
notice of the same is to be likewise published for 2 months at
least, before any sale or occupation of the reserve lands be
permitted; and His Excellency requests you will furnish him,
at your eatliest convenience, with a rough general sketch of
the country, exhibiting the different districts, and also as near
as may be the land already alienated by the Government.
(Young to Moody, 5 April 1861, Papers Connected..., p.22)

Douglas was concerned to secure the protection of the Crown for the Indians. Acting under the
authority and instructions of the Imperial Government, he recognized the Indian title and the tribal
character of the title, but declared the title vested in the Crown by which he meant that the right of
reversionary interest was with the Crown. The specifics of Douglas’s intent are clearly illustrated in a letter
written by Douglas in retirement following a dispute over amounts of acreage that arose in a later



administration. The letter states that “in laying out Indian reserves no specific number of acres was insisted
on. The principle followed in all cases was to leave the extent and selection of land, entirely optional with
the Indians who were immediately interested in the Reserve; the surveying officers having instructions to
meet their wishes in every particular and to include in each reserve the permanent village sites, the fishing
stations, and Burial grounds, cultivated land and all the favourite resorts of the tribes...” Douglas states that
the intention of this procedure was the “securing to each community their natural or acquired rights; of
removing all cause for complaint on the ground of unjust deprivation of the land indispensable for their
convenience or support, and to provide against the occurrence of agrarian disputes with the white settlers.”
Douglas assures his questioner on these matters that it was never intended that the Indians were to be
limited to ten acres per family and that “we were prepared, if such had been their wish, to have made for
their use much more extensive grants.”

Moreover as a safeguard and protection to these Indian communities
who might, in their primal state of ignorance and natural improvidence
have made away with the land, it was provided that these reserves
should be the common property of the tribes and that the title should
remain vested in the Crown, so as to be unalienable by any of their own
acts.

Douglas wisely added that “This letter may be regarded and trusted as an official communication.”
However, for reasons unknown, Douglas’s important letter, written in October 1874, was not included in
the Papers Connected to the Indian Land Question, appended to the Minutes of the Legislative Assembly,
1875.

Instructions for laying out the Douglas Reserves

The general background, then, to the Douglas reserve policy was that the Indians were to have as
much land as they wanted, that the Indians themselves were to point out the position and extent of their
lands, and that, in order to minimize disputes over pre-emption, reserve boundaries were to be published
before settlement could take place.

The details of the Douglas reserve policy are further illustrated upon examination of the
Governor's instructions to the individuals involved in marking out the reserves. In a letter from Parsons, of
the Royal Engineers, instructing Sapper Turnbull as to the procedures to be followed in laying out reserves,
it is stated that:

You will take an early opportunity of staking and marking out
in the District you are now stationed, all Indian villages, burial
places, reserves, etc., as they may be pointed out to you by
the Indians themselves, subject, however, to the decision of
the District Magistrate as to the extent of the land so claimed
by them. Make sketches of the locality and give dimensions
of claim, sending them to this office after acquainting the
Magistrate of what you have done. Be very careful to satisfy
the Indians so long as their claims are reasonable, and do not
mark out any disputed lands between whites and Indians
before the matter is settled by the Magistrate, who is

requested to give you every assistance.
(Parsons to. Turnbull, 1 May 1861, Papers Connected..., p.22)

Another set of instructions issued by Douglas provided that the Indians were to have as much land as they
wished and in no case was a reserve of less than 100 acres to be laid out (Mr. William McColl’s Report, 16
May 1864, Papers Connected..., p. 43).
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On occasion, complaints reached Douglas that reserves along the Fraser River were not extensive

enough for cultivation of land to an adequate level. Without delay, Douglas ordered that the reserve be

immediately enlarged:

I beg that you will, therefore, immediately cause the existing
reserve to be extended in conformity with the wishes of the
Natives, and to include therein an area so large as to remove
from their minds all causes of dissatisfaction.

(Douglas to Moody, 23 April 1863, Papers Connected..., pp. 26-27)

It is virtually impossible to reconstruct from available historical records a comprehensive list of
reserves laid out during the later years of the Douglas administration. In some cases, reserves were
inadequately staked out due to adverse weather conditions, limited resources, and the pressure to complete
the allocation of reserves in order that roads might be built to facilitate transportation to the gold fields of
the Interior. Were they readily accessible, files from the Department of Lands, Parks and Housing might
provide summary information regarding government reserves established during this period. In instances
where sketches were made, they are of primarily artistic or historical interest.

In the years following Douglas’s retirement, the policy established during his administration, was
altered substantially. The effect of the failure to establish a self-perpetuating policy soon became apparent.
Because his land policy had not been established by statute, it was subject to misinterpretation and
manipulation when individuals less favourably disposed towards the Indians came to power.

Indian Land Policy in Transition

In 1864, James Douglas retired from the governorship and Joseph Trutch was appointed Chief
Commissioner of Lands and Works. His appointment marked the beginning of profound shift in policy
concerning Indian lands. With Douglas’s retirement, the administration of the colonies was dominated by
individuals who were much less favourably disposed towards the Indians than Douglas had been. Trutch
was the leading figure among them.

In contrast with Douglas, Trutch held a pejorative view of North American Indians. AS early as
1850, while living in the United States, Trutch had described Indians as “the ugliest and laziest creatures I
ever saw & we shod. as soon think of being afraid of our dogs as of them” (Trutch to Charlotte Trutch, 23
June 1850, Trutch Papers, folder A1.b). Douglas had most often referred to indigenous peoples as “Native
Indians”, but Trutch rarely described them as anything other than “savages™ and was skeptical about their
capacity for “improvement”. “I have not yet met with a single Indian of pure blood whom I consider to
have attained even the most glimmering perception of the Christian creed” (Trutch to Secretary of State for
the Provinces, 26 September 1871, Papers Connected..., p. 101). Again, in 1872, after having been
appointed the first Lieutenant Governor of the Province of British Columbia, Trutch told the Prime
Minister of Canada that most of the British Columbia Indians were “utter Savages living along the coast,
frequently committing murder and robbery amongst themselves, one tribe upon another, and on white
people who go amongst them for the purpose of trade” (Trutch to Macdonald, 14 October 1872, Sir John A.
Macdonald Papers, vol. 28, National Archives of Canada).

The appointment of Trutch as Chief Commissioner of Lands and Works in 1864 also parallels a
shift form the dominance of the fur trade economy to that of a settler society. The number of settlers was
increasing substantially and Trutch saw the Indians as obstacles in the way of development of the colonies
by Europeans. His views on development closely reflected the needs of the settler population. Trutch
believed that the future of the colonies lay in agriculture and he was determined that Indian claims to land
could not be allowed to hinder land grants to settlers which would lay the foundation for agricultural
development.

The actions of Trutch during his tenure constituted a repudiation of the Imperial policy that had
been followed by Douglas. Imperial policy had recognized aboriginal title to territory that was occupied in



a regular way and then sought to extinguish Indian title prior to settlement. Douglas, who was aware that
the Indians held concepts of territorial boundaries or ownership of specific areas, had implemented this
policy in his dealings with the native population. Trutch, on the other hand, held a radically different view
and went so far as to claim that the Indians did not have any right to the lands they occupied. The editor of
the British Columbian, writing at the time that Governor Seymour assumed office in 1864, complained that
many in the colony of British Columbia ignored altogether the rights of the Indian, that they held the
American doctrine of “manifest destiny” and maintained that the native treaties were due to make way for
the Anglo-Saxon race (New Westminster, British Columbian 21 May 1864). Trutch, who had spent a
number of years in the United States as a surveyor and farmer, was influenced by the American experience
in dealing with-the Indian question. This may explain, to some extent, the policies he so aggressively
pursued as Chief Commissioner of Lands and Works.

It is also true that Trutch filled something of a political vacuum that was left by Douglas’s
retirement. Douglas was succeeded by two men, Frederick Seymour in the Mainland Colony of British
Columbia and Arthur Kennedy in Vancouver Island Colony, neither of whom had much interest or
influence in Indian affairs. Although Kennedy believed that Indians should be “secured in the possession of
their lands and prohibited from alienating them except for fair consideration™ (Kennedy to Cardwell, 1
October 1864, Despatches to London, March 1864-November 1866), his view was not shared by the House
of Assembly of Vancouver Island Colony and a stalemate on the question of Indian land policy marked
Kennedy’s administration. In 1866, with the union of the two colonies, Seymour became the first Governor.
As had been the case in the Mainland Colony of British Columbia after 1864, Seymour entrusted Trutch
with settling the Indian land question. Seymour seems to have been completely under the influence of
Trutch in these matters and supported the actions of his Chief Commissioner of Lands and Works. Seymour
stated openly that “the Indians have no right to any land beyond what may be necessary for their actual
requirements” and that “they can have no claim whatever to any compensation for any of the land so
excluded, for they really have never actually possessed it....” (Young to Trutch, 6 November 1867, Papers
Connected..., p. 45).

Trutch’s Indian Land Policy

Joseph Trutch denied that the Indians had any rights to land at all. In a key statement of his views
written in 1867, Trutch argued that:

The Indians have really no right to the lands they claim, nor

are they of any actual value or utility to them... It seems to

me, therefore, both just and politic that they should be

confirmed in the possession of such extents of lands only as

are sufficient for their probable requirements for purposes of

cultivation and pasturage, and that the remainder of the land

now shut up in these reserves should be thrown open to pre-

emption.

(Trutch to Acting Colonial Secretary, 28 August 1867, Papers Connected..., p.
42) )

This non-recognition of Indian title is a fundamental principle which formed the basis for Trutch’s actions
in this area and stands in distinct contrast with the policy followed by Douglas until his retirement. Trutch

- also attempted to distort Douglas’s reserve policy with claims that those responsible for marking out the
original reserves had either exceeded or misunderstood their instructions. In his letter to the Acting
Colonial Secretary on 28 August 1867, Trutch stated that “verbal instructions” given by Governor Douglas
personally to Mr. McColl constituted “indefinite authority” and that, accordingly,

These figures, therefore, cannot be relied on, but it is certain
that the extent of some of the reserves staked out by McColl
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is out of all proportion to the numbers or requirements of the

tribes to which they were assigned.
(Trutch to Acting Colonial Secretary, 28 August 1867, Papers
Connected..., p. 42)

Trutch also stated that, with respect to Douglas’s reserve policy, “there are no written directions on this
subject in the correspondence on record in this office”. Trutch chose to overlook written instructions to
both McColl and Cox, for example, and was engaged in a deliberate falsification of the record to suit his
own policy. When challenged on this important point, Mr. McColl made it clear that Trutch’s assertion was
untrue and that he had received both written and verbal instructions from Governor Douglas:

I beg to inform you that, in addition to the written
instructions, I had further verbal orders given to me by Sir
James Douglas, to the effect that all lands claimed by the
Indians were to be included in the resetve; the Indians were
to have as much land as they wished, and in no cases to lay

off a reserve under 100 acres.
(Mr. McColl’s Report, 16 May 1864, Papers Connected..., p. 43)

Trutch explicitly denied that the Fort Victoria treaties signed by Douglas provided a precedent for the
purchase of Indian lands in B.C. Writing in 1870, Trutch stated that the treaties signed by Douglas were
made “for the purpose of securing friendly relations between those Indians and the settlement of Victoria,
then in its infancy, and certainly not in acknowledgement of any general title of the Indians to the land they
occupy” (Trutch, Memorandum on a letter treating of conditions of the Indians in Vancouver Island,
addressed to the Secretary of the Aboriginees Protection Society, by Mr. William Sebright Green, enclosure
in Musgrave to Granville, 29 January 1870, Papers Connected..., p. 11). This understanding of the Fort
Victoria treaties is a further example of Trutch’s distortion of the Douglas policy. There is no question that
Douglas was providing compensation to the Indians who signed the treaties for extinguishment of title.

The Trutch Reductions

Given his views on the issue of Indian land rights, and supported in his actions by Governor
Seymour, Joseph Trutch set in motion a systematic reduction of Indian reserves that had been laid out
according to the reserve policy of the Imperial Government acting through James Douglas.

The first step in the process of reducing reserves was taken in 1865 with respect to Indians of the
Thompson River area. In response to an inquiry made by Phillip Nind, the Gold Commissioner at Lytton,
Trutch wrote that:

I am satisfied from my own observation that the claims of
Indians over tracts of land, on which they assume to exercise
ownership, but of which they make no real use, operate very materially
to prevent settlement and cultivation, in many instances besides that to
which attention has been directed by Mr. Nind, and I should advise that
these claims should be as soon as practicable enquired into and defined.
(Trutch to Good, 20 September, 1865, Papers Connected..., p. 30)

This was followed a few months later by a statement from Trutch that the reserves in question “are entirely
disproportionate to the numbers or requirements of the Indian Tribes” (Trutch to Good, 17 January 1866,
Papers Connected..., p. 32). It is interesting to note that Trutch made this assessment without any accurate
census information. By October, 1866, a notice appeared in the Government Gazette indicating that the
reserves of the Kamloops and Shuswap Indians had been redefined. This “adjustment” meant that out of a
forty mile stretch of the Thompson River the Indians were left with three reserves, each of between three
and four square miles. The remainder of the land previously reserved for them was to be thrown open for
pre-emption on 1 January 1867.



The Kamloops reductions provided Trutch with a precedent that he applied to Indian reserves in
the lower Fraser River area. Again, he advanced the argument that the Indians were holding good land that
they were not using productively. The reserves should, therefore, be reduced and the land made available to
settlers. Trutch suggested two methods of carrying out the reductions:

Two methods of effecting this reduction may be suggested —

either (1) to disavow absolutely McColl’s authority to make

these reserves of the extravagant extent laid out by him, and

instead to survey off the reserves afresh, either on the basis of

Mr. Brew’s letter of instructions to McColl, namely, ten acres

to each grown man, or of such extent as may, on

investigation, be determined to be proportionate to the

requirements of each tribe, or- (2) to negotiate with the

Indians for the relinquishment of the greater portion of these

lands, which they now consider their own, on terms of

compensation, in fact to buy the lands back from them.

(Trutch to Acting Colonial Secretary, 28 August 1867, Papers Connected..., p.

42
Having adopted the \)Iiew that the “Indians really have no right to the land they claim™, Trutch chose a
simple resurvey of the lower Fraser reserves, without any compensation to the Indians.

Another major reversal of Douglas’s policy initiated by Trutch came in regard to pre-emption
rights. Under Douglas, Indians had the right to be treated as British subjects insofar as pre-emption was
concerned. In 1866, this right was denied them. A Land Ordinance issued in that year prevented Indians
from pre-empting land without the written permission of the Governor. Subsequently, there was only a
single case of an Indian pre-empting land under this condition.

Another feature of the Trutch reduction policy, which once again provides a striking contrast with
Douglas’s policy, pertains to the controversy surrounding the size of reserves. Douglas had included in his
directions to those individuals laying out reserves that if the area demanded by the Indians did not equal ten
acres per family then the reserve was to be enlarged to that extent. However, Trutch used the ten acre figure
as a maximum allotment.

The extent of the land to be included in each of these
reservations must be determined by you on the spot, with due
regard to the numbers and industrial habits of the Indians
living permanently on the land, and to the quality of the land
itself, but as a general rule it is considered that an allotment of
about ten acres of good land should be made to each family
in the tribe.

(Trutch to O'Reilly, 5 August 1868, Papers Connected..., p. 50)

That this policy initiated by Trutch was never intended by Douglas was documented in a letter from
Douglas to Powell in 1874:

It was however never intended that they should be restricted
or limited to the possession of 10 acres of land, on the
contrary, we were prepared, if such had been their wish to

have made for their use much more extensive grants.
(Douglas to Powell, 14 October 1874)
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As it developed under Trutch, British Columbia’s land policy was striking in two fundamental
respects. First, non-recognition of aboriginal title and, second, the comparatively small amounts of land
finally allocated to the Indians. This policy represented a dramatic reversal of Imperial policy as understood
and implemented by Douglas and proved to be a source of discontent for the Indians of the province and
cause for dispute between the federal and provincial governments.

A Note about Sources cited in this Report:

Most references are from Papers Connected to the Indian Land Question, 1850-1875, Richard Wolfenden,
Government Printer, 1875. Other sources of information from this period include Hudson’s Bay Company
records and Colonial Correspondence and Colonial Office Correspondence from record groups at the BC
Archives.

http://www.ubcic.bc.ca/docs/DanrglasReservePolicy.doc



ity

e

=9 e

s

——

"VOR 1KO

XY SAY Q' 9M VILEAGE
P.O: Box 2596
Sidney, B.C.
VSL 4C1

_ -TSARTLIP FIRST NATION
.P.0. Box. 70 . B
Brentwood Bay, B C

PAUQUACHIN FIRST NATION _,
P.O.Box 517 = ‘
Brentwood Bay, B C

: LARRY GILBERT
. Barrister & Sohcntor ( o
517 Mount Vlew Ave. i
chtona, B.C. 3 ~ 5
- V9B 2B2 . *

i
s 1

4

COPYRIGHT @ APRIL, 1994 ¥
o]
S




Treaty Peopleé of southern Vancouver Island. Th gal Services Society of British Columbia
also provided

Gould be delivered at a workshop in April, 1994.

[,

Lt




TROD ION

The purposes of this paper are to discuss the nature of the treaty rights of the North

Saanich Peoples to fish and hunt for commercial purposes, the reasons why those treaty rights

have never been implemented by the Province of British Columbia and the Government of

Canada, and how international law relates to treaties with First Nations.

Section 27(5) of the British Columbia Fisheri ral) Regulations made pursuant to

the Fisheri ! prohibits the exercise of the treaty right to fish for commercial purposes.
Section 23 of the Wildlife Act? prohibits the exercise of the treaty right to hunt for commercial
purposes. The affected Treaty Indians are thereby denied an economic base in their own

communities and in accordance with their own tribal laws and customs.

One Treaty Indian from the Prairies spoke eloquently of the need for an economic base in

the following words:

"...many of the non-Native people who have come and talked to us will always tell
us, if you Indians and you half-breeds would begin to go to work and earn some
money, you would be like us. They say, we came here and we had nothing when -
we came here, but look at us now. But my answer back to those people is always
yes, you had nothing, and many of you people came from countries where there
was oppression, where you were forced to leave because you did not like the
system. And when you came to this country, you came with nothing. So where did
you find the riches? You found them right here, right here in Canada. The
resources that made people rich are right here in Canada. We feel those resources

'RS.C. 1985, c.F-14.

2SB.C. 1982, c57.
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are ours, and we want to share in those resources. We are not asking for
everything. We want to share in those resources, so we can participate in the
economy of this country. And you cannot tell me that democracy works if you do
not have some sort of economic back-up in terms of our people being self-
supporting ? »

NDAMENTAL IS THE NOR NICH TREATY QF 1852

There are three basic pointé of law upon which this paper is based.

1. The first point is that treaties entered into between indigenous peoples and a foreign
power are the embodiment of customary international law and as such they are international

treaties®. Although this point is disputed by the municipal courts of Canada,? it is submitted that

3 From a speech by Jim Sinclair, Saskatchewan Treaty Indian, to the Special Joint
Committee of the Senate and the House of Commons on the 1987 Constitutional Accord, Ottawa,
1987 as quoted by Binnie, fn. 49, above.

“ See Article 1 of the In ional Coven Economi i ltural Righ
(1966), U.N. Doc. A/6316, p. 49 and more particularly the International Labour Conference
nvention 169, Convention Concernin igen Tribal P in In n

Countries, Adopted by the Conference at its Seventy-Sixth Seésion, Geneva, 27 June 1989.

$ Simon v. The Queen, [1985] 2 S.C.R. 387 at p.404: R, v. White and Bob (1964), 50
D.LR. (2d) 613 (B.C.C.A), at pp. 617-18, affd [1965] S.C.R. vi, 52 D.L R. (2d) 481; Francis v.
The Queen, [1965] S.C.R. 618 at p.631; Pawis v. The Queen, {1980] 2 F.C. 18, (1979), 102
D.L R. (3d) 602 at p. 607. '
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the municipal courts of Canada are bound by customary international law as that law is adopted as

part of Canadian law.*

In addition, the Internation v n Civil and Political Ri provides that:

1(1) All peoples have the right of self-determination. By virtue of that right they
freely determine their political status and freely pursue their economic, social and

cultural development.

(2) All peoples may, for their own ends, freely dispose of the natural wealth and

resources without prejudice to any obligations arising out of international

economic co-operation, based upon the priniciple of mutual benefit, and

international law. In no case may a people be deprived of its own subsistence.”

As Canada has ratified the Covenant, it is binding on her. The Optional Protocol,® which
was declared in force in Canada in 1979 ensures that the Covenant itself is binding on the
provinces as well.

Furthermore, a reading of the common law authorities which deny that a First Nation's

treaty is subject to international law réveals that the rationale behind each decision is unduly

¢ Williams and de Mestral in An Introduction to International Law (1979), p. 30. Since
customary international law is a customary rule that must be "in accordance with a constant and
uniform usage practised by the states in question*, it follows that indigenous laws, customs,
traditions and rights which predate settlement since time immemorial and which continue today as

expressed in treaties are classic examples of customary international law.

7 International nant on Cjvil litical Rights, Adopted and opened for signature,
ratification and accession by General Assembly resolution 2200 A (XXI) of 16 December 1966.
rnational fvil iti ights, Adopted
and opened for sngnature ratlﬁcatxon and accession by General Assembly resolutlon 200 A (XXTI)
of 16 December 1966.
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flawed. It is a case of successive courts re}peating a principle even though the genesis of the
original dicta is without sufficient authority and without due reason.

The Supreme Court of Canada in Guerin v. The Queen °, for example, referred to the
aboriginal interest in land as sui generis or unique. Such language is used to justify discrimination
on the basis of race and only incidentally as a "reason" to keep treaties away from iqtemational
law. It is racist because no other segment of Canadian society is denied the right of ownership of

his or her own property.

As a member of the United Nations, Canada and the municipal courts of Canada are also

bound by Article 17 of the Universal Declaration of Human Rights:

17(1). Everyone has the right to own property alone as well as in association with others.
(2) No one shall be arbitrarily deprived of his property.'®
The assumption that "ownership" in precisely the same sense as fee simple was not a First
Nations concept pre-settlement is self-serving. First Nations speak of the concept of "belonging"
which means the same thing as ownership but lacks the neat trappings of a tenure system. First

Nations peoples speak of owﬁership in terms of responsibility and how we are not separate from

?[1985] 1 C.N.L.R. 120 at p.136 .

- 1 Universal Declaration of Human Rights, Adopted and Proclaimed by General Assembly
Resolution 217 A (III) of 10 December 1949.
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our land and our land is not separate from us. Although tenure may not be recorded on paper, it is
universally understood as a sacred trust from the Creator. How is that system less valuable then

the Torrens System?

2. The second point is that international law on treaties, treaty-making and the
implementation of treaties are political matters not legal issues. This is particularly relevant to
Canada where lmunicipal courts are frequently called upon to enforce treaties while the real
mischief is the political failure to implement the treaties." Notwithstanding the reality that Indian
treaties are political, they are still justiciable and enforceable in the municipal courts contrary to
the rule in Cook v. Sprigg.'” The rule must accommodate a federal system in which First Nations
sovereignty is sustained and where sovereignty is a divisible concept. The federal government is
negétiatiﬁg self-government with a number of First Nations across Canada. The Province of
British Columbia has recently conceded that it recognizes the First Nations peoples inherent right
of self-government. As the municipal courts of Canada are foreign to the governments of First

Nations, the rule in Cook v. Sprigg is not offended as the First Nations treaty is not being

- enforced in a First Nations' municipal court. -

! Evidence of this state of affairs is the fact that the Province of British Columbia has
utterly failed to develop any policy or guidelines on how to honour and respect the Douglas
treaties for over 150 years! Nor has the Government of Canada done anything to recognize or
honour these treaties during the same period of time.

12(1899] A.C. 572 at 578-579 wherein the rule states that treaties do not create rights
enforceable in municipal courts.
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Yet the municipal courts are often called upon to negotiate or adjudicate political issues in
the guise of quasi-criminal proceedings. The result is that these instruments of international law
are either reduced to pawns for the federal government to barter with the provinces over
resources '* or once a court of law has pronounced the treaty as being effective againgt a

province, the province ignores the law!™

3. The third point is that the indigenous peoples of North America, like all peoples of the
world, have their own laws, customs, languages, traditions and institutions. It is known and
recognized within that body of law known as customary international law as the inherent right of

self:government."

 See R. v._ Horseman (1990), 1 S.C.R. 901.

* See R v. White and Bob (1964), 50 D.L.R. (2d) 481, where the Supreme Court of
Canada decided that the Douglas treaties were binding treaties on the Crown. See also Bartleman,
{1984] 3 C.N.L.R. 114. These cases illustrate how ineffective municipal courts are in enforcing or
implementing treaties. The politics of treaty-making and implementation is the business of nations,
not courts of law. Relying upon the courts to do their business is an abdication of state
responsibility and simple avoidance.

'* As noted above regarding Canada's international obligations including The Charter of

- the United Nations, October 25, 1945; and the Helsinki Accords of 1975. The federal and
provincial governments of Canada not only recognize the inherent right of self-government but
also claim to be negotiating a number of self-government arrangements with various First Nations
throughout Canada.
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Customary international law is said to derive from two conditions. The first is "the
material aspect of the actual performance or behaviour of the state" and, secondly, "the

psychological aspect or subjective conviction with which the state views its own behaviour" !¢

Hunting and fishing practices among indigenous peoples are spiritually and temporally .
based on complex rules devoted to the supply of food-and other necessaries, the replenishment of
the resources and cultural and social considerations (e.g. the importance of "gift giving"). These
aspects of self-determination or self-govemance have survived 100 years of interference and still
flourish. Sacred ceremonies and celebrations evidence the conviction. It is on this basis that we

must refer to the law of First Nations as part of customary international law.
One school of thought on the nature of intérnational law is known as naturalist. In this
theory, laws are found, they are not man-made. It is in the naturalist sense that indigenous laws

are customary international law. Indigenous laws are natural law."’

-This is particularly relevant in the context of treaty hunting and fishing rights.

16 Williams and de Mestral, p.16.

17 Akehurst, 4 Modern Introduction to International Law (3rd ed., 1977), p.20, on the
two schools of thought concerning the nature of international law. One theory is known as
positivist, that is, laws are man-made. The other theory and the one which is most akin to the
indigenous understanding of law is known as the naturalist theory.
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When the treaties were signed, it was understood that the treaty right included not only
the right to extract the resource but, more importantly, the right to do so in accordance with the
laws of those peoples. All treaties between First Nations and the Crown are-understood to include
the right of the signatories to conduct their affairs including exercising or hohouring treaty rights

in accordance with customary international law."®

The customary international law is both the law of First Nations and any other customary

law which defines relations between First Nations and other states or powers. The signatories to

every treaty signed between a First Nation and the Crown in Canada specifically understood those :

treaty-contracts as incorporating the right of the First Nation and the Crown to conduct their
.affairs in accordance with the rules set out in the treaty. In the case of the North Saanich Treaty of
1852, those First Nations were expected to exercise their treaty hunting and fishing rights "as

formerly*.

On February 11, 1852, Governor James Douglas on behalf of the English Crown signed
.-treaty with the North Saanich tribes of Vancouver Island. The North Saanich peoples,
descendants of the signatories to that treaty, referred to in this papef as the Saanich tribes are
composed of four First Nations at présent. They are the X ‘LJSa)’ Q' ©M Village, Tsawout,
Tsartlip and Pauquachin First Nations. Among other promises, the treaty of 1852 provides that "it

is also understood that we are at liberty to hunt over the unoccupied lands, and to carry on our

18 According to Williams and de Mestral, supra, at p.15, where treaties are entered into
between to or more states on a limited subject, such treaties are referred to as treaty-contracts.
Furthermore, such treaties often provide evidence of the rules of customary international law.

s ¥ @ @
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fisheries as formerly". The North Saanich Treaty of 1852 was never completed. The document

does not include an amount or description of what the tribes received as consideration for signing

the treaty.

There is a central and fundamental issue of whether the Douglas treaties actually amount
to the extinguishment of aboriginal title. Some treaties have that effect but others are only peace

and frieridship treaties as in the case of some of the Micmac on the East Coast or the Huron at

Lorette (Quebec).

“The Colony receiv;ad vast amounts of land and resources while the Indians ultimately
received only a small Indian reserve and a few blankets. The treaty éigned by the North Saanich
tribes was a blank piece of paper which Governor Douglas later filled in. No one from Douglas's -’
time bothered to enter the amount paid for the North Saanich territory. It is almost as if they
knew that the amount paid was a trifling and no one sériously believed that it was a real bargain

except maybe the Indians and therefore there was no reason to record any amount.

We know that the treaty means far more to the Saanich tribes than it does to government
by virtue of the oral history passed down through generations. In government, a researcher is hard

pressed to find anyone who knows anything about the Douglas treaties.

It is difficult to imagine any Chief agreeing to sell his traditional lands and all of the

resources in it by signing a blank piece of paper. The Saanich tribes knew that the settlers were
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there already and that any agreement by the Chiefs was only an agreement to let the settlers stay
on and to avoid hostilities. In other words, what was really being said in the words of the Chiefs
was nothing more than - we'll agree that you and your settlers are moving in all around us and
wel'll agree that we need land on which to live and finally we'll agree that we are at liberty to hunt

over the unoccupied lands, and to carry on our fisheries as formerly.

In that sense, the Douglas treaties may be properly characterized as peace and friendship
treaties which include hunting and fishing rights. These rights are customary rules that in
"accordance with constant and uniform usage as practised by the Saanich tribes are set out in the

h ich T 18
EFINTTIONS - THE AL T STEP

There are some terms in law which require clarification. Although the premise of this
paper is that treaties are political affairs, the fact remains that the federal and provincial
governments often rely upon the municipal courts in order to avoid the implementation of a treaty
or the exercise of treaty rights. It is in this context that some terms of law must be clearly
articulated. For example, section §1(24) of the Canadian Constitution refers to “Indians, and lands
reserved for Indians*". This is the section referred to as the basis of Canada's responsibility for

Indians and lands reserved for Indians.

' Constitution Act, 1867.

0 |
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The very definition of “Indians" is controversial and therefore it is not surprising that the

term “lands reserved for Indians" is confusing.

Some people think that it means reservations.” In fact, the term refers to_all lands reserved

for Indians.

For example, the Royal Proclamation of 1763% resérved all of th_e country west of the
settlements in Lower Canada. Those are "lands rese'r-ved for Indians". Whether the Proclamation
applies to British Columbia is immaterial. The fact of the matter is that any land not ceded to ti\e
Crownis 'lax;d reserved for Indians". That was the intention of the Crown in 1763 and it is the

common law today.

It is important to understand that the term “lands reserved for Indians” in this paper means
all lands not ceded by treaty, including reservations, unoccupied Crown lands and other lands in

which a particular First Nation may have a claim.

According to common law, there are several ways in which a treaty can be interpreted.

The Ontario Court of Appeal in R, v, Taylor and Williams, said that "If there is evidence by

conduct or otherwise as to how the parties understood the terms of the treaty, then such

% The Department of Indian Affairs and Northern Development (Canada) and more
importantly The Department of Justice (Canada) both share this view.

2 [reprinted R.S.C., 1985, App. 11, No.1]
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understanding and practice is of assistance in giving context to the term or terms"22. That rule of

interpretation has been applied in a large number of decisions since then. It is considered settled

law now.

A second rule of interpretation from the Supreme Court of Canada in Nowegijick v, The
Queen , is that “treaties and statutes relating to Indians should be liberally construed and doubtful
expressions resolved in favour of the Indian"®. As those principles and others equally guide the

municipal courts in interpreting treaties, this paper will be guided by those same principles.

Furthermore, as Douglas himself wrote in 1850 conceming an identical treaty with the

Songhees:

“I informed the natives that they would not be disturbed in the possession of their
Village sites and enclosed fields, which are of small extent, and that_they were at

liberty to hunt over the unoccupied lands, and to carry on their fisheries with the

same freedom_as when they were the sole occupants of the country".** (emphasis
added)

It is this evidence by conduct or otherwise as to how the parties understood the treaty in

1852 that confirms our understanding of indigenous laws as customary international law.

2 (1981), 62 C.C.C. (2d) 227.

B (1983), 144 D.LR. (3d) 193.

* In a letter Douglas wroteto Barclay, Secretary for the Hudson's Bay Company dated
May 16, 1850. Cited in an article by Wilson Duff entitled The Fort Victoria Treaties, BC Studies.
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Commercial rights in the context of treaty huntipg and fishing rights simply refers to the
right to engage in the sale or trade of the catch or the product of the hunt. Historically, all First
Nations traded a part of their catch in order to survive. Bartering as a form of trade may pale in

comparison to Dow Jones, but it is today and always has been a commercial activity.

As Mr. Justice Lambert writes in Regina v, Bartleman:

“The Crown also accepts that, at the time of the treaties, it was a concern of the

Colonial government not to disturb the Indian people in their traditional food-

gathering activities. It was in the interest of the government of the Colony of -

Vancouver Island, and of the Indians, that the Indlans should be able to support _

themselves in their traditional ways".* ' : e

Eaﬂ_mmg was a British Columbia Court of Appeal decns:on in Wthh the North Saamch
treaty was held to be effective against any charges lald under the Wildlife Act. The __a;;ﬂsr_r_lar_l
case is an important decision in considering North Saanich treaty rights because it reiterated a
standard which the state, in this case, the Province of British Columbia, failed to meet. That

standard provides that "according to the Vienna Convention, article 26, treaties are binding upon

the parties and their obligations must be performed in good faith, %

25 (1984), 12 D.L.R. (4th) 73 at page 85.

% Williams and de Mestral, p. 270-271.
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Simon v, The Queen.? , a treaty hunting rights decision of the Supreme Court of Canada
deals with a Micmac treaty in Nova Scotia where the wording of the treaty specifically includes
commercial references. The Supreme Court of Canada had no difficulty in concluding that the
treaty does include the commercial aspect. This case is in stark contrast to the myriad of other
cases, treaty and non-treaty, in which the municipal courts not only deny the existence of a treaty
commercial right, but indeed deny the existence of any commercial activity in the history of the

relevant First Nation.

M_ﬂo;aem_m”, was a decision of the Supreme Court of Canada in which commercial
-~ hunting rights were considered in respect of Treaty 8% in Alberta. The Court found that the treaty
- did in fact include commercnal huntmg nghts and the Treaty 8 Indxans d1d in fact practlce

commercial huntmg in hlstoncal or pre-settlement times.

The Court, however, decided that the-Namml Resource Agreement of 1930%, signed

between Canada and Albérta, without any consultation with the Treaty 8 Indians, modified the
treaty right to the extent that it was no longer a hunting right for commercial purposes but only

one for food. That Agreement is part of our Constitution. The critical point in this case is that

77 (1985] 2 S.C.R. 387.
2 fn. 13, above.

2 899

¥ [confirmed by the Constitution Act, 1930], para. 12.
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commercial hunting was recognized as a treaty right until Canada and Alberta entered into the

1930 agreement. Whether that right could be affected by the 1930 agreement is still-a question.
RCIAL FISH RIGH DE

"Conservation" is a popular word in the enforcement of government regulations. It is
assumed that treaty Indians need to be told how many fish to take, where to take them from and
how to take them because if they are not told, the stocks will disappear and there will no longer
be any fish! There has been a failure to recognize and concede that the Fiﬁt Nations of British
Coluinbia have successfully practised conservation long before Europeans arrived. If the First
Natidns of the West Coast had not practised conservation, it is unlikely that they would have
thrived as they did prior to the arrival of Europeans. Notwithstanding the history which
Govemment conveniently ignores, the First Nations of British Columbia and in particular the
treaty Indians on Vancouver Island have never argued that their treaty rights are exempt from
conservation rules. What they have objected to is arbitrary infringements of those treaty rights in
the guise of conservation measures, when all interested parties know better. Treaty rights are

exercised with the understanding that bona fide conservation measures continue to attach.

An earlier court decision in which treaty fishing rights were held to include commercial

purposes is R v. Penasse and Mcl.eod *'. The 1850 Robinson Treaty* provided the treaty Indians

3 (1971), 8 C.C.C. (2d) 569 (Ontario Provincial Court).
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with the "full and free privilege to hunt over the territory and to fish as they had heretofore been

in the habit of doing". The comparison with-the North Saanich Treaty of 1852 is obvious, where

"it is also understood that we are at liberty to hunt over the unoccupied lands, and to carry on our

fisheries as formerly".

More recently R, v. Van der Peet (DM.)” , R. v. Gladstone (W) etal™ , Rv. N.T.C.
Smokehouse 1.td.3* | R. v. Lewis * and R, v. Nikal are five non-treaty British Columbia Court of
Appeal decisions dealing with commercial fisheries, the territorial boundaries of the reserves for

the purpose of fisheries and whether the licence requirements of the Fisheries Act constitutes an

infringement of the aboriginal right to fish. None of these cases dealt with treaty rights. They are
all concerned with aboriginal rights. The British Columbia Court of Appeal has ruled against the _; :
First Nations in every case. On the issue of commercial fisheries, the Court of Appeal refused to . ;-

:accept the historical evidence of the First Nations, preferring to rely on government evidence. On -

- the issue of territorial boundaries, the Court of Appeal construed the evidence and the

presumption ad medium filum aque (meaning to the middle of the river or stream) in such a way

32 1850 Robinson Treaty, No. 61, Volume 1, Indian Treaties and Surrenders, Ottawa,
1891, at p,149.

3 (1993), 29 B.C.A.C. 211.

*(1993), 29 B.C.A.C. 263.

¥ (1993), 29 B.C.A.C. 299.
*11993] 4 C.N.LR. 98.

[1993]4 CN.LR. 117.
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that reserve lands are suddenly altered to exclude the river and the river beds. On the issue of

whether licensing requirements of the Fisheries Act constitute an unjustified infringement, the

Court of Appeal failed to seriously consider this issue as if the notion of self-regulation was

beyond their comprehension.

In Var der Peet, the accused argued that the Upper Sto:lo Nation had an aboriginal right -

to sell or barter fish. There was sufficient evidence before the court to find that such a right

existed.

" In ahistoric non-treaty case, the Supreme Court of Canada in R. v. Sparrow ** recognized
an aboriginal right to fish for food but specifically left open the question of Whethér an aboriginal -
right for commercial purposes existed. That issue was left for future litigation and therefore the |
British Columbia Court of Appeal was free to decide the matter on the evidence before it. Instead, =
the Court of Appeal decided to ignore the evidence and to rewrite the history of the Sto:lo

Nation.

As none of these cases were based on existing treaties, their relevance is limited to the law .
of aboriginal rights outside of treaty and to the process in which legal issues are decided by

municipal courts.

38(1990), 1 S.C.R. 1075.
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Only Mr. Justice Lambert in the British Columbia Court of Appeal during the recent
fishing appeal cases seemed to recognize the fact that the Supreme Court of Canada in Sparrow
very clearly decided that treaty and aboriginal rights to hunt and fish were not simply rights to_
hunt by bow and arrow, but were rights that would evolve to take advantage of the progress of
t&hologf’. As Hogg points out in his text on the Constitutional Law of Canada: “a right to
trade in the form of barter would in modem times extend to the use. of currency, credit and normal

commercial facilities of distribution and exchange."*

If that is the law of Canada, why does the majority of the British Columbia Court of

Appeal insist that the because the Sto:lo Nation bartering or selling in historical times was not on

the scale of the fish markets today, it cannot be recognized as an aboriginal right? The answer is i

that cases like Van der Peet are not decided on the basis of law alone. Any case in which First .- ...
Nations successfully claim a piece of the economic pie as an aboriginal right or as a treaty right
involves displacements or reallocations to be followed by political consequences. Treaty claimants
can point to the treaty and ideally negotiate implementation. The Government can defend itself

. against critics by pointing to legal obligations in the treaty. Non-treaty Indians are left to prove

their claim in a municipal court where indigenous laws and customs are routinely disregarded.

Where the muncipal courts waffle on the scope of aboriginal rights to fish commercially in

non-treaty cases, it will not be so easy in the context of a treaty right.

» Gladstone at p.269; Van der Peet at p. 242 and Smokehouse at p. 318.

““Hogg, Constitutional Law of Canada, Third Edition, 1992, at p. 690.
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Horseman*! is a unique case in which commercial rights were denied not because of what

the treaty contained or even because the history of the treaty Indians lacked commerce. All of that

was proven.

The problem in Horseman is external to the treaty. It is a case of the federal government
and the Province of Alberta renegotiating Treaty 8 rights on behalf of the Treaty 8 Indians
without inviting Treaty 8 Indians to those discussions. It is perhaps one of the most serious
breaches of a treaty responsibility in Canadian history and the Supreme Court of Canada was

oblivious to it. It is unlikely that such a profound breach of treaty rights could happen again*>.

“ 'First of all, Horseman should be distinguished on its facts. The 1930 Transfer Agreement'
was designed "to modify the division of powers originally set out in the Constitution Act, 1867
(formerly the British North America Act, 1867). Section 1 of the Constitution Act, 1930 is
unambiguous in this regard: ;'The agreements .... shall have the force of law notwithstanding
anything in the Constitution Act, 1867...." " Secondly, some municipal courts act as if they cfeate

aboriginal rights. The trial decision of Delgamuukw et al, v. British Columbia et al.® is a good

“1(1990), 1 S.C.R. 901.

: “see R, v. Badger [1993] 3 C.N.LR. 143 at p. 147-153 wherein Mr. Justice Kerans of
the Alberta Court of Appeal discloses his own disquiet with the decision of the Supreme Court of
Canada in Horseéman. Kerans J. refers to the loss of honour and respect paid to Treaty 8 Indians
by the unilateral abrogation of Treaty 8 by the federal govemnment. Such improprieties could not
happen with the North Saanich Treaty of 1852 because the federal and the provincial government
have barely conceded the existence of the North Saanich Treaty of 1852 much less attempting to
dilute its affect by constitutional amendments.

“ Delgammukw [1991] 3 W.W.R. 97
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example where the trial judge rewrote history and 200 years of common law in order to arrive at a
novel concept, his concept: that the Province of British Columbia owes the First Nations of
British Columbia a fiduciary duty in exchange for title to British Columbia.** Apart from a

constitutional incident as in Horseman, treaties are not easily rewritten.**

Treaty rights are not judge-made. The treaty embodies the customary international laws of
the tribe in the sense that individual treaty Indians exercise their treaty rights in accordance with
tribal laws, laws that have existed long before the common law appeared in British Columbia.
Anyone can pick up a treaty and read it. But unlike an aboriginal right which pertains to the
customs and traditions of a First Nation, the treaty reaches out to the courts, the governments and

the world as a reminder of the promise. Treaties in Canada are almost universally in breach by

government and yet they are still held in high regard by First Nations who are descendants of ., ... .

those who signed them or in the case of modem treaties, by the signatories themselves. It is the .. ..

honour and respect paid to reciprocating nations and the solemnity of treaty making which

“¢ This new rule of law was based on the premise that aboriginal title to British Columbia
was extinquished by operation of colonial legislation without any reference to First Nations or
extinquishment and without any consultation with First Nations. In return, the Province was
bound, in an odd sort of fiduciary relationship, to protect the First Nations in meeting their
sustenance needs but only if the Province was not predisposed to use those lands or resources for
another purpose.

* A disturbing precedent is Attorney-General of Quebec v. Eastmain Band et al (1993),
99 D.L.R. (4th) 16, (Federal Court of Appeal) where a modern treaty and respective treaty rights
are pitted against federal and provincial laws. The Court is convinced that First Nations and
governments are now operating on a level playing field simply because both parties are now
negotiating treaties with their own set of experts. It is a disturbing precedent because this is a
modern treaty which, like the historical treaties, is being honoured more in the breach. Leave to
appeal to the Supreme Court of Canada was recently denied.
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commands such respect among First Nations. Some municipal courts are beginning to
acknowledge that honour, respect and solemnity in treaty making. _&_y,_}m_u&ggd_ﬁgb, Simon
v. The Queen, _Saanichton Marina v. Tsawout Indian Band* and R. v. Sioui,*’ are cases in

which treaty rights are recognized. In fact, the treaties speak for themselves.

The legal argument to support the treaty right to fishing for modern commercial purposes
in Saanich is clear. The opposition, however, to the recognition of commercial treaty rights is
based on political and economic reasons which unduly influence the judiciary, not legal argument.
This state of affairs illustrates once again the nature of treaty-makihg and implementation as |

political matters not legal arguments.

One writer describes the opposition to the expansion of aboriginal rights in the following

terms:

“The fundamental obstacle to expanding the catalogue of activities that could be
characterized as aboriginal rights is that such an expansion cannot now sit easily
with the reality of constitutional entrenchment as interpreted by Sparrow. There
are too many overlapping or conflicting interests (both political and economic)
among communities of diverse origins across the country for the courts to permit
broadly interpreted aboriginal rights to remain beyond the reach of otherwise
competent federal and provincial legislation enacted, the courts will presume, in
the interest of the population as a whole. The fact that Parliament in exercising its
legislative power in relation to “Indians and land reserved for Indians" now does so
limited by a fiduciary duty to aboriginal peoples merely underlines the potential

“ (1989), 57 D.L.R. (4th) 161.

47 [1990] 1 S.C.R. 1025.
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constitutional gridlock that an expansive catalogue of's. 35 rights*® could create.
The Supreme Court, which seems to feel most comfortable when it is in a position
to "balance rights", will not likely permit such a situation to develop."*’

That type of a “gridlock" is similar to the reaction witnessed in the State of Washington

when the_Boldt decision came down.

In the U.S. District Court for the Western District of Washington State in State of
in hington mmercial, Passenger Fishing Vessel Association ¥
(known as the Boldt decision), Mr. Justice Boldt decided that two treaties between the federal

government and the Northwest Coast Indians meant that those tribes were eatitled to 50% of the

fisheries and that right included the right to engage in fisheries for commercial purposes.

Mr. Justice Boldt was then viciously attacked by politicians, big business and the general

public for his decision and yet on appeal, he was vindicated.

There is no doubt that displacements occur when human rights or treaty rights are
properly implemented, recognized and enforced. Those displacements are necessary if

governments and other interested parties are ever to progress beyond the admonishment of the

8 Constitution 1982

W 1.C. Binnie, The Sparrow Doctrine: Beginning of the End or End of the Beginning?,
Toronto, (n.d.), p.18.

® 443 U.S. 658 (1979).
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Supreme Court of Canada in Sparrow where the Court said "there can be no doubt that over the

years the rights of the Indians were often honoured in the breach."*!

Sparrow is Canada's version of the Boldt decision. Just as in Boldt , where the court

imposed an allocation of the fisheries on the parties including the treaty Indians, Sparrow

allocated top priority to the aboriginal right to fish for food subject to bona fide conservation

measures. In theory, it is arguable that Sparrow is a more powerful rule than Boldt because top
priority could easily exceed 50% when stocks are depleted or when certain species are low and

the competing fisheries are prohibited from fishing.

| Itis im_pbrtaxit to recognize that the decision in_Sparrow is based on the recognition that
every First Nation needs an economic base as does every other segment of society. Treaties are
signed for that very purpose. Treaty rights provide an economic base when no other opportunities
arise. Treaty rights are thé rights of First Nations peoples as they practised those rights since time

immemorial.

Customary international law, as set out in the treaty, is binding on the governments and on
the municipal courts as it is-incorporated into the common law as well as the constitutional law.
Treaty rights are neither judge-made or legally defined. They simply exist as defined by the treaty.

To argue, as Binnie argues, that the competing interests are too great or too powerful is not an

3t Sparrow, p. 1103; see also Sparrow at p. 1109 where the Supreme Court of Canada
suggests that its justificatory scheme is in keeping with the Court's "concept of holding the Crown
to 2 high standard of honourable dealing with respect to the aboriginal peoples of Canada."
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argument against honouring the treaty. Rather, it is an argument for political solutions that include

respect for treaties and treaty Indians and respect for those competing interests who may suffer

displacement when a treaty is actually implemented.

Sparrow decided that the Fisheries Act and the regulatory regime under that Act failed to

extinguish the aboriginal right to fish for food.

Saanichton Marina decided that the North Saanich treaty provided protection against the

impairment of fishing rights by provincially approved development projects.

Horseman (a treaty hunting case) decided that Treaty 8 included the commercial hunting

right, but that right had been modified by the Natural Resource Transfer Agreement 0f1930.: : - »,

The North Saanich treaty has no such modification and yet the treaty fishing right for

commercial purposes therein is prohibited without any evidence of extinguishment.

Based on Sparrow , it cannot be said that any North Saanich treaty rights have been
extinguished. There is no clear and plain intention to extinguish in any instrument affecting that
treaty. As in Bartleman (a treaty hunting case) by analogy, the North Saanich treaty is an effective
N .bar against the Fisherjes Act notwithstanding the fact that the Fisheries Act is a federal Act and

therefore competent to deal with Indians under section 91(24) of the Constitution.

Y 3 8y W (W w
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In effect, Saanichton Marina and Bartleman (treaty cases) are reinforced by section 35 of
the Constitution because now the federal government is compelled to justify any modification or

extinguishment of an existing treaty right in accordance with the Supreme Court of Canada's

decision in Sparrow.*

Sparrow defined the word "existing" as‘it is used in section 35 of the Constitution:

"35(1) The existing aboriginal and treaty rights of the aboriginal peoples of Canada

are hereby recognized and affirmed".

The court wrote that the word "existing" means "unextinguished rather that exercisable at
a certain time in history".* Therefore, neither fishing nor hunting are 'd.e'ﬁnegﬁi as rights regqlat'ed:‘_u
by the Wildiife Act or the Fisheries Act . They are defined by the history, culture and wstomg_pt_:
the relevant First Nation. This is an important distinction because governments are forever
arguing that an aboriginal or treaty right is defined by the regulations imposed on First Nations by

the Province or the federal government. That is incorrect.

Aboriginal and treaty rights are to be identified and protected by section 35 through the
justificatory scheme set out by Sparrow.* The First Nation alleging an infringement must first

establish a prima facie infringement of the treaty fishing right for commercial purposes:

52 see fn. 56, above.

53 Sparrow, p.1092.
* Sparmrow, pp.1111-1115.
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*Ifan infringement were found, the onus would shift to the Crown which would
have to demonstrate that the regulation is justifiable. To that end, the Crown
would have to show that there is no underlying unconstitutional objective such as
shifting more of the resource to a user group that ranks below the Musqueam.
Further, it would have to show that the regulation sought to be imposed is
required to accomplish the needed limitation. In trying to show that the restriction
is necessary in the circumstances of the Fraser River fishery, the Crown could use

facts pertaining to fishing by other Fraser River Indians."*

The Saanich tribes are s';tuated on coastal waters and have occupied these lands and fished
these waters since time immemorial. Historically, the survival of these indigenous peoples
depended on the extraction and trade of the fisheries. The fact that commercial or trade uses
combined with sustained sustenance from the fisheries have been in existence since time
immemorial leads to the conclusion that the Saanich tribes were also engaged in conservation.
They would not have survived otherwise. The elements of trade during the pre-settlement period

included but were not limited to established trade routes throughout Vancouver Island, the Gulf
Islands and to the mainland. In the post-settlement period, trade increaged with the Hudson's Bay
Company and with the limited number of settlers. It was not until settlement reached much larger

numbers, some writers claim in the 1920's, that the Saanich tribes were gradually stripped of their

ability to trade on a large scale.

% Sparrow, pp.1120-21.
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In Van der Peet, Mr. Justice Macfarlane described the commercial interest in the

following words:

“it is about an asserted Indian right to sell fish allocated for food purposes on a

commercial basis. The result would be to give Indian fishers a preference or

priority over other Canadians to seek a livelihood from commercial fishing".>

Though Van der Peet is a non-treaty case, this statement illustrates again how the issue
regarding treaty fishing rights for commercial purposes is not a legal issue at all. As pointed out
earlier, in the context of the North Saanich Treaty of 1852, it is a matter for the politicians to
implement the treaty. It is an economic and political issue for which the courts are ill-equipped to
negotiate a political solution. Instead, they must impute dishonest motives on the part of the
aboriginal litigant as in the example quoted above when the Justice refers to the fish as being
allocated for one purpose and then used for another. He utterly fails to note that if the aboriginal

fisher believed that the right of a commercial fishery existed, any allocation was for that purpose.

When one considers the commercial issue in this light, it is easily compared with the
colonial attitudes of people like Joseph Trutch who worked tireiessly to deny the existence of any
aboriginal rights but in particular the right to land. Land barons, fam&s, speculators and
politicians successfully urged Trutch to pursue and defeat Native interests in land so that they

could acquire the land themselves. It was racist then and it is racist now.

% Yan der Peet, p. 215.
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In the recent British Columbia Court of Appeal decision of Delgamuukw®’, another non-
treaty case, Mr. Justice Macfarlane was very careful to ensure that aboriginal rights are contained.
He decided that a right which became prevalent as a result of European influences would not
qualify for protection as an aboriginal right®*. Why is European influence the highwater mark for
aboriginal rights? The courts seem to think that Indians were tripping all over themselves trying to
imitate Europeans. The fact that Europeans spent their first two or three hundred years in North
America imitating the Indians in order to survive and eventually prosper is conveniently
overlooked. Whatever means an aboriginal person or First Nation found or created to survive the
invasion of Europeans should be an aboriginal right whether .it existed before the Europeans
arrived or after. In fact, the definition of aboriginal rights should be defined in cohsultation with
aboriginal pebple and not by the courts. Again, that is the business of treaty-making or

implementation.

As Sparrow makes it clear, the test of whether a law offends section 35 depends in part on
the extent of the infringement.” Where the right is absolutely prohibited and not simply regulated
and where that right is explicitly included in a treaty as it is in the North-Saanich Treaty of 1852,
the prohibition is an unconstitutional attempt to extinguish a treaty right. To refer to such

governmental action as an infringement is an understatement.

57(1993),30 B.C.AC. 1.

% Delgammuukw, (BCCA), p. 22.

¥ Sparrow, p.1119 where the question is "whether there has been as little infringement as
possible in order to effect the desired result."
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As the Fisheries Act prohibits exercising the treaty right in any form, it is clearly
inconsistent with section 35 of the Constitution and therefore, of no legal force or effect in

accordance with section 52 of the Constitution.

Although there can be no doubt that the treaty right to fish for commercial
purposes has never been extinguished, there is concern that the treaty right may yet be redefined
by the municipal courts. It is a theme repeated throughout this paper: the customary international
law and the common law may protect treaty rights as they are written but the muncipal courts
may resist ruling in favour of those rights. The reasons for this abuse of justice are related to

economics, power and fear.

The "public interest"® should not be the criteric;n for interpreting treaties or aborignal
rights. Fundamental or constitutional rights should be respected accordingly and not subjected to
a balancing of the rights of business and local @vemments. It is not only a vague test. It is also
unjust in the sense that business and local governments have never been excluded from
participating in the mainstream economy through the denial of thieir right of ownership and the
corresponding right of self-determination. Whereas the treaty Indians of North Saanich point to
nearly a century of unfulfilled promises; business and local governments complain that if the treaty

is implemented, there are adjustments to be made.

% In Spamrow, p.1113, the Supreme Court of Canada wrote: "We find the "public
interest" justification to be so vague as to provide no meaningful guidance and so broad as to be
unworkable as a test for the justification of a limitation on constitutional rights."
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Notwithstanding the opinions of writers like Binnie and decisions like Horseman, there are
persuasive arguments which support the proposition that treaty fishing rights for commercial
purposes have never been extinguished and that the honourable course for governments is to
promote the exercise of thbse rights. The forum in which those arguments should unfold however,v
is not in a court of law. They are political matters to be discussed and decided upon by politicians,

First Nations politicians, provincial and federal politicians. This is the business of treaty

implementation.

It is my submission that the Province of British Columbia lacks jurisdiction over wildlife.
In fact, it lacks ju’risdic_t@on over all land and resources as long as the issue of abongmal title is
unresolved. As the Douglas treaties cannot be taken as dealing with title, Vancouver Island is
similar to other parts of the Province where treaties to surrender any rights in the land and
resources do not exist. It is important to remember that provincial legislative powers including
ownership are pot an inherent rights or powers. The Province must derive its powers from some
instrument or source in legislation or in the common law. This is where the First Nations of

British Columbia part company with the Province.

In Horseman, the Supreme-Court of Canada decided that, in Alberta, the transformation of

Treaty 8 rights from commercial to food only was a quid pro quo:

e % (C® (®
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*In addition, there was in fact a quid pro quo granted by the Crown for the
reduction in the hunting right. Although the Agreement did take away the right to
hunt commercially, the nature of the right to hunt for food was substantially
enlarged. The geographical areas in which the Indian people could hunt was widely
extended. Further, the means employed by them in hunting for their food was
placed beyond the reach of provincial governments. For example, they may hunt
deer'with night lights and with dogs, methods which are or may be prohibited for
others. Nor are the Indians subject to seasonal limitations as are all other hunters.
That is to say, they can hunt ducks and geese in the spring as well as the fall, just
-as they may hunt deer at any time of the year. Indfans are not limited with regard
to the type of game they may kill. That is to say, while others may be restricted as
to the species or sex of the game they may kill, the Indians may kill for food both
does and bucks; cock pheasants and hen pheasants; drakes and hen ducks. It can
be seen that the quid pro quo was substantial. Both the area of hunting and way in
which the hunting could be conducted was extended and removed from the
jurisdiction of provincial governments. "'

‘It is an odd sort of quid pro quo when ihek‘party whose benefit is Momed substantially
is left out of the negotiatioﬁs. It is also curious how the Supreme Court of Canada assumes that
an enlargement of the hunting grounds for food only is comparable to the establishment of an
economic base. It is unfortunate that the Supreme Court of Caﬁada resorts to an artificial rule 6f
law® in order to prop up"a treaty breach mascjuerading as a constitutional amendment. The
customary international law, as articulated in the 1899 treaty known as Treaty 8, was binding on
the Crown in 1899 when they signed it and in 1930 when they pﬁrpbt‘ted to unilaterally amend it

contrary to the treaty and contrary to customary international law. In accordance with article 26

of the Vienna Convention, thé events of 1930 and 1990 when the Supreme Court of Canada

¢! Horseman, p.933.

%2 The term “artificial" refers to the Court's gratuitous notion of quid pro quo when the
Court is fully aware of the fact that one of the parties to that bilateral treaty was never privy to the
negotiations which led to those modifications of Treaty 8.



33
endorsed those events as "lawful" constitute at least two contraventions by Canada of

international law.

Many foreign governments and indiéenous peoples look to Canada as a Nation which has

demonstrated honour and respect in its treatment of the indigenous peoples of Canada. One of the

reasons for this perspective may be that our municipal courts have rarely denied all remedies.
Even the infamous trial decision in Delgamuukw left the First Nations concerned and in fact all
First Nations of British Columbia with a fiduciary duty owed to them by the Province ® This
perspective has led foreign courts to cite Canadian authority as a basis for extending indigenous

rights in a foreign land. The recent and historic decision of the High Court of Australia is an

example.

Mabo v. Queensland® is a 1992 case of the High Court of Australia where one of the -
issues was the source and identity of the Crown's interest in the traditional lands of the Miriam
peoples. The High Court of Australia is comparable to our Supreme Court of Canada.
Queensland, a state within Australia, argued that it held sovereignty and proprietary rights over
the traditional lands of the Meriam peoples. Sovereignty is also referred to as the radical or root

title which permits the Crown to grant tenure to others. The High Court of Australia wrote that

€ Delgammukw, {1991] 3 W.W.R. 97 (B.C.S.C)

 Mabo and Others v. The State of Queensland (1992), 107 ALR 1, (H.C.); [1992],5

CNLR 1
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the Crown may acquire sovereignty and proprietary rights over unalienated lands but where the

lands are occupied by indigenous peoples, the Crown acquires only sovereignty:

"By attributing to the Crown a radical title to all land within a territory over which .
the Crown has assumed sovereignty, the common law enabled the Crown, in
exercise of its sovereign power, to grant an interest in land to to be held of the
Crown or to acquire land for the Crown's demesne. The notion of radical title
enabled the Crown to become Paramount Lord of all who hold tenure granted by -
the Crown and to become absolute beneficial owner of unalienated land required
for the Crown's purposes. But it is not a corollary of the Crown's acquistion of
radical title to land in an occupied territory that the Crown acquired absolute
beneficial ownership of that land to the exclusion of the Indigenous inhabitants. If
the land were desert and uninhabited, truly terra nullius, the Crown would take an
absolute beneficial title (an allodial title) to the land for the reason given by
Stephen C.J. in Attorney-General v. Brown: there would be no ofher proprietor.
But if the land were occupied by the Indigenous inhabitants and their rights and
interests in the land are recognized by the common law, the radical title which is
acquired with the acquisition of sovereignty cannot itself be taken to confer an
absolute beneficial title to the occupied land. Nor is it necessary to the structure of
our legal system to refuse recognition to the rights and interests in land of the
Indigenous inhabitants. The doctrine of tenure applies to every Crown grant of an
interest in land, but not to rights and interests which do not owe their existence to
a Crown grant. The English legal system accommodated the recognition of rights
and interests derived from occupation of land in a territory over which sovereignty
was acquired by conquest without the necessity of a Crown grant."s® ’

If the Province lacks a proprietary interest in unoccupied Crown land because the
indigenous peoples rights and interests are unextinguished and recognized by common law, it
follows that the Province lacks jurisdiction to regulate the wildlife on those lands as long as the

unextinguished rights and interests are not dealt with by treaty. More importantly, where the

Crown has entered into a solemn peace treaty promising that “it is also understood that we are at

s Mabo, [1992], S CN.LR. 1, pp.40-41.
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liberty to hunt over the unoccupied lands and to carry on our fisheries as formerly®, the Province
is faced with a positive duty to refrain from impairing those treaty rights apart from its total lack

of jurisdiction.

It is necessary to discuss jurisdiction as the Province purports to legally regulate wildlife
under the Wildlife Act., the regulations thereunder and the related policies. The only possible
source of jurisdiction for the Province to fegulate treaty hunting of wildlife is section 88 of the

Indian Act:%

“88. Subject to the terms of any treaty and any other Act of the L
Parliament of Canada, all laws of general application from timeto . -
time in force in any province are applicable to and in respect of . . L
Indians in the province, except to the extent that such laws are
inconsistent with this Act or any order, rule, regulation or by-law
made thereunder, and except to the extent that such laws make.

provision for any matter for which provision is made by or under o
the Act."

In Dick v, The Queen,¥’ the Supreme Court of Canada decided that section 88 of the
Indian Act has nothing to do with provincial laws which apply to Indians and Indian lands of their
own force. The Court said that that section is only concerned with those provincial laws which

affect the "Indianness" by frustrating the status or capacity of Indians.

% Indian Act, R.S.C. 1985, c. I-5.

§7 [1985] 2 S.C.R. 309 at pages 326-327.
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- In Kruger and Manuel v. The Queen, while the Supreme Court of Canada decided that the

British Columbia Wildlife Act was a law of general application, that is, it did not of itself affect
the "Indianness" by frustrating the status or capacity of Indians, the court added that:

“Section 88 of the Indian Act appears to be plain in pu@ose and effect. In the

absence of treaty protection or statutory protection Indians are brought within

provincial regulatory legislation". (emphasis added)®®

Section 88 of the Indian Act , which first appeared in 1951, is a legal fonn of the practice
known as federal off-loading. The federal govemmént created section 88 in order to establish a
provincial presence in what was perceived to be a legal vacuum. In fact, it was a serieé of political
decisions which amounted to a form of genocide® and while families and communities were being
fractured, the Government of Canada decided against providing relief. The federal government
had the constitutional power to address these wrongs but lacked the commitment or political .
interest to do anything about it. Section 88 was created so that the provinces might step in and

manage the “Indian problem".

The provinces jumped at the bait even though they resent being fingered for dealing with
reserve Indians when the federal government is constitutionally responsible and when the federal

government conveniently refuses to fund the provinces adequately. Eventually, the provinces

%8 [1978] 1 S.C.R. 104 at page 112.

 Residential schools, the apprehension of Native children and their subsequent adoption
into non-Native homes, inadequate or non-existent medical services on reserves and laws
stripping Native women of the right to live among their people, and laws prohibiting potlatches
are just some of the political decisions which continue to have a genocidal impact on the First
Nations of British Columbia.
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embraced section 88 because it purported to give them power over First Nations and in particular
over the traditional lands of First Nations. The provinces have consistently employed section 88 to
oppress First Nations, to take their children under the guise of the best interest of the child, to
decimate traditional hunting and trapping grounds and to control and deny treaty and aboriginal
hunting rights by arbitrary restrictions or prohibitio‘ns.AAn example of thé arbitrariness of
provincial regulation is the Wildlife Act and its; application to treaty hunting ﬁghts for commercial

purposes.

R. v. Alphonse (W.) * and R. v. Dick (H.T.) " are two recent decisions of the British

Columbia Court of Appeal m which section 27(1)(c) of the Wildlife Act was found to discriminate .
against aboriginal peoples right to hunt because it affects the core of their "Indianness". These 2 .
non-treaty decisions are based on section 35 of the Constitution and on the justification test set i; I

out in Sparrow™ . As noted above, the Supreme Court of Canada established a justificatory ;. -~ .-

scheme to be employed when a treaty or dboriginal right is alleged to have been infringed by law.
Although the court was careful to caution against boiler plate analysis, the justificatory scheme as
set out in Sparrow has been applied in almost every subsequent case dealing with section 35
rights.

" (1993), 29 B.C.A.C. 184.
(1993), 29 B.C.A.C. 201.

2 see pp. 22 and 23 above.
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In the case of a hypothetical treaty hunter who is charged with hunting out of season, the
hunter would have the burden of first proving that the regulation constituted a prima facie
infringement of the treaty hunting right. If the charge is selling or bartering wildlife, the hunter

would need to prove that hunting for commercial purposes was a treaty right.

The Province would argue that a commercial treaty hunting right could not exist because
the Province has always regulated wildlife to exclude such rights. The Province would introduce
evidence of conservation officers harassing Indians in the nineteenth century and argue that that
proves the provincial intention of restricting ireaty Indians to hunting for food. The Province
would argue that the Douglas treaties could never have included commercial hunting ﬁghts
5ecause the former Colony made that treaty specifically for fhe purpose of large scale settlement
in the treaty area which was quickly realized. From the perspective of the Province's regulatory
capacity under the Wildlife Act , commercial hunting by treaty Indians is simply infeasible on the

Saanich Peninsula.
The short answer to the Province is what the Supreme Court of Canada wrote in Sparrow:

"historical policy on the part of the Crown is not only incapable of extinguishing

the existing aboriginal right without clear intention, but is also incapable of, in

itself, delineating that right".™

7 Sparrow, p.1101.
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Once that treaty right is acknowledged, the absolute prohibition of exercising that right
would constitute at a minimum, a prima facie infringement of the treaty right. The onus then shifts

to the Crown which then must prove that the regulation (absolute prohibition) is justified:

The Court wrote:

"To that end, the Crown would have to show that there is no underlying

unconstitutional objective such as shifting more of the resource to a user group
that ranks below the Musqueam".”

-

At the core of the justiﬁcétory scheme lies the government's fiduciary duty to Indians as

articulated in R, v. Guerin. ™ This means that the government cannot on the one hand allocate a

commercial hunting ﬁghf io' selected groups and then on the other hand tell treaty Ixidiat;s“ thai o

they only qualify for 'huntirié for food. If the honour of the Crown means ‘anything,. it means the .

treaty must be honoured as it is written and as it is understood.

CONCLUSION

The existing treaty rights of huhﬁng and fishing including for commercial purposes have
never been extinguished in law. The treaty rights of hunting and fishing at a minimum means that
the treaty Indian‘reoeives top priority in the allocation of wildlife and fisheries subject only to

conservation. The treaty rights of hunting and fishing for commercial purposes is the law of the

™ Sparrow, p.1121.

75 [1984] 2 S.C.R. 335 at pp.348-49.
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North Saanich tribes or put another way, customary international law as articulated in the North

Saanich Treaty of 1852. It is binding on Canada and the Province of British Columbia as it is

- incorporated into the common law. The concept of a First Nations' priority comes from Sparrow

which although it was not a treaty case, it did define the parameters of section 35 of the
Constitution for the purpbse of protecting treaty and aboriginal ﬁghts. There is every reason to
expect the municipal courts to be more sensitive to the infringement of treaty rights as opposed to
aboriginal rights and yet that sensitivity is long overdue in the context of commercial treaty rights

in North Saanich.

Canada will continue to resist recognition of the treaty fishing right for commercial
purposes because of the economic problems concerning the commercial fishing industry and the
communities who depend on the industry to survive. This is particularly difficult to understand in

light of what the Supreme Court of Canada had to say in Sparrow :

"By giving aboriginal rights constitutional status and priority, Parliament and the

provinces have sanctioned challenges to social and economic policy objectives

embodied in legislation to the extent that aboriginal rights are affected."™

The municipal courts including the Supreme Court of Canada are bound by international
standards ratified by Canada as well as the customary international law which complements the

common law. These courts should not be permitted to rewrite aboriginal history in order to justify

ruling against a legally enforceable treaty right to fish or hunt for commercial purposes. Racist

€ Sparrow, p.1110.
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precepts such as sui generis should be overruled”. Proprietorship should lie where it belongs and
sovereignty continued to be shared among the federal government, the provinces and the First

Nations.

According to the law governing municipal courts, the federal and provincial govemments
are in clear violation of section 35 of the Constitutioni and as a result, any law, order or other
instrument created or used to prohibit, obstruct or deny the treaty fishing or hunting right for

commercial purposes is of no force and effect in accordance with section 52 of the Canadian

Constitution.

. But there are polltlcal mafters wluch must be addressed These matters are ownership of ..,

the lands and resources and secondly the need for an econotmc base wuhm First Nations.
Arguably, the ownership issue may be resolved in British Columbia once treaty negotiatiqns are
resolved in respect of mdst df the Province's land mass. However, in reality, the negotiations are
moving so slow now, it is' more likely that many First Nations of British Columbia will be waiting
another generation or two before the ownérship issue is a'ddressed. Despite that time frame, the
ownership issue and the need for an economic base are not being addressed by the municipal

courts and certainly not by the provinces or the Government of Canada. A new international

" The High Court of Australia overruled authority which supported the racist concept of
terra nullius, see Mabo [1992], 5 CN.LR. 1, p.48.
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instrument is required to speed the Government of Canada and the Province of British Columbia

toward honourable treaty-making and toward the implementation of existing treaties.”

Many independent states and some indigenous peoples of the world including many from

Canada™ have worked for years towards the development of the new International Labour

nference (11 nvention 169, Convention Concerning Indigen jul
Independent Countries.* It is an interesting Convention because it is not particularly concerned

with labour matters but rather with the rights of indigenous peoples. Canada has not ratified this
Convention though consultations with the provinces are completed.® As the Convention relates to
a number of issues over which the provinces are said to be sovereign, Canada claims to be unable
to ratify this convention without tlie agreement of the provinces and terﬁtpries. The pr;)vinces
may resist ratification on the basis of the ov\inership issqe being unresolved and their inability or

unwillingness to promote an economic base for First Nations.

8 The Government of Canada and the Province of British Columbia often refer to "interim
measures” as initiatives or opportunities which tend to assure the relevant First Nations that some
of the land and some of the resources will be left by the time a treaty is signed. One of the
problems with these initiatives or opportunities is that they are often foreign to the aboriginal
culture and they are imposed on First Nations as opposed to recognizing the institutions and laws
of the First Nation. It is in this sense that an economic base is critical and how commercial fishing
and hunting treaty rights are the natural means of creating that base.

.® See Indigenous Peaoples Response to the Proposed Revised Convention on Indigenous
and Tribal Populations Convention, 1957 (N0.107), Indigenous Peoples Working Group
(Canada), November, 1988.

% see fn. 4, above.

: *! From a telephone conversation on September 27, 1994 with Allan J. Torobin, Senior
Intemnational Officer, Human Resource Development, Intemational Affairs, Human Resources
Development Canada.
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Article 23, for example, provides that:

23(1) Handicrafts, rural and community-based industries, and subsistence economy
and traditional activities of the peoples concemed, such as hunting, fishing,
trapping and gathering, shall be recognized as important factors in the
maintenance of their cultures and in their economic self-reliance and
development. Government shall, with the participation of these people and

.. whenever appropriate, ensure that these activitieszare strengthened and promoted.

(2) Upon the request of the peoples concerned, appropriate technical and financial
assistance shall be provided wherever possible, taking into account the traditional
technologies and cultural characteristics of these peoples, as well as the importance
of sustainable and equitable development. (emphasis added)

Part 1 of the Convention provides that indigenous peoples must have the right to sustain

or establlsh their own cultural or legal institutions, to decide their own priorities and to have the

necessary resources prowded by govemments Part I deals with tradmonal land where mdngenous 4-

T TR

peoples have the nght of ownership in addition to the nght of possessnon In Bntlsh Columbla,
where almost the entire province is unceded and in which the indigenous peopleé of British
Columbia have the right of ownership, there should be no problem with concurrence. As the

Province of British Columbia owns nothing, they have nothing over which to exercise jurisdiction.

It is submitted that neither the provinces nor the federal government are prepared to ratify
ILO Convention 169 because it specifically provides that indigenous peoples have a right of
ownership over their lands. It should be recalled that the common law, customary international

law, and Canadian constitutional law support the right of indigenous peoples to own their own

e Sl Biiue Bifow Siiem Elew Miaw ew Biies See e Sl L

3]

Y
Ll



44
lands, those lands which have never been ceded by treaty. First Nations, provincial, territorial and

federal politicians have a responsibility to resolve this issue and to ratify ILO Convention 169,

In the meantime, it is submitted that the implementation of the h ich Tr
1852 in relation to the exercise of those treaty rights of hunting and fishing for commercial
purposes is somewhat overdue. As a respected Treaty elder from North Saanich once said, “you

guys are all asleep".
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Judgment (FILMER PCJ)

17 November 1989
Victoria, B.C,

THE CLERK: Joseph Edward Ellsworth, John Joseph Sampson,
Craig Sampson, on Information 49395-C. )

MR. HALL: Scott Hall for the Crown Federal, Your Honour.

THE COURT: Thank you. _

MR. MacLEAN: I ses John Sanpson hera. T!'ll just makae sure
the other two are present, Your Honour.

All three are present now, Your Honour.

THE COURT: Thank you. :

The matter before the Court is for decision today,
following two days of extremely interesting evidence in
this particular matter which vere led previously. During
the leading of that evidence and during the arguments in
this partiocular matter, several issues waere identified .
which I think should be dealt with one after the other.

The first issue is a factual issue: Has the Crown
placed sufficient evidence before the Court to prove
beyond a reasonable doubt that the acoused were fishing
on the evening in question as alleged in the information
before the Court? It is my view on this issue the only
inference that can be drawn from all of the facts proven
ia that the three persons cbserved in the river over
saveral hours' fishing were the three accused persons who
ware apprehended and are today before the Court.

' The second issue is whether the Douglas treaty of
1852 gives Kative people who are descendants of the
signatories of that treaty a right to fish unimpeded by
regulation such as the one upon which the present charge
is based. The facts herein show that in the 1850z
Governor Douglas, then an employae of tha ‘Hudson's Bay
Company, was empowered to.enter into agreements with
Rativa persons present on the Saanich Peninsula and in
other areas to purchase whatever title those people
possessad in the land so that the area of Southern
Vancouver Island and adjacent areas could be settled.
It is clear that the Native people had rights to those
lands because several examples ware led in evidence of
the settlers requesting the use of land and/or products,
to wit, timber tharefrom, for the settlers' uses and the
settlers obtained those particular rights or products
from the Native leaders.

It is also clear the areas purchased were set out in
the agreaments that were arrived at and compensation was
paid therefor. Further, the Native people's right to
hunt on unoccupied land and to "carry on fisheries as

TRIAL (Conclution] ' \
17 Novenbor 1869
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D Judgment (FILMER PCJ)
D p formally"™ wvere exprassly reserved within those
a
J i -
-3 believe the answer to.that arqument is contained in
6 , & decision of the Supreme Court of
D 7 Canada, (1985) hS.C R. 387, and in & decision of the
8 British Columbia Court of Appeal which I ghall refer to
9 as the ‘ case, its number being V000613,
D 10 Victoria Registry.
11 In . Chief Justice Dickson makes it
12 clear that he was not prepared to accept an argqument that
13 the signatories to the Micmac treaty in Nova Scotia
14 lacked capacity to anter into an enforceable treaty. He
15 held the treaty was made for the benetit of the
16 l!!

and acted ‘upon by.the partiea to it.

D 18 ' TR He a ao hold thc
" 19 decision in Reging v. Sviiboy, (1929) 1 D.C.R. 307, in
D 20 the Nova Scotia County Court represented the type of
21 reasoning that is not appropriate in the present era,
22 where a sensitivity to Native rights in canada is
23 nacessary. . )
D 24 In the Szgniohton Maring case, the B.C. Court of
25 Appeal, speaking through Mr. Justice Hinkson, dealt with
26 essentially the same treaty relied upon in this matter.
, 27 In my view, it-is unnecessary to reitaerate the facts
28 ... relied. upon,by.that Justice in his decision because-they
29 are essentially identical with the facts in the case at

bar. It iz further unnecessary to reiterate the law
ralied upon in that decision in this natter bocauseit 18

3
ww
~o

32 fully canvaued and 1eads to ©FE 55t o7 et Y G s LS LA
: 33 TN AR YR EYD That is held by ur. Juatice
34 - Hinkson at pa 0 6 ot his Judgment.
as Mr., Justice Hinkson thercafter 1nterprcts the said
36 " treaty and the meaning of the word ' _He

concludes thl aqteenent ¢ OV treaty, EIECRENS
IR PRSI RER as it did the right to hunt.
39 He also sayl at page 16 of that judgment:

(W |
WL
o

41 I conclude that the right granted to the
42 Indians by treaty is unique in the sense that
it 4= difficult to describe it within the

TRIAL (Condu.bﬂ) .\
17 November 10688 -
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Judgment (FILMER PCJ)

—- and in that case in the iholtef of the Saanichton
Bay.

the time of the 1852 treaty fished in thae Goldstreanm
River and had done so for as long as anyone could
remembar. They used spears, gaffs, nats, and veirs to do
go. It is clear the settlers recognized that traditional
fishing because 2 special area at the mouth of the river
wvas reserved to the Indians for that use by the Joint
Federal/Provincial Indian Reserve Commission of 1877

= of Fe e W w L A
" The only issue which remains in this matter is
whether the defendants are descendants of the signatories
of the above-mentioned treaty. It is clear from the
evidence John Joseph Sampson and Craig Sampson are direct
" descendants.

It is not so clear in the case of Joseph Edward
Ellsworth. He is a person who apparently has returned to
the Tsartlip band recently, and according to the
testimony of Tom Sampson, an elder of the band, both
Ellsworth's grandmother and grandfather were members of
the band. On the evidence before the Court, I am able to

~ find he {s also a direct descendant.

On all of the evidence herein I tind the
detendants, and all of them, are e

" Gentlemen, I therefore find you all not guilty of
the charges that have been laid.
MR. MacLEAN: Thank you vary much, Your Honour.

MR. HUNT: Thank you, Your Honour. That completes those

TRIAL (Conalushant) A
17 Navarmber 10849

In this matter, I f£ind that the Saanich Indians at -~
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Judgment (FILMER PCJ)

matters which I have before Your Honour this afternoon.
THE COURT: Thank you, Mr. Hall.

(PROCEEDINGS CONCLUDED)

TRUL (Conchusion)
177 No:m 1609 \
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No. 49395-c
Victoria Registry

A

HER MAJESTY THE QUEEN

APPELLANT REASONS FOR JUDGMENT

AND: OF THE HONOURABLE
JOSEPH EDWARD ELLSWORTH,
JOHN JOSEPH SAMPSON and
CRAIG SAMPSON

MR. JUSTICE MURPHY

.
Ne? S Ny St N St Nt St Nt Nt Nt St

_ RESPONDENTS
Kelly R. Doerksen Counsel for the appellant
.__g;‘la'lcolm 0. Maclean - Counsel for the respondents
Date and Place of Hearing February 9, 1992

Victoria, B. C.

This 1s an appeal by the Crown from the acquittal by His
Honour Judge Filmer on 17 November 1989 of the respondents on a

charge on or about 26 October 1988 at or near Victoria in the

"Province of British Columbia, they did unlawfully fish without the

authority of a license or permit contrary to s. 4(1) of the British

Columbia Fishery (General) Regulations.

The respondents are native Indians, members of the Tsartlip
village. They are direct descendants of the signatories of the
Douglas Treaties of 1852 as so found by Judge Filmer. The relevant

portion of the treaty in question provides:
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The trial judge found that the respondents were fishing at the.
relevant time in the Goldstream River which is at the head of the
Saanich Inlet. At the time in quest‘ion the Goldstream River was
closed for the catching of.coho and chinock salmon by any method

and by any user group.

In 1988, the year in which the offence occf.xrred, a total of -
only nineteen chinook salmon and two hundred and ninety-five coho
had returned to the Goldstream River to spawn. Thexre was an
abundance’ of chum salmon, a species differen‘ti: from coho and
chinook, returning to the Goldstream River to spawn. Indian food
fish licenses were available to native Indians to harvest chum

salmon from the Goldstream River during the closure period.

At page 3 of his judgment, Judge Filmer stated:

In this matter, I £find that the Saanich
Indiang at the time of the 1852 treaty fished
in the Goldstream River and had done so for as
long as anyone could remember. They used
spears, gaffs, nets, and weirs to do so. It
is <clear the settlers recognized <that
traditional fishing because a gpecial area at
the mouth of the river was reserved to the
Indisans for that use by the Joint Federal/
Provincial Indian Reserve Commission of 1877.

It is further my view that the right to fish
“"as formerly" clearly encompasses the
Goldstream River and the fishing can be
carried on by the descendants of the Saanich
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Indians as represented by the Tsartlip Band
who reside in Central Saanich.

It is further my view that the right. to fish
"as formerly"” includes +the right to <£fish
unimpeded by regulation such as are relied
upon by the Crown in this case. It is 'clear
no such scheme of regulations and permits
existed in 1852, and they are an impediment
inconsistent with the intent of the agreement,
now treaty,; entered into at that time.

. o9

On all of the evidence herein, I find -the

defendants, and all of them, are direct

descendants of the Saanich Indiang, are
entitled to the benefit of the 1852 treaty,

and are therefore entitled to f£fish in the

Goldstream River unimpeded by regulation.

Following are the WEES ¥ by the Crown as set out in

1t=s amended notice of appeal:

1. That the learned trial judge erred in law
dn  holding ‘

" SEARACERGLTNEIOE relied uponm
by the Crown in the case at bar.
2. That the learned trial judge erred in law

in finding that

chinook and coho returning to the Goldstream Rivexr to spawn that
conservation measures were necessary.‘ Judge Filmer's decision was
delivered, however, prior to the decision of the Supreme Court of

Canada in Regina v. Sparrow (1990), 56 C.C.C. (34) 263.

There is no doubt that with respect to the meagre number of -
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The decision in Sparrow related to the aboriginal rights of
native Indians as opposed to treaty rights as in this Ca;s.e.
However, even with respect to the latter I do not think it jig
correct to say that the native Indians, and particularly the
respondents in this case, have the right to fish unimpeded nor that
the treaty gives them this absolute right. On the one hand, it is
the position of the respondents that the Douglas Treaty of 1852 is
their license to fish and that no other license is required. On
the other hand, the Indian people themselves impeded their right in
that they practised conservation in Goldstream by the use of a
weir. Chief David Paul, the administrator and chief of the
Tsartlip Band, testified (page 52 of the transcript):

Q Could you tell the court.how those fish
wvere caught before the white man came?
Yes, with a weir,
How big was a weix?
A
Depending on what you were doing with the
fish, whether you were letting them up,
or whether you were catching them,
depending on what type of weir you wanted
to use. I mean, there was four different
types of weirs.

Q And what were they made of?
They were made out of the trees cut right
from the area there, and they were poked
into the ground and you could sort out
the different sizes of fish through the

weirs. It was a form of conservation.

Q How -- how was it a form of conservation?
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Well, the -- the ones that you would let
up were the ones that were a better
speciles of fish.

Did you say "better"?

Yep. '

And -- and is it fair to assume from that
that you would trap the ones that were

not better species? Or do I miss what
you're saying?

Yes, I think you do. When -- it's like

anything else 1f you do a -~ when you're

breeding you take the better ones for

breeding. :

Then what would happen to the ones that
couldn't get up?

Well, we'd use them.

All right. So they would be trapped or
caught or eaten?

I don't think we ever used the word
“trapped". I think that we used the
word, for conservation purposes; that we
would let the ones up and take the ones.
We never used the woxd "trapped" though.
I don't know if you know what a weir is.
It's not a trap.

Well, perhaps you could explain it.

It's a -- it's a thing that you put down
like that in the water and -- and it's

not a trap. You ~-=- it allows the fish to
go through.

described a weir as follows (page 10 to 11 of the transcript):

gave evidence in the court below.

Dr. Barbara lLane, an anthropologist having special expertise

with respect to the cu;ture of the Saanich people of which the

She
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Generally speaking, and again there are a
number of ways of constructing weirs and
different materials can be used, but in
general a welr is simply a structure
which is usually built from bank to bank
across a stream or a river. And it's
more like a fence than a dam; although
the term “"dam" is sometimes used, I think
inappropriately, because, unlike a dam,
the weir does not obstruct the passage of
water. The water flows freely through,
and depending upon how the dam 4is
constructed it either can stop almost all
fish or it can be built so as to select
by size and allow small fish to pass
through but larger ones to be stapped.
And all the weir does is elther impede or
glow down the passage of fish. It's a
kind of & fence, 1if you will. To take

. the fish you then have to have something

else, eilther traps built into the weir,
which is sometimes done, or set down next
to the weir, which is sometimes done, ‘or
you have to take the fish which are
stopped at the weir by some other means,
such as spearing them or gaffing them or
taking them out with a dip net or 1lift
net, two different terms used to indicate
the same thing, & net at the end of a
long pole which is dipped down into the
water and then lifted out with the fish
in it. Or you can take them with other
devices, such as a leister (phenetic) or
a harpoon, whatever. But generally
speaking in this area, and {f you'd like
me to speak about Goldstream, gaffing and
dip-netting would have been the two most
likely or most common ways of taking the

.£fish when they were stopped at a weir, if

there was a weir there.

Given the foregoing, it is my opinion that the right, "... HER
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which the fisheries were carried on.

that the fish in this case were taken for food. Mr.

-7 -

In addition, it seems to me that, “... to carry on our

fisheries as formerly" involves an examination of the purpose on

consequently, there 1s no direct evidence as to why they were

f£ighing. There is some indirect evidence from which I can infer A

a8 member of the Tsartlip Indian Band, and chairman of a group

called the Saanich Tribal Fishery Council, testified as follows:

All right. I'm going to give you a

situation, then, where there are nineteen
.chinook that ' are returning <to the

Goldstream. Should one 0f those chinook
be taken?

Chinook or coho?

Chinook.’

How many did you <=ay there were,
nineteen?

Nineteen.

Nineteen chinook?

Yes.

Knowing what ‘our situation is in our
village, 1if someone said, "I want to take

one of those for my -- to feed my

family," I would say yes. I would say
yes. i

Do you think more than one chinook could
be taken out of the nineteen?

Tom Sampson,
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If -- because of what I know about ny

village and our families, I would
probably say, "Yes, take one or two more,
but be reasonable about that."” Because
our village -- our village is in tough
shape. All of our people, at least
ninety percent of them are on welfare,
and usually we don't take that unless we
Yeally have to. .

What about coho then? - I'm going to pose
the same question. If there arxe
approximately three hundred coho
returning, would you say that seven would
be a reasonable number to take in one
night?

If the situations are the same, 1 would
probably agree with a person going there
to get food for his family, but we would
be very careful about what would happen
after that, because we @0 -- we do try to
police ourselves, even though we can't
afforda to do {¢t. We do try to do
everything within our power to police or
to try to make sure that what everyone ==

anyone takes hasg got to be solely for the .

purpose of their family.

their possession vwhen accosted by the fisheries officer.

r.u3

In actual fact, the respondents had seven coho and one chinook in

With respect to the use made of the fish by the Indian people,

Lane testified as follows:

Q

Now, at the time of the signing of the
treaty with the North and -- or the
signing of the North and South Saanich
treaties, what was the sgtatus of the
fishery in this area. Essentially, who
was fishing in this area? .

The Indians were the people who were
fishing.
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'rhey also

salted and barrelled fish and exported it

“to other places, acting as middlemen to -

Indians were the fishermen and the
Hudson Bay Company had entered into a
commerce in fish. In fact, although Fort
Langley had been set up as a fur post, it
rapidly derived more income from export
of fish than it did from furs.

Now ...

Fort Victoria, when it became established

a little bit later, served as the depot,
and fish from the Fraser River and from
the island were shipped out from Fort
Victoria on the company's vessels.

Taiy

I infer from the high.unemployment rate testified tb by Mr. Sampson

that fhe fish taken were to be used for food.

I conclude therefore that when the Indian people by the

food obviously.

@BBDCXBDDD[—!F_'IF‘_![:!SCJCJDC]B




P~ : N

L IR < S ]

- )

0

N

L3 C_48 o:j a3

-
w

N

A

4

veEC-1b-1992 11:48  tRUM Jones—tmery Legal Service fu 1000 L2000 .11

- 10 -

While the treaty does not purport to pre-empt other users of
fish the interpretation given to Indian treaties nmust be looked at.

In Claxton et al v. Saanichton Marina Ltd. et al (1989), 36

B.C.L.R. (2d) 79 (B.C.C.A.), Hinkson J.A., at pages 84 - 85,
indicated the approach to the_interpretatipn of Indian treaties as

follows:

BER2 The treaty should be given a fair, large
and liberal construction in favour of the
Indians.

R Treaties must be construed not according
to the technicel meaning of their words, but
in the sense that they would naturally be
undexstood by the Indians; ,

B As the honour of the Crown is always
involved, no appearance of "sharp dealing”
should be sanctioned;

3% Any ambiguity .in wording should be
intexrpreted as against the drafters and should
not be interpreted to the prejudice of the
Indians if another construction is reasonably
possible.

! Evidence by conduct or otherwise as to

how the parties understood the treaty is of
assistance in giving it content.

AlthOugh not specifically referred to, Dr. Lane gave the
following evidence which would apply to subparagraphs (b) and (e):

Q Can you state what <the 1Indian oral
history ia as it relates the treaties and
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what they perceived the t-;reaties to
import?

Yes, they certainly understood and again
if I may expand my earlier comments, the
only thing that we know about what- the
Indian could have understood at that time
-1s what Douglas tells us he told thenm,
and you just ready what he said about the
fisheries, and that seems clear in the

oral histaory to have been the

understanding of the Saanich people, as
well as other Indian parties to <the
Douglas treaties, that they were assured
they could .= continue to support
themselves, to continue their fisheries,
which as the mainstay of their economy,

as they had done pr:l.or to the treaties.

-

-~

In this respect on May 16, ‘1850 Governor Douglas xeported back to

England:

I informed the Natives that they would not be
disturbed in possession of their village sites
and enclosed fields, which are of small
extent, that they were at liberty to hunt over
the unoccupied lands,

{my emphasis)

Although Sparrow dealt with aboriginal rights, I think it goes

without saying that even with respect to treaty rights conservation

is necessary to protect the resource for the benefit of the Indian

people if for no other reason.

And as well, the Indian people

themselves practised congervation as previously mentioned by use of

a welr and latterly by widening the channels in the Goldétream
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are ineffectual if there are no f£ish left to go up the Goldstream
River to spawn as a result of interception of chinook and coho

destined for Goldstream River by the sports and commercial fishery.

In this respect I quote from the testimony of Stefan Beckmann,

fisheries officer (pages 24 to 26 of the transcript):

And the sgports fisherman catch, or are
permnitted to catch coho and chinook 4in
the Inlet, correct?

In most of the Inlet, yes. There is a
boundary which is 1in effect -~ I don't
know 1if you are faniliar with the area,
from Christmas Polint, it closes off the
southern half of Finlayson Arm, giving a
sanctuary to the coho and chinook.

All right. So part of the Inlet is
closed of£?

For sports fishing.

But the rest of the Inlet is open for
sports fishing of chinook and coho?

That's correct.

And of course, there is a commercial
fishery for chinook and coho further out
in the strait, correct?

Uh ~- no, that's not correct.

All right.

Well, partially, they do fish for coho.

Where?

There's a troll fishery that takes place
in the Strait of Georgia.

Such measures
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Yes?
Then there 1is -~ there is net fishing

that goes on in.Johnson Strait, Juan de
Fuica Strait, and there is interception of
various coho and chinooks, although the
primary target wusually 4is chum and
sockeye.

And the interception of those cocho and
chinook by the comimercial fishermen would
have to include some of the coho and
chinook destined for the Goldstream,
correct? .

That would be correct, yes.

And some of the coho and chinook that are
caught by the sports fishermen are coho
and chinook that are destined for <the
Goldstream, correct?

Correct.

And with that 4nterception by the
commercial fishery and the sports
£ishery, that helps i1in reducing <the
numbers of fish returning to the
Goldstream, correct?

Yeah, it's a partial cause, yes. Thexe's"

also Indian Food Fishing that also takes
place up and down the coast which also
causes interception of those stocks.

Would you have any idea, Officer, and 1if
it's beyond your area of expertise,
please say s0, but do you have any idea
how many say pieces of coho and chinook
are caught by the commercial fleet in the
Strait of Georxgia, Johnson Strait?

I wouldn't know. May Ron Kehl might be
able to answer your question.

It would be in the thousands though?
Oh, vyes.

Would it be in the tens of thousandsg?

.

14
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Uh -- you're talking coho or chincok?

Coho and chinook combined.

Combined. The interception of all the
gtocks of -~

Yes.

I'm sure it wiil be over ~- oh, yes. But
I mean, those might be U.S. fish as well.

Yeah, because you can't tell because the
stocks haven't broken off at that point,
correct? It would be very difficult to

- determine where the fish are going?

Yes.

Yes.

It's very difficult to tell. We have
various tagging programs that help us
estimate, but the mixing oOf stocks is
very, very severe and it's difficult to
manage. And only through extensive
record keeping and tagging programs has
it been found out where certain fish
stocks move about, and based on our
knowledge of where the fish move that's
where we would have a commercial fishery
with intent of targeting only on that
species of fish that is destined to a
river that 1is expecting a surplus. The
aim of commercial fisheries is to harvest
surplus only and wminimize any other
interception fishing.

Now, the sports fishery that takes place
in the Inlet, we know that that (sic)
there is gome restriction as to the area.
Is there a restriction per fisherman?
Yes.

Of coho and chinook?

Yes.

And is there a restriction as to the’

number of fishermen out there?

L O )
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So we could have an unlimited number of

fishermen and each one would have the

same limit on the number of fish to he
caught?

That's correct.

How many fish are the spoxrts fishermen
- allowed each of coho?

A Four coho salmon per person per day. But
the Regulations state four salmon per
day. So if they were lucky enough to

catch or ‘hook into four coho, that would

be their limit.

Q or they could have a chinook thrown in?

Yeah, two of those four salmon might be-

chinook

Q Is that the limit on the chinook in the
;f-Inlet is two?

A »Yes. But maybe I should point out that
chinook salmon and coho that are headed
back to the Goldstream lose their feeding
instinct. .

Q Yes?

A The closer they get to the river,
- _ therefore fishermen who are fishing as
such for Goldstream chinook or coho would
likely not have all that much success the
lower they get 1nto Saanich Inlet
anyways. -

With respect to conservation, the Supreme Court of

Sparrow stated at page 31:

The constitutional nature of the Musqueam food
f£ishing rights means that any allocation of
priorities after valid conservation measures
have been implemented must give top priority

Canada in
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to Indian food £ishing. If the objective
pertained to conservation, the conservation
plan  would be scrutinized to assess
priorities. While the detailed allocations of
maritime resources is a task that must be left
to those having expertise in the area, the
Indians' food requirements must be met first
when that allocation is established. The
significance of giving the aboriginal right to
figh for food top priority can be described as

Zm follows. If, in a given year, conservation
needs required a reduction in number of fish
to be caught such that the number equalled the
number required for food by the Indians, then
all the £fish available after consexvation
would go to the Indians according to the
constitutional nature of their fishing right.
I1f, more realistically, there were still f£ish
after the Indian food requirements were met,
then the brunt of the conservation measurxes
would be borne by the practices of sport
fishing and commercial fishing.

To carry the foregoing to its logical conclusion, if no fish were
available at all beyond the numbers required for spawning there
would be no fish to allocate to the Indian people which would

appear to be the case with respect to coho and chinook at the time

of. the taking of the chinook and coho by the respondents.
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Although the Goldstream chinoqk and cohp lose their feeding
instinct as they approach Goldstream, and the éumber of fish that
may be taken in any one day by éports fishermen is restricted, the
lack of anj restriction on the number of licenses issued creates é
somewhat negative impact on the daily restriction.  The dwindling
number of coho and chinook -returning to the Goldstream River iﬁ

1988 would seem to confirm this. The measure taken, therefore,

fail to take into account rights of the Tsartlip Band under the

Thisg, of course, is no easy

task and dould spell ruination for both the sports fishing industry

and commercial fishing and would be unwérrante_d 1f there was a

surplus of chinook and coho from other streams and rivers.
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| As mentioned previously, there was an abundance of chum salmon D

which. was available to the Tsartltip people (leaving aside for the

moment the question of whether they were required to obtain a D
license). In addition, the ancestors of the Tsartlip people fiéhed

outside of their territory for other species, e.g. sockeye and D

_ pink. In addition they also fished in the Inlet and still do. WU D
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However, the treaty gave the Indian people the right to carry on
their fisheries as formerly. That included the right to fish for

coho and chinook in Goldstream as well as a right to take other

species and to £ish

Wi To do so would;be<1n violation of paragraphs (a) and (b) of

the appfoach referred to in Claxton.

In addition to the foregoing, with fespect to chum salmon, I

quote from the tgstimony of Chief Paul:

Q Chief Paul, does your band still rely
: upon the various species of salmon to
provide food for your people?

Yes, we do.

And you have observed the fish 1in the
river, in the Goldstream River?

Yes, we have.

Can you tell His Honour the condition
that the chum salmon, for example, when
they reach the point of the bridge in the .
river, in this area here, what condition
are they in?

A They're not in very good condition.

How do they compare gsay, with the coho
or chinook?

A  The chinocok and coho are in better gshape
on that side farthexr up.
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Q Do your people rely upon the coho and
chinook for food?

A Sure do.
Mr. Sampson testified:

Q And from the ~- in the river, would you

= fish 4in 8ll parts--of that river,
traditionally?
A Yes, we fished the whole river, because

when. you're doing fish there're certain
things we know about the certain species,
specially the chum salmon. The chum was
the easiest to take, and he was probably
the best to smoke, because they didn't
have too much fat in them. And it would
last longer. The other species of £fish
we took for immediate eating purposes,
although -~

Q And -~ gorry.

A Although we did smoke the chinook and the
coho, but it -- because they're too fat,
you know, ordinarily we wouldn't do as
nmuch as we would do the chum salmon.

Q So the coho and the chinook or the spring
would be wused for i1immediate eating
purposes?

A Yes.

Mr. Tom Sampson agreed that Indian fisheries should be

regulated but not until such time as some agreement has been -

reached between the Indian people and the Federal Government in
that respect. I quote from his testimony:
Q It's fair to say, then, that both sgport

and commercial fishery should be
regulated, as far as you're concerned?

3

sy 3 % C 3 3
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D 4 A For the reasons I gave.
P Q Yes. But that the Indian fishery in any
way, shape, and form should not be
U 6 regulated?
7 A 'Oh, I never said that.
Us Q Oh, do you believe that the Indian
fishery should be regulated?
D9 A Of course it should be, but you have a
0 treaty in place that has to be talked

about.
Q And who is going to regulate that treaty?

Dz A Well, it's with the Federal government,
the government of Canada.

13

E Q Is it your evidence, the, that <he
14 ‘ Federal government should regulate your
- fishing rights as Indians wunder the

D : treaty?
16 A No, no, what I said was we have & treaty
in place that gives us the right to fish
D” out there, and until such time as we ~-
18 until such time as we sit down with the

Federal government Fisheries or -- an
D arrive at some reasonable agreement of
19 ‘ gome kind, then obviously the treaty can
DIO_
21

get regulated, but not before that.
Uzz I confirm the acquittal but not on the basis of the trial

judge's decision, if what he is saying is that since no such scheme

U 24 of regulations and permits existed in 1852, they are therefore an
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Provincial Court file 12465

—®

. ] Nanaimo Registry
. - . criminal division

IN THE PROVINCIAL COURT OF BRITISH COLUMBIA
|
REGINA
vs
Anthony Clark SEWARD, McCardy Charles JONEé,

Mervin Bennet SEWARD, Rodney Dwayne SEWARD,
Gregory Wayne SEWARD & Randolf Keith SEWARD

Reasons for Judgment

These six Accused, Anthony Clark Seward, McCardy-Charles
Jones, Mervin Bennet Seward, Rodney Dwayne Seward, Gregory Wayne

Seward and Randolf Keith-Seward,who are all native Indians, are

charged with two offences against the B.C. Fisheries Regulations

which -are made pursuant to the "Fisheries Act"” of Canada. :

These offences, one of fishing by meansvof a set salmon
net, and of fishing by means of a net without a valid llcence, are
alleged to have occurred on or about the 22nd day of September, 1983
at or near a place known as the 'Bore Hole on the.Nanaimo River,

in the County of Nanaimo, Province of British Columbia.

. The Accused, through their counsel, admit the Crown's case.

Their defence is that ‘they all being native Indians, and
members of the Nanaimo Indién Band, have the benefit of a Treaty

.made by their ancestors with the Hudson's Bay Company, which

s C® 3
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preserved their right to fish in the area where they were found.

It is their view that the Regulations they are alleged to have

breached do not apply to them because of the special status

accorded to them by the Crown through these treaties. They also

argue that their treaty rights have been confirmed and
re-established by the enactment of the Constitution Act of 1982,
and that the parliament of Canada had no right to abrogate or

infringe upon thosé rights by endcting the Regulations under the

Fisheries Act.

The Crown's argument put simply, as I understand it, is

that“while recognizing the treaty rights of these Accused persons . .

that these rights are subject to regulations lawfully enacted by the

Parliament of Canada. That legal jurisprudence has affirmed that

position, and that Special rights have been afforded to fiative

Indians in the Regulations for the food fishery permits.”

The very same treaty that we are dealing with “in the

case at bar was first considered in 1964 by the British Columbia .

. Court of Appeal. Mr. Justice Norris, in reviewing the background

to the Treaty, started with the Royal Proclamation of 1763 at

page 218 of the 52 Western Weekly Reports:

. -"The royal proclamation of 1763 was declaratory
and confirmatory of the aboriginal rights and
applied to Vancouver Island. For the British,
‘the proclamation of 1763 dealt with a new
situation arising from the war with the French
in North America, in which Indians to a greater
or less degree .took an active part on both sides,
and, incidentally, from the Treaty of Paris of



1763 which concluded that war. The problem
which then faced the British was the
management of a continent by a power, the
interests of which haé theretofore been
confined to the sea coast. As exploration
advanced, the natives of the interior and
western reaches must be pacified, trade
promoted, sovereignty exercised and Jjustice
administered even if only in a general wvay.
until such time as British settlement could
be established. It was a -situation which was
to face the Imperial power in .varying degree
and in various parts of the continent until
almost the close of the 19th century.  In the
circumstances, it was vital that aboriginal
rights be declared and the policy pertaining
thereto defined. This was the purpose and the
substance of the royal proclamation of 1763.
The principles there laid down ‘continued to

- be a charter of Indian rights through the
succeeding years to the present time --
recognized in the various treaties with the
United States in which Indian rights were
involved and in successive land treaties made
between the crown and the Hudson's Bay Company
with the Indians."

The Royal proclamation has been recognized for many years
as having the effect of a statute, and so far as the rights of the

Indians are concerned, it has never been repealed. (see Rex V.

McMééter (1926) "Ex CR.

The_éffect of the proclamation is that it not 6nly gave

- recognition to the Indians as a sgparaté nation, but it also was an
acknowledgement'of the protectorate obligation the Crown felt that.it
owed towafd the Indians. It furthermore recognized that the lands
possessed by thé Indians anywhere in North America are reserved to
them unless and uh£il ceded té the Ciown. At ;he time of the Royal
Proclamétion,'the separate territory of Vancouver Island was not -even

known to exist.
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The colony of Vancouver Island was granted to the
Hudson's Bay Company by a charter dated January 13th, 1849.
Again, this charter recognizes the Indians as a separate and

distinct nation and gives, as one of the reasons for the colonization
of the Island, "the protection and welfare of the native Indians

residing on Vancouver Island."” Sir James Douglas was appointed

Governor of this new colony, and granted Letters Patent by the

monarch on May 16th, 1851. These detail his power and authority

to colonize Vancouver Island. In it he is given, "the power and

authority to make such laws and ordinances as may from time to time

be required for the peace,'oraer and good government of the Colony'".

Prior to the enactment by the British Parliament of the
Act authorizing the colonization of Vancouver Island by Sir James

Douglas, his immediate superior, E.B. Lytton, the Colonial Secretary

in London wrote to Governor Douglas on July 31, 1850, outlining in
some detail the policies he hoped and expected the Governor would

carry into effect in the process of colonization. In particular,

Governor Douglas was enjoineé:

"to consider the best and most humane means of
dealing with the Native Indians. The feelings
of this country (he goes on to say) would be
strongly opposed to the adoption of any arbitrary
or oppressive measures toward them. I am reluctant
(he adds) at this distance and with the imperfect -
means of knowledge I possess, to offer as yet any
suggestion as to the prevention of affrays between
the Indians and the immigrants. This question is
of such a local character that it must be solved by
your knowledge and experience and I commit it to you .
in the full persuasion that you will pay every regard
to the interests of the natives which enlightened
humanity can suggest. Let me not omit to observe that
it should be an invariable condition in all bargains
or treaties with the natives for the cessation of



lands possessed by them that subsistence should
be supplied to them in some other shape, and
above all that it is the earnest desire of Her
Majesty's Government that your early attention
should be given to the best means of diffusing
the blessings of the Christian Religion and of
‘civilization among the natives,'"

A similar view is expressed almost a year later, on April
1lth, 1859, in a letter from Lord Carnarvon, Assistant Colonial

Secretary to Governor_pouglas. He says, in part:

"I am glad to perceive that you have directed the
attention of the House to that interesting and
important subject, the relations of Her Majesty's
Government and of the Colony to the Indian race.

Proofs are unhappily still too frequent of the

‘neglect which Indians experience when the white man
obtains possession of their country, and their claims
"t0 consideration are forgotten at the moment when
equity most demands that the hand of the protector
should be extended to help them. In the case of the
Indians of Vancouver Island and British Columbia, Her
Majesty's Government earnestly wish that when the
advancing requirements of colonization preys upon the
lands occupied by members of that race, measures of
liberality and justice be adopted for compensating
them for the surrender of the Territory which they have
been taught to regard as their own." .-

Some two years later, on March 25, 1861, Governor Douglas
in a letter forwarding a petltlon from the Leglslature to the Colonial

Secretary in London asking for more money to pay the Indians for their
land, had this to say: '

"as the native Indian populatlon on Vancouver Island
have distinct ideas of property in land, and mutually
recognize their several exclusive possessory rights
in. certain districts, they would not fail to regard the_
occupation of such portions of the Colony by white
settlers, unless with the full consent of the proprletary
tribes, as national wrongs; and the sense of injury
might produce a feeling of irritation against the settlers,
and perhaps disaffection to the Government that would
endanger the peace of the country."

Sir James bouglés.negotiated some 14 treaties on Vancouver

Island and they have become to be known as the "Douglas Treaties.™
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Eleven of these were made at Fort Victoria, two at Fort Rupert,
and one at Nanaimo. These were negotiated between 1850 and 1875.
Apart from the description of the lands surrendered by the tribes

to the Hudson's Bay Company, and the amount of money paid, each

treaty contains the same conditions, namely:

"the condition of, or understanding of
this sale is this, that our village sites
and enclosed fields are to be kept for our
owvn use, and for the use of our children,
and for those who follow after us; and the
land shall be properly surveyed hereafter.
It is understood, however, that the land
itself, with these small exceptions, becomes
_ the entire property of the white people forever;
- it is. also understood that we are at liberty
to hunt over the unoccupied lands, and to
carry on our fisheries as formerly."

In the case of the Nanaimo_Indian Band, the land

surrendered and conveyed was "the country extending from Commercial

Inlet twelve miles up the Nanaimo River.*®

To compare the wording-in the Douglas Treaties quoted
aforesaid, there has been enteredéin evidence, Treaty #8, made on
June 21, 1899. It was made as to land in the North Easterly section
of B.C. This Treaty, it should be borne in mind, was made almost
twenty-five years after the Douglas Treaties. In this treaty, Her
Majesty agreed with “the Indians that they shall have the right to pursue
their usual vocations of hunting, trapplng and fishing throughout the

tract surrendered, *subject to such regulations as may from time to time

be made by the Government of the Country.'

There was a significant paragraph in the report sent by

the Indian Treaty Commissioner to the Superintendent of Indian Affairs



in Ottawa on September 22, 1899. In this report, they outline in

some:considerable detail, the negotiations they carried on with the

Indians before the treaties were signed:

"Our chief difficulty was the apprehension D
that the hunting anéd fishing privileges were
to be curtailed. The provision in the treaty ) D
under which ammunition and twine is to be
furnished went far in the direction of quieting :
the fears of the Indians, for they admitted that
it would be unreasonable to furnish the means of D
hunting and fishing if laws were to be enacted
which would make hunting and fishing so restricted
as to render it impossible to make a livelihood D
by such pursuits. But over and above the provision,
we had to solemnly assure them that only such laws
as to hunting and fishing as were in the interest of D
the Indians and were found necessary in order to
.. protect the fish and fur-bearing animals would be
made, and that they wouléd be as free to hunt and D

fish after the treaty as they would be if they
never entered into it."

The chief significance of this Treaty is, of course, that

there has now been inserted, twenty-five years after the Douglas

as may from time to time be made by the Government." |

Treaties had been concluded, the words "subject to such regulations .. D
No such D

reservation is contained in the Douglas Treaties, or the one negotiated

with the Nanaimo Indians. . o D

In contrast, how did the Americans deal with their natives
The Treaty concluded in 1855 in Whatcom County in the State of

Washington was entered as an exhibit in this case. It was qu;te '

different than the British Columbia treaties insofar as fishing is

"the right of taking fish at all usual
and accustomed grounds and stations is
further secured to said Indians in common
with all the citizens of the Territory,
and of erecting temporary houses for the
purpose of curing, together with the

concerned. Article 111 says, in part: ' D
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privilege of hunting, gathering roots
and berries and pasturing their horses
in open and unclaimed lands;"

Governor Douglas, in a letter dated May 16, 1850,

wrote to Archibald Barclay, the Hudson's Bay Company secretary in

London. In this letter, he advises that he has informed the Indians

on the ISland'.'.

"that they would not be disturbed in the
possession of their village sites and enclosed
fields, which are of small extent, and they were
at liberty to hunt over the unoccupied lands, and-
to carry on their fisheries with the same free-
dom as when they were the sole occupants of the

countxry"
’ Finally, we have in evidence an extract from the Journals
of the lLegislature of Vancouver Island for Tuesday, February 8, 1859.
An enquiry had been made by one of the members to Governor Douglas as
to whether certain TFiidians could be removed from a piece of land

inside Victoria Harbour. Governor'Douglas. in his reply, referred

to the reservations set aside for the Indians, and‘alsoAdescribed the

rights reserved to them in the following language:

"They (the Indlans) were to be protected
in their orlglnal right of fishing in the
Coasts and in the Bays of the Colony, and of
hunting over all unoccupled lands;
The expert called by Counsel for the defence, Mr. Davxd
Henry Gottesman, who has done considerable work and research on
historical land material and on the Douglas Treaties, expressed his

opinion that the fishing rights enjoyed by the Nanaimo Indian Band were

unrestricted and that they have the right to fish as;they did prior to

the conclusion of the Treaty.with Governor'Douélas.



I also heard viva voce evidence from members of the Band.
One of the elders described their system of government and explained

that the traditions, customs and usages of the tribe have been handed

down orally from father to child.

always maintained that they have the right to fish in the area of

the Nanaimo River because this was within the .area surrendered by

their treaty. They also fished in the salt water in the vicinity of

Nanaimo, such as Nanoose Bay, Five Fingers and Snake Island The

methods of fishing have changed little from the olden days. With the

advent of modern materials, cotton and hemp have given away to nylon,

etc. The Nanaimo Band consists of four different reserves, all

clustered around the Nanaimo River because it has always been considered

That their oral traditions have [}

one of the greatest and abundant salmon rivers in® the Province. More

than fifty percent of the diet of the Indians in the Band consists of

fish, even to this day. A good percentage of the Band rely upon social

ssistance as their only source of income, and to be able to fish'and

hunt for food is very 1mportant to malntaln their dlet. In addition,

they also find that fish occuples an important part of their cultural

activities, such as the potlach. We also learned through one of the

to catch fish for food during certain months of the year. In addltlon,

a seiner is made available to allow them to obtain more fish for food

if they wish to avail themselves to it. The Band Assistant Manager

told us that there were six hundred and forty—flve members in the Band,

of which four hundred and nine actually live on reserves in the Nanaimo
-area.

S
) elders that they can now obtain from the Fisheries Department, a permlt
There is no question in my mind that the Douglas Treaties, [}

of which the Treaty in the case at bar is one, takes precedence over
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Provincial Laws and Regulations. The principle was first established

in the White and Bob case guoted earlier. It has also been enunciated
most recently in our British Columbia Court of Appeal in the case of

Regina v. Bartleman (1984) 13CCC (3d) 488. The chief obstacle to be

surmounted by the Accused is that, 6n the basis of jurisprﬁdence thus
far, it would appear that the weight-of judicial opinion has favoureé

the interpretation that treaties may be abrogated, or at least made
subject to the terms of any Federal Statutes or Regulations made by
authority of an act of the Parliameg; of Canada. Several céses déaling
with the "Migratory Birds Cdn§enéigh Act", ah Act of the latter
category:have decided that it has preéedence'over Tfeaty rights possessed

by Indians in the territory affected.

Section 88 of the Indian Act provides:

“Subject to the terms of any treaty and
any other Act of the Parliament of Canada,
all laws of general application from time
to time in force in any Province are
applicable to and in respect of Indians
in the Province, except to the extent that
such laws are inconsistent with this Act or
any order, rule, regulation or by-law made

- thereunder, and except to the extent that
. such laws make provision for any matter for
" 'which provision is made by or under this Act.”

The . Treaty that we ére deéling with in this case, is a
treéty within the meaning of Section 88.quote§ above. (see White_& Bob
(1964) 50 DLR (2d) 613.) For some peiiod of time after the above section
was ‘enacted in 1951, there Qaé'a body §f opinion that the words, "all
laws of general application from time-to time-in force in any Province”
could include acts of the'éarliament of Canada. Indeed, Professor (as
he then was) K. Lysyk, in an article entitlea "Indian Hunting Rights"

(1966) 2 UBC Law Rev. 401 said of that .section at pg. 409:
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"It may be noted that by the terms of {]
Section 87 (as it then was) the laws which
are stated to be subject to the terms of
) any treaty are described not as ‘all {]
. provxnc1al laws of general application',
but as 'all laws of general appllcation
from time to time in force in any province.' D

The words actually used in the section are capable of

being construed to include more than just provincial laws in the sense

of enactments of the provincial legislature since entry into.ConfederatioE]
. Further, until very recently, it was: arguable that the phrase,

"All laws . . . in force in any Province" should be read so as to.includet]

federal laws in force in the Province, . . i.e., enactments of the

Parliament of Canada."™ E}

The argument has now been put to rest as a result of the r]

decision of the Supreme Court of Canada in Regina v. George (1966) SCR
267.

In that case, Mr. Justice Martland, speaking for the majority of D
the Court held that this seétion was not intended to be a declaration of [}

the paramouncy of treaties .over Federal legislation. He was of the view

that the reference to treaties was incorporated in a section, the purpose [}
of which was to make provincial laws applicable to Indians so as to preclu

any interference with rights under treaties resulting from the impact -of ?j

-provincial legislation. This decision has been the subject of some

controversy and criticism. (see Annotation entitled, “"the Unilateral

Abrogation of Indian and Eskimo Treaty Rights" (1966) 47 CR 395 by

C.A.G. Palmer). The dissenting judgment of Mr. Justice Cartwright in this

case has also ‘been quoted w1th approval by many scholars who disagree ‘with
the conclusions reached by the majority.

he reaches these conclusions:

"We should, I think, endeavour to construe the
treaty. . .and those Acts. of Parliament which
bear upon the question before us in such a

at page 393 of the 47 CR xeport,- D
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mannexr that the honour of the Sovereign

may be upheld ané Parliament not subject

to the reproach of having taken away by
unilateral action and without consideration,

the rights solemnly assured to the Indians

and their posterity by treaty. Johnson, J.A.

with obvious regret, felt bound to hold that
Parliament had taken away those rights, but

I am now satisfied that on its true construction,
section 87 of the Indian Act shews that Parliament
was careful to preserve them. At the rxrisk of
repetition, I think it is clear that the effect

of section 87 is two-fold. It makes Indians
subject to the laws ofi general application in .
force in the Province in which they reside but

at the same time it preserves inviolate to the
Indians whatever rights they have under the

terms of any treaty so that in the case of
conflict between the provisions of the law and
the terms of the treaty, the latter shall prevail."

- The cases of Regina v._Cooper, George and George, decided

in the British Columbia Supreme Court by Mr. Justlce Brown in 1968, and
reported in (1969) 1 DLR (3d) 113, involved offences committed against
the Fisheries Act, the same statute as we are considering in the case at
bar. The Treaty involved was one of the Douglas Treaties concluded with
the Sooke Tribe on Vancouver Island. It is identical to the Treaty ih

this case. Mr. Justice Brown felt bound to follow the majority judgment

of the Supreme Court of Canada in the George case, and held that the

Flsherles Act and Regulations may impinge on treaty rights. He noted,
with regret that he was unable to dlstlngulsh that case merely on the

ground that it dealt with the Migratory Blrds Convention Act and Regulatio

Counsel for the Accused, while recognizing that the foregoing
cases clearly seem to establish that Federal legislation can cut down Or
modlfy treaty rights, argue that there has, as yet, been no clear decision

deciding under what c1rcumstances can such a curtailment take place.

Also since the enactment of the Constitution Act 1982,



questions are now arising as to two matters, viz.
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(a) what is the

which recognizes and affirms existing treaty and.aboriginal rights, tj

definition of treaty rights?

'Are they rights which are, by their very

definition, subject to Federal legislation? and (b) If Federal legis- D

lation had the capacity

treaty rights exist now

prior to 19€2 of curtailing treaty rights, which

and are protecfed by the Charter?

The Constitution Act 1982 was enacted into law on April [j

27, 1982. It consists of several parts. Part I is the Charter of Rights

and Freedoms which provides:

Section 25 The guarantee in this Charter of certain
rights and freedoms shall not be construed
so as to abrogate or derogate from any
aboriginal, treaty or other rights or
freedoms that pertain to the aboriginal
peoples of Canada including

(a)

(b)

Part II of

Peoples of Canada
Section 35(1):

(2) :

any rights or freedoms that have been
recognized by the Royal Proclamation
of October 7, 1763; and

any rights or freedoms that may be acquired
by the aboriginal peoples of Canada by way
of land claim settlemen;.

The existing aboriginal and treaty rights
of the aboriginal peoples  of Canada are
hereby recognized and affirmed.

In this Act, "aboriginal peoples of Canada”
includes the Indian, Inuit and Metis peoples
of Canada. :

the Act deals with the rights of the Aboriginal I}

Part VII of the Act contains Section 52, which provides:

- Section 52(1):

The Constitution of Canada is the supreme law D
of Canada, and any law that is inconsistent with
the provisions of the Constitution is, to the

extent of the inconsistency, of no force and D
effect. _ ’ :

Counsel for the Accused relies upon the case-of Regina V. D

- Hare and Debassige, a decision of His Honour Judge C.T. Murphy of the

]
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District Court of Manitoulin pronounced on September 9, 1983 and
reported at (1983) 8 CCC (3d) 541 as the correct way to analyze and
determine the rights of the Accused in this case. This case has

been decided since the enactment of the Constitution Act. Theré were
involved in that case, two native Indians who were charged with breaches
of the Ontario Fishing Regulations made pursuant to the Fisheries Act
of Canada, as are the Accused in this case. The fish were taken on
lands covered by the Manitoulin Treaty of 1862. This gave the Indians
the same right to take fish over the area as the white settlers had.
At the trial, the Judge held that the rights possessed by the Indians
varied as the regulatlons changed so as to affect them as the white

settler was affected.

His Honour Judge Murphy concluded that the Treaty of 1862
gave the forefathers of the Accused, and therefore the Accused as well,
the right to take fish from the Lake by using a gill net. He then
proceeded to determine whether or not that right had been extinguished or
over-ridden by subsequent legislation. He considered the George and

Sikyea cases and found that they established three things beyond a doubt:

(1) the opening words of section 88 of the Indian Act
are not to be construed as a-declaration of the
‘paramountcy of treaties over federal legislation;
nor do they make any legislation of the Parliament
of Canada subject to the terms of any treaty;:

(2) Parliament has thé power to breach Indian treaties
if it so wills;

(3) Parliament did, in fact, breach some hunting rights
contained in Indian Treaties when it passed the
'Migratory Birds Convention Act and Regulations.

Judge Murphy distinguished both the George and Sikyea cases
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because his case did not involﬁe the application of the opening words

- |

of Sec?ion 88 of the In@ian Act or the Migratory Birds Convention Act.
He, therefore, restricted his considerations to the second proposition,
viz., Parliament has the power to breach Indian Treaties if it wishes.
He thought that the two guestions to be addressed were:

(a) by what means may such treaties be breached or

the rights granted thereunder be abrogated or
varied; and

(b) does the Fisheries Act and regulations passed
thereunder comply with any such requirements?

Judge Murphy went on to consider how Pérliament could

-

exercise its right to abrogate or breach the Treaty of 1862.

He concluded that Indian Treaties have gained considerable '[]
stature since 1897 when Lord Watson said that they were nothing more than
a personal obligation by the Governor of the old Province. He stated j]
_that while the majority judgment of Mr. Justice Martland in the George

case found that Parliament did abrogate certain treaty rights by passing -j]

. the Migratory Birds Convention Act and Regulations, he (Mr. Justice Maz;ka:]
did not deal with the observatiqhs of Chief Justice McRuer as set out in l
the dissenting Jedgment of Cartwright, J. to the effect that if it is ‘ .gj
within the power of Parliament to abrogate the treaty right (a point which
he left open and did not decide) that power could only be exercised by

legislation exp:esely and directly extinguishing the right and that 1t

certainly could not be extinguished by Order-in-Council.

Judge Murphy says at page 553:

"that while there may have been some doubts
in the minds of jurists regarding the extent
and validity of the treaty rights of Indians
as they were called upon to interpret them
in earlier years, there can be no such doubt -
in the mind of anyone called upon to deal with
these rights today in the light of ‘section 35(1)
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of the Constitution Act which., while not
creating ‘any new rights for the Indian

people, recognizes and affirms existing
rights.

In my view, those treaties should be
D treated with the same solemnity and
seriousness as are treaties entered into
with foreign sovereign states and as being
D as valid and binding as an Act of the
Parliament of Canada. (In fact, s. 88 of
the Indian Act in effect gives the treaties
D equal status with Acts of Parliament vis-a-vis
' Acts of the provincial Legislaturées.) There
is no doubt that Parliament can unilaterally
abrogate any such treaty, just as it can
D unilaterally abrogate any treaty with a foreign
country or repeal one of .its own statutes. It
is equally clear that Parliament can unilaterally
U vary any such treaty just as it can amend one of
its own statutes.
However, it is my opinion that any abrogation,
D dexrogation or variance of treaty rights must be
accomplished by legislation which is (a) clear
and unequivocal in its terms; (b) gives some
indication that Parliament was aware of the
D existence of the rights upon which it seeks to
infringe; and (c) reflects an intention on the
part of Parliament to exercise its power of
D abrogation, derogation or variation."

(b) Does the Fisheries Act and regulations made
thereunder conform with. the above requirements?

Judge Murphy was unable to find anything in the Fisheries
=t or the Regulations which indicated to him that Parliament even

motely considered in any way the treaty right bestowed upon various

vands of Native people in Canada. At the bottom of pége 554, he says,

D " There is nothing in the Act or regulations that
indicates to me either that Parliament or the
Governor in Council even recognized the existence
D of such treaty rights, much less that they intended
to unilaterally abrogate or derogate from those
rights when the Act was passed and amended or when
D : the amending regulations were promulgated.”
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"To, illustrate, let us assume the Treaty of
1862 had been signed with the Government of
the United States of America. I believe it
highly unlikely that the Government of Canada
could legally enact legislation which would
have the effect of unilaterally derogating
from or varying American fishing rights under
such a treaty without specifically and
unequivocally spelling out that intent in the

- relevant statute. When one considers the true
meaning of the word "treaty" and the
recognition that Indian treaties have been
accorded iIm; the Constitution Act, 1982, one
would be hard pressed to hold that a treaty '
entered into by the representatives of the
Government of Canada with representatives of
Canaéa's native peoples should be considered
less seriously and with less respect or

" concern than a treaty entered into w1th a
foreign government."

Y

Judge Murphy found that the Crown in his case had failed to
satisfy the onus it had to satisfy him beyond a reasonable doubt, that
the fishing rights which_he found had been given the forefathers of

the Accused in the 1862 Treaty had been abrogated or varied by the

Parliament of Canada. ' -

In the result, Judge Murphy founa that while the Accused, in
this casé, were violating the Fisheries Regulations at the time and
place referred to in the Informations, they were exempted from these
regulations by the rights and benefits conferred on them under‘the

Treaty and aquitted the Accused.

As peréuasive as the reasoning is in this case, I am unable to
reach the conclusion as His Honour'Judgé Murphy did as to the binding

effect of the case of Regina v Codper et al decided by Mr. Justice

Brown in the Supreme Court of British Columbia. °

He did not feel constrained to follow this decision inasmuch as

it was reached after considering the majority decision of the supreme

s C® C» C® C8B % s (8 Ca 3 (1 C:l, C¥ 8 a8 3 C® C@ C®
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Court of Canada in Regina v. George.

In my opinion, despite a strong inclination to be able
“to rule otherwise., I consider that I am bound by the case of Regina
v Cooper et al because: '

(a) It dealt with a treaty identical in
' form and content to the Nanaimo Treaty;

(b) It dealt with changes laid under the
Regulations made pursuant to the Fisheries
Act of Canada, as does the case at bar;

As to the effect of section 35(1) of the "Constitution Act
1982", the reasoning of Mr. Justice Gerein of the Saskatchewan Court of

Queen's Bench in the case of Regina #. Eninew reported in (1983) 7 ccc

(3d) 443 is persuasive. &Although the case dealt with the "Migratory
Birds Convention Act" and considered a treaty which in itself was subjec
to such regulations as the Government might from time to time have

passed, the grammatical analysis made of Section 35(1) therein, .o

" To begin, the word ‘'existing' must

relate to the entire phrase 'aboriginal
and treaty .rights' and not, as submitted

on behalf of the appellant, only the

"word "aboriginal®". Section 35 deals

with the rights of the aboriginal peoples

of Canada. The whole reason for the section
is to safeguard certain rights. However, --
the section -is not intended to safeguard any
and all rights whatsoever of the aboriginal
peoples but only certain rights, namely,
aboriginal rights and treaty rights. The
word 'rights', as used in the section is
qualified by the word ‘aboriginal®’ and
'treaty'. . To divorce the word ‘'aboriginal'’

.from the word 'rights' would bring about a

- nonsensical result. One would be left with
the question -~ aboriginal what? Thus, the
words ‘aboriginal and treaty rights' must be
viewed as one phrase in which the prime word
is 'rights' as qualified and described by the
words 'aboriginal and treaty'.:  This being 80, .
the word .'existing' must relate to the entire
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phrase as a whole. 1In fact, in my
mind, the word ‘'existing' has
reference to the word 'rights’',
albeit as qualified by the words
'aboriginal’' and ‘treaty’.

What then is the effect of the
word ‘existing'? 1In my opinion, it
circumscribes the rights of the
aboriginal peoples of Canada. It
limits the rights of those peoples to
those rights which were in being or
which were in actuality at the time
when the Constitution Act, 1982 came
into effect, namely, April 17, 1982.
Were it to be otherwise, Parliament
would have used the word ‘original' or
some like word or would have utilized
some other device such as a date."

EH o o

The Crown's final argument is based on the principle that Tj
the Fisheries Act and Regulations are enacted for the purpose of

conservation and management of the fishery. That the need to

conserve the fishery is obvious and to limit the right of even

Indians to fish whenever they wish without restriction makes no sense.[

Furthermore, as I understand their:argument,‘the limitations

2

and prohibitions in the Fisheries ‘Act and- Regulations come under the :

subject clause of Section 1 of the Charter of Rights and Freedoms as

"a reasonable limit prescribea by law as can be demonstrably justified

in a free and democratic society".

In coﬁclusion, and with a large measure of regret and
reluctance, I have concluded that the defence put forward by the

Accused cannot succeed.

While it-is quite evident that the freaty rights given by

the Douglas Treaties are the widest of any which have been considered
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during the arguments in this case, the inevitable conclusion
is that based on the jurisprudence thus far, which is binding
authority upon this Court, those rights may be abrogated by

Parliament.

If there is to be any change in this rule of law, in my
view, Parliament must do so. Perhaps one might hope it will do so

now that further constitutional cénmferences seem to be in the offing.

In the result, I must find each of the Accused guilty as

charged.

n

Judgment accordingly.

(Judge D.M. Greer)



(3 C®» (P C»Z C3Z (8 C® C® O O 0 2 3 C3 2 (2 C2 (2

NQ.  mmmee=-- Yot - S
Vancouver Registry

IN THE SCPREME COURT OF BRITISH COLUMBIA

BETWEEN:

DAVID PAZL, CHIZF OF THE TSARTLIP INDIAN BAND,.
LOUIS CLAXTON. CHIEF OF THE TSAWOUT INDIAN
BAND. TOM HARRY. CHIEF OF THE MALAHAT INDIAN
BAND, ED MITCHELL. CHIEF OF THE PAUQUACHIN
INDIAY BAND, DAVID BILL, CHIEF OF THE TSEYCUM
INDIAN BAND. each on their own behalf and on behalf of
each of the members of their respective bands

PLAINTIFFS
AND:
DACIFIC SALMON FOUNDATION. HER MAJESTY THE ‘
QUEEN IN RIGHT OF CANADA. THZ MINISTER OF
FISHERIES AND OCEANS
- o DEFENDANTS

AFFIDAVIT

i. 3ARBARA LANE. Anthropologist. of 4151 San Mateo Place. in the City of
“Victoria. n the ?Province of 3ritish Tolumbia, MAKE OATH AND SAY AS

TOLLOWS:

> am in Anthrooologist specializing in the ethnography and ethnohistory of
native peoole of the Northwest Coast. Now produced and shown to me and marked
=xhioit A" 75 this myv Affidavit is a photocopy of my curriculum vitae which sets

Jut 2 partiai list of my acacdemic credentials, experience and publications.



2. ! nave given expert opinion evidence in the Courts of British Columbia,
Alaska. Washington State and elsewnere on anthropological questions concerning
the nistories and cultures of some of the native peoples of Western North America.

I have stucied the culture and history of the peoole comprising the Indian Bands

which are the Plaintiffs in this action.

3. I am faniiliar with the Saanich people inhabiting the Saanich Peninsula
area of Vancouver Island. I have read the available published and unpublished
anthropological literature concerning these people, studied the archeological and

nistorical records, and I have done ethnographic field work with members of the

Tseycum, Pauquachin, Tsartlip, Tsawout and Malahat Bands. The following are my -

opinions based upon study of the anthropological evidence concerning these people.
.lv opinions are based upon the best evidence available. Within the professional
anthrooologicai community of which I am a part. [ Yelieve my opinions given here

wouid zenerally de acceptac.

i, 1t {s myv ooinion that the ancestors of fhe people known as the Tseveum,
Paugquacnin. Tsartlip, Tsawout and Malahat Bands were known as the Saanich Tribe
ind that they traditionally 2ccuoied villages at bays around Saanich Peninsula and
Zaanich Inlet in addition to viilages at bavs and inlets on Saltspring Island and other
Sulf islands. Thev were coastal Deople whose living sites were located on the
shores of the sait water. In contrast to many of the neighboring coastal Indians
vno ived along major river systems. the Saanich had a marine rather than a

siverine orientation. 3alt water risheries were the basis of Saanich economy in the

s
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mid-nineteenth centurv and had been for a verv long time. The waters at the
mouth of the :Joldstream River, Saanich Inlet. and Satellite Channel are all within
territory traditionally occunied by the Saanieh peoole.

3. The Goldstream River drains into the south end of the Saanich Inlet.
The Saanich Inlet separates the Saanich Peninsula from the main body of Vancouver
[sland. Satellite Channel separates the north tip of Saanich Peninsula from the
south end of Saltsoring Island. Salmon returning to the Goldstream River pass
through Satellite Channel and Saanich Inlet to reach Goldstream.

5. The Saanich people had villages and camps on both sides of Saanich
Inlet. on both sides of Satellite Channel. and at Goldstream itself. Goldstream is
the only salmon stream of any size in the Saahich grea. It also'provided the major
spawning area {or Chum salmon in Saanicn tarritorv. The Saanich beople depended
zpon the Iall Thum salmon runs to Goldstream for 2 major portion of their winter

food 3upDiv. Thev took these iish at various places in the salt water along their

Jiigration routa.

. 2 1351 sames Douglas. then Chief Factor of the Hudson's Bay Company
on “aneouver Island. was appointed Governor of the Colonv of Vancouver Island.
dn Zedruarw T and 11 1332, jJames Douglas concluded two Treaties with the

reoresentatives of the Saanich Tribe in the North and South Saanich Treaties. The

signartsries o

-,

the Treatjes are the ancestors of the Tseveum. Pauquachin. Tsartlip,

Tsawout ana ‘ialahat Indian 3ands. ow produced and shown to me and marked



ihe

Exhibit "B*" to this my Affidavit is a printed cooyv of the texts of the North and
South Saanicn Treaties. Now produced and shown to me and marked Exhibit "C™ to

this my Affidavit is a copy of the handwritten text of the North Saanich Treaty.

8. It is my opinion, based upon Saanich ethnohistory and ethnography, that
Chum salmon heading for Goldstream were taken by Saanich fishermen in the
Satellite Channel, Saanich Inlet and Goldstream area prior to the mid-nineteenth

century.

9. The Goldstream Chum salmon fishery was of particular importance to

the Saanich people. Goldstream was the major Chum salmon stream for all these

oeople. Salmon was, and still is, a staple food used in daily consumption and a .

feast food served at religious ceremonies which were and still are held throughout
the winter season. ZTnormous quantities of salmon were preserved to provide food
3uring the winter and early soring and also to provide food for the hundreds of
guests invited to Jarticipate in winter ceremonies. <Thum salmon were the
oJreferred fish {or smoke—drving Decause thev had better keeping qualities than

other salmon.

10. The superior Xeeping cualities of Chum salmon and the faet that
Joldstream was a major Chum spawning ground in Saanich territorv combined to
make the Goldstream Chum salmon fishery a particularly important fishery for all

the Saanich people.

Ca % CaA Ca (7
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1. {t is mv opinion that in 1852 there were no non-indians fishing in the

waters set out in paragrapn 8 herein.

12. I hase the foregoing opinion on the lack of non-Indian settlement in the
Saanich area up to 1852. The few settlers who were in the area north of Victoria
were attempting to farm. None of the settlers at that date were attempting to
fish. Contemporaneous written documents report that the Indians were the sole
fishermen in the area in 1852. For example, in 1857 a Parliamentary Select
Committee heard testimony relating to the activities of the Hudson's Bay Company

on Vancouver Island. Mr. John Miles, who had been in Vancouver Island as an

emplovee of the Hudson's Bay Company, testified that he had been on Vancouver

Island a fortnight in 1852 and six months in 1854. He further testified that he had -

“Ir. lliles was asked about the fisheries. The question and his response were as
Sallows:
“1658. With regard to the fishéries. do vou think that
“hey are lixely to be very oroductive? — They will be in
rourse” of time. when vou begin to know how to fish
“here; out at present they are not much used. excepting
~he salmon and herring round the island by the Indians
nemselves.™”
3. +vow oroduced and shown to me and marked Exhibit "D" to this my

AfZ favit 5 2n axtract IZrom the Parliamentary Select Committee dated 9 June

£357. Zxhibit "D" contains the testimony of JIr. Miles quoted above.

qhs

been about rifteen miles north of Viectoria and that he had visited Saanich Inlet?” ™ ™



~

14, Another witness before the Select Tommittee was The Honourable
C.W.W. fitzwiiliam. 3.P.. who had visited the Saanich area in 13.53. This witness
aiso testified that the Indians were the only fishermen at the time of his visit and
that no non-indians had entered into the risheries at that time. Portions 'of his

testimony are set out in questions 2259, 2260 and 2366 in paragraph 17 below.

13. It is my opinion that the Saanich Indians were fishing as commercial

fishermen in 1852 and had been doing so for a long time prior to that date.

-18. The facts upon which I base the foregoing opinion are as follows. Fish,

cured saimon in particular. was a commodity which was widely traded among Indian

o= N D=
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groups prior 10 the =arrival of non-Indians. After non-Indians arrived, this:: < -

commerce was expanded to include sale of fish to the Hudson's Bay Company, to ! »on . ouc

settlers. and others who exported the fish. Zort Langiev was established by the
Tudson’s 2av “ompany in 2327. Iitiaily salmon and other lish were purchased
Irom the indians to provision the fort and the fur dSrigades. dut soon an export trade
ieveloped anc the Comoany shioped salted fish in darrels 1o Hawaii {then the
Sandwich Islands) and eisewnere. Zarge smounts of salmon were purchased from
<he Indians ior shipment overseas. The Fort Langlev Journal of 1827 and 1828
mentions Saanich indians coming Irom their sockeve fisherv at Point Roberts to
trace at Fort Langlev.

T Tish were exported {rom Fort Yictoria in the early 1330s. Again. we

ind contemooraneous documentation in the testimony given in 1857 before the

AR LS,
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Seleet Commiittee on the Hudson's Bav Companv. The Hon. C.W.W. Fitzwilliam,
\lemoer of Pariiament and a member of the Committee, testified that he visited
vancouver Island in March and April of 1853. He noted that he had been up the

east coast of the Island as far as Nanaimo and along the coast about ten miles west

_of Vietoria. The Saanich territorv lies between Victoria and Nanaimo. He was

asked about the fisheries.

2259. What opinion have vou of that countrv with regard to
its resources. as to fisheries? — Nobodv who has not seen
the enormous quantity of fish can possibly credit the value
and extent of the fisheries. I do not know the number of
barrels, but manyv thousand barrels of salt salmon are sent
annually from Victoria to the Hudson's Bay Comoanv's depot
at the Sandwich Islands.

2260. Do the neighbouring seas abound with other fish,
Jesides salmon? — Herring are very numerous indeed. To
gzive some idea of how numerous they are, the method of
_2atching herrings is. that two Indians go in & canoe, one
saddling in the stern and the other standing in the bow. The
Indian in the bow has a lath of wood about eight or nine feet
-ong, studded with nails. He scoops down into the water and
iapales the fish on those nails. in two or three hours they
" set a fair load in the canoe.

1364a. s there 2ny speculaticn in those fisheries of which
ou spoke,-further than the mere fishing in canoes: is there
anv 2ppearance of companies being formed. for the purpose
»I eculating in these fisheries? — None whatever. The
“ucson’s Bay Company traded the rish from the Indians. and
nnuaily sent Gown a great deal of salt fish to their deoot at
*=e 3andwich Islands.

<a. ““ow 92roduced and shown to me and marked Exhibit "E" to this my
Affidavit is an axtract from the Parliamentarv Select Committee dated § March

2357, Zxhibit "I" contains the testimony of Mr. Fitzwilliam.



19. These passages quoted from Mr. “iles and Mr. Fitzwilliam are accounts
Hased on first hand ooservation Dy men who had visited the Saanich area. Mr.
Titzwiiliam had Yeen thece in 1833 about a vear subsequent to the negotiation of
she North Saanich and South Saanich treatie-s. \Ir. Miles visited Saanich in 1854.

29. 2cta Ir. Miles and Mr. Fitzwilliam reported that the Indians were the
oniy ones engaged in the fisheries and that they sold great quantities of fish to the
dudson’s 2av Comoany. We know that the Saanich Indians had been selling fish to

the Hudson’s 8ay Company at Fort Langley at least as early as 1827 or 1828.

21. it is my ooinion, based upon the evidence before the Select Committee
in 1837, that Indjan :‘isﬁerm’er'i "a\'r_ail’ed‘ themselves of new material to impro_ire their
+~aditionai “isning devices or to make their construction easier. For e;tarhbl_e*,' it is
‘ateresting o “ote in ':5e descriptfon of herring fishing that the Indians were using
~2ils 17 ‘mdzie the fish on the rake in pdlace of the sharpened wooden teeth
iqmoiantes It the spaft of the rake formerty.

2. =2 ZIoregoing coinions and supporting evidence have been focussed

Jrimariiv :3on the tSoldstream Chum fishery as of 1852. What has been said above

0
3
v
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‘mpoctance o the Saanich people af the Goldstream Chum salmon
Zisherr adoiizs s well to the time intervening tetween 1852 and the poresent. I also
~9te <nat ‘1 L377 the ioint Federal-Provinecial Indian Reserve Commission visited
-he 3aan:en TUstrict and reported on the importance of this fishery to the Saanich

Jeooie.
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3. Gilbert Malcolm Sproat. the joint commissioner representing both
governments. addressed an o{ficiai report to the Minister of the Interior, dated 29

~larch 1377. In that reoort the following passage aopears:

Saanich

There were few questions between white men and Indians
in this district. An unsurveved and at present unoccupied
pre-emption at Goldstream appears to be close to the old
{ishing station of the Saanich Indians, near the mouth of the
Goldstream, which is the oaly salmon river in the Inlet.
Such a spot could not be legally pre-emoted. The Indians
said that the pre—emptor some years attempted to prevent
them from fishing. The Commissioners marked off a
suitable area for the Indians on the bank of th€ stream, and
told them that nobody could interfere with their fishing
cights.

The above quoted report refers to the fishing station of the Saanich Indians near
the mouth of the Goldstream River as the "old fishing station™. It also supports myv

sinion that the Commission recognized the importance of the Golds'trea-mf fishery
10 the 3aanich people and assured the Indians that the rights to this fishery would
Je protected. ?‘*o':v oroduced and shown to me and marked Exhibit "F" is a copy of

<he nandwritten reoort by Giibert Soroat.
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BETWEEN:

DAVID PAUL, CHIEF OF THE TSARTLIP INDIAN BAND,
LOUIS CLAXTON, CHIEF OF THE TSAWOUT INDIAN
BAND, TOM HARRY, CHIEF OF THE MALAHAT INDIAN
BAND, ED MITCHELL, CHIEF OF THE PAUQUACHIN
INDIAN BAND, DAVID BILL, CHIEF OF THE TSEYCUM
INDIAN BAND, each on thelr own behalf and on behalf of
each of the members of their respective bands

PLAINTIFFS
AND:
PACIFIC SALMON FOUNDATION, HER MAJESTY THE
QUEEN IN RIGHT OF CANADA, THE MINISTER OF
FISHERIES AND OCEANS :
DEFENDANTS

AFFIDAVIT

I, BARBARA LANE, Anthropologist, of 4151 San Mateo Place, in the City of
Victoria. in the Drovince of British Columbia, MAKE OATH AND SAY AS
FOLLOWS: '

1. i am an Anthropologist speciaiizing in the ethnography and ethnohistory of
native people of the Northwest Coast. Now produced and shown to me and marked
Exhibit "A" to this myv Affldavit is a photccopy of my curriculum vitae which sets

out a partial list of myv academic crecdentials, experience and publications.
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2. [ have given expert opinion evidence in the Courts of British. Columbia,

Alaska, Washington State and elsewhere on anthrepological questions concerning
the histories and cultures of some of the native peoples of Western North America.
[ have studied the culture anrd history of the peaople comprising the Indian Bands

which are the Plaintiffs {n this action.

3. T am familiar with the Saanich people inhabiting the Saanich Peninsula

area of Vancouver Island. I have read the available published and unpublished
anthropological literature concerning these peorle, studied the archeoclogical and
historical records, and [ have done ethnographic fleld work with members of the
Tseycum, Pauquachin, Tsartlip, Tsawcut and Malahat Bands. The following are my
opinions based upen study of the anthropological evidence concerning these people.
My opinions are based 1-.lpon the best evidence available. Within the professional

anthropological community ¢f which I am a part, I believe my opinions given here

would generally be eccepted.

4. It is my opinjon that the ancestors of the people known as the Tseycum,
Pauquachin, Tsartlip, Tsawout and Malshat Bands were known as the Saanich Tribe
and that they traditionally occupied villages at bays arsund Saanich Peninsula and
Saanich Inlet in addition to villages at tavs and inlets on Saltspring Island and other
Gulf Islands. They were coastal people whose living sites were located on the
shores of the salt water. In contrast to many of the neighboring coastal Indians
who lived along major river systems, the Saanich had a marine rather. than a

riverine orientation. Salt water fisheries were the basis of Saanich economy in the

~d



T BY:DAVIS & CO. ;D 7T- 2291 ¢ 12:03 & . tid 6371612~ 16047437207:2 4/1°

’.

mid-nineteenth century &nd had been for a very long time. The waters at the

mouth of the Goldstream River, Saanich Inlet, and Satellite Channel are all within

territery traditionally occupied by the Saanich people.

5. The Goldstreem River drains into the south end of the Saanich Inlet.

The Saanich Inlet separates the Saanich Peninsula from the main body of Vancouver
Island. Satellite Channel separates the north tip of Saanich Peninsula from the

south end of Saltspring Island. Salmon returning to the-Goldstream River pass

through Satellite Channe! and Saanich Inlet to reach Goldstream.

5. The Seanich people hec villages and camps on both sides of Saénich
Inlet, on both sides of Satellite Channel, and at Goldstream itself. Goldstream fs
the only salmon stream of any size in the Saanich area. It also provided the major
spawning area fcr Chum salmon in Saanich territory. The Saanich people depended
vpon the fall Chum salmon runs te Goldstream for a major portion of their winter

food supply. They took these fish at various places in the salt water along their

migration route.

7. In 1851 James Douglas. thien Chief Factor of the Hudson's Bay Company

on Vancouver Island, was sopointed Gavernor of the Colony of Vancouver Island.
On February 7 end 11 1832, James Douglas concluded two Treaties with the
representatives of the Saanich Tribe in the North and South Saanich Treaties. The

signatories of the Treaties gre the ancestors of the Tseycum, Pauquachin, Tsartlip,

Tsawout and Malahat Indlan Bands. Now produced and shown to me and marked
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Exhibit "B" to this my Affidavit is a printed copy of the texts of the North and
South Seanich Treaties. Now preduced and shown to me and marked Exhibit *C" to

this my Affidavit is a copy of the handwritten text of the North Saanich Treaty.

8. It is m& opinion, based upon Saanich ethnohistory and ethnography, that

Chum salmon heading for Goldstream were taken by Saanich fishermen in the
Setellite Channel, Saanich Inlet and Goldstream area prior to the mid-nineteenth

century.

9. The Goldstream Chum salmon fishery was of particular importance to

the Saanich people. Goldstream was the major Chum salmon stream for all these

people. Salmon was, and still is, a staple food used in daily consumption end 8

feast food served at religious ceremonies which were and still are held throughaut

the winter season. Enormous quantities of salmon were preserved to provide food

during the winter and esrly spring and also to provide food for the hundreds of

guests invited to participate in winter ceremonies. Chum salmon were the

preferred fish for smoke-drying teceuse they had better keeping qualities than

other salmon.

10. The superior keeping qualities of Chum salmon and the faet that

Goldstream was a major Chum spawning ground in Saanich territory combined to

make the Goldstream Chum 3almoen fishery a particularly important fishery for all

the Saanich peaple.
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11. It is my opinion that in 1852 there were no non-Indians fishing in the
waters set out in paragreph 6 herein.
12. I base the foregoing opinion on the lack of non-Indian settlement in the

Saanich area up to 1852. The few settlers who were in the area north of Victoria

were attempting to farm. None of the settlers at that date were attempting to

fish. Contemporaneous written documents regort that the Indians were the sole

fishermen in the area in 1852. For example, in 1857 a Parliamentary Select D
Committee heard testimony relating to the activities of the Hudson's Bay Company U

on Vancouver Island. Mr. John Miles, who had been in Vancouver Island as an
emplovee of the Hudson's Bay Company, testified that he had been on Vancouver 77 ¥
Island a fortnight in 1852 and six months in 1854. He further testified that hé had
been about fifteen miles north of Viectoria and that he had visited Saanich Inlet.” -~
Mr. Miles was esked about the fisheries. The question and his response were as
follcws:

“4658. With regard to the fisheries, do you think that

they are likely to be very productive? — They will be in

course of time, when you begin to know how to fish

there; but at present they are not much used, excepting

the salmon and herring round the island bv the Indians
themselves."

13. Now precduced and shown to me and marked Exhibit “D" to this my
Affidavit is an extract from the Parliamentary Select Committee dated 9 June

1837. Exhibit "D¥ contains the testimonyv of Mr. Milex quoted above.
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14. Another witness before the Select Committee was The Honourable

C.W.W. Fitzwilliam, M.P., who had visited-the Saanich aree in 1853. This witness
also testified that the Indians were the only fishermen at the time of his visit and
that no non-Indians had entered into the fisheries at that time. Portions of his

testimony are set out in questions 2259, 2260 and 2366 in paragraph 17 below.

18, It is my opinion that the Saanich Indians were fishing 83 commercial

fishermen in 1852 and had been doing so for a long time prior to that date.

16. The facts upon which I base the foregoing opinion are as follows. Fish,

cured salmon in particular, was a commodity which was widely traded among Indian

groups prior to the arrival ‘of non-Indians. After non-Indians arrived, this

commerce was expanded to include sale of fish to the Hudson's Buy Company, to
settlers, and others who exported the fish. Fort Langley was established by the
Hudson's Bay Company in 1827. Initially salmon and other fish were purchased
from the Indians to provision the fort and the fur brigades, but soon an export trade
developed and the Company shipped salt.ed fish in barrels to Hawaii (then the
Sandwich Islands) and elsewhere. Lerge amounts of salmon were purchased from
the Indlans for shipment overseas. The Fort Langley Journal of 1827 and 1828
mentions Saanich Indians coming irom their sockeve fishery at Point Roberts to

trade at Fort Langley.

17. Fish were exported from Fort Victoria in the early 1830s. Again, we

find contempcraneous documentation in the testimony given in 1857 before the
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Select Committee on the Eudson's Bay Company. The Hon. C.W.W. Fitzwilliam,

Memoer of Parliament and a member of the Committee, testified that he visited

Vencouver Island in March and April of 18S3.

He noted that he had been up the

east coast of the Island as far as Nanaimo and along the coast about ten miles west

of Victoria. The Saanich territory lies between Victoria and Nanaimo.

asked about the fisheries.

18.

2259. What opinion have you of that country with regard to
its resources, &s to {isheries? — Nobody who has not seen
the enormous quantity of fish cen possibly credit the value
and extent ¢f the fisheries. 1 do not know the number of
barrels, but many thousand barrels of salt salmon are sent
annually from Victoria to the Hudson's Bay Company's degot
at the Sandwich Islands.

2260. Do the neighbouring seas abound with other fish,
besides salmon? — Herring are very numerous indeed. To
give some idea of how numerous they are, the method of
catching herrings is, that two Indlans go in a canoe, one
paddling in the stern and the other standing in the bow. The
Indian in the bow has a lath of wood about eight or nine feet

. long, studded with nails. He scoops down into the water and

impales the fish on those nails. In two or three hours they
get a fair load in the canoe.

2388. Is there any speculation in those fisheries of which
you spoke, further then the mere fishing in cances; is there
any gppeearance of companies being formed, for the purpose
of speculating in these fisheries? — None whatever. The
Hudson's Bay Company traded the fish from the Indians, and
annually sent down a great deal of salt fish to their depot at
the Sandwich Islands.

1{e was

Now produced and shown to me and marked Exhibit "E" to this my

Affidavit is an extract from the Parliamentary Select Committee dated 5 March

1857. Exhibit “L" containg the testimonv of Mr. Fitzwilliam.

Yy C®8 C» Cd¥ C C C O 33y O3y Cy C O 83 (3 3 C 3
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19. These passages quoted from Mr. Miles and Mr. Fitzwilliam ere accounts
based on first hand otservation by men-who had visited the Saanich area. Mr.
Titzwiiliam had been there in 1853 about 8 year subsequent to the negotiation of

the North Saanich and South Saanich treaties. Mr. Miles visited Saanich in 1854,

20. . Both Mr. Miles and Mr. Fitzwilliam reported that the Indians were the

_only ones engaged in the fisheries and that they sold great quantities of fish to the

Hudson‘s- Bay Company. We know that the Saaniéh Indlans had been sel.liﬁg fish to

the Hudson's Bay Company at Fort Langley at least as early as 1827 or 1828.

21. It is my opinion, based upon the evidence before the éclcct Committee
in 1837, that Indian fishermen availed themselves of new -material to improve fheir
traditional fishing devices or to make their construction easier. For example, it Is
interesting to note in the description of herring fishing that the Indians were using
nails to impale the fisn on the rake in place of the sharpened wooden teeth

implanted in the shaft of the rake formerly.

22. The fcregoing opinions and supporting evidence have been focussed
primarily upon the Goldstream Chum fishery as of 1352. What has been said above
regarding the importance to the Saanich people of the Goldstream Chum salmon
fishery applies as well to the time intervening between 1852 and the present. [ also
note that in 1877 the joint Federal-Provineial Indian‘ feserve Commisgion visited

the Saanich District and reported on the importance of this fishery to the Saanich

people.
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23. Gilbert Malecolm Sproét. the joint commissioner representing both

governments, addressed an official report to the Minister of the Interior, dated 29

Mareh 1877, In that report the following passage appears:

Saanich

There were few questions between white men and Indians

- in this district. An unsurveyed and at present unoccupied
pre~emption at Goldstream appears to be close to the old
fishing station of the Saanich Indians, near the mouth of the
Goldstream, which i3 the only salmon river in the Inlet.
Such a spat could not be legally pre-empted. The Indians
said that the pre-empter some years attempted to prevent
them from fishing. 7The Commissioners marked off a
suitable area for the Indians on the bank of the stream, and
told them that nobody could interfere with their fishing

rights.

The ebove quoted report refers to the fishing station of the Saanich Indians near
the mouth of the Goldstream River as the "old fishing station”. It also supports my
opinion that the Commission recognized the importance of the Goldstream fishery
to the Saanich people and assured the Indians that the rights to this {ishery would

be protected. Now produced and shown to me and marked Exhibit "F" i{s a copy of

the handwritten report by Gilbert Sproat.

SWORN BEFORE ME at the City )

of Victoria, in the Provinece )
! /
)

of British Columbis, this '% OA,QM-«A«LM

BAHR3ARA LANE

Affidavits for British
Columpoia.

JOHN MULUN
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H BOUGNE SIREET
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e, Meleolm Maclean

Davis & Company

Darsictars I Solicitors

2800 Park Place

566 surrard Street i
Vancouver. 2.C.

v6C 2Z7

Dear Ir. Jlaclean:

Re: David Paul et al v Pacific Selmon Founcatmn et al

This is further 1o my Affidavit dated 26 October 1988 in connection
with the zocve matter.

With this letter I'senc wou two memoranda. In the first, [ draw vour

n:necis

~_.,cteci to discuss in the text is included in Appendix "E” attached to my
Alfidaviz, was my intent to highlight this material by quoting it in the text.

i Sase =y coinion that {n the 1850s the Indians were acting as independent

fommareiai Jish

narciai lishermen in Dart on statements such as this. Talert vou of my

amission 1= 22se vou wish to draw the Court's attention to this point.

2

<ccnd. [ note for vour information additional testimony before the

~ - —

criizmenzary Select Committee on the Hudson's Bav Company which [ intention-

Ry

2ily 4i¢ not 1:te in my Afficavit. The nature of this testimony and the reasons for

not incincing it {n the context of a prima facie showing are discussed in the second
memcrandum.

—
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\ttached to the sacond memorandum is a copy of the compiete
testimony of \r. James Cocper given defare the Select Committee on the Hudson's
Bayv Compeany. 21 Mav 1357,

If vou should wisn to contact me further regarding these matters, [ can
Se reacned in Victoria Moncay and Tuesday next. Sut will Se out of town for the

Saiance of the week.

Yours truly,

Akl

-

Sl o

Barbeara Lane

3 encl.
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MEMORANDCUN

To: ~lalcolm Maciean

rrom: Saroara Lane

Re: ncdian Commerce in Fish in the 1330s
Date: 29 October 1288

recently supplied vou with an Afficdavit dated 26 October 1988 in
wiich { set out certain opinions regarding Saanich Indian fisheries prior to and up to
1332,

in paragraph 13 of my Affidavit I stated my opinion that "the Saanich
indians were fishing as commercial fishermen in 1852 and had been doing so for a
iong time prior to that date.” .

In paragraphs 16 and 17 I noted some of the kinds of evidence on which I
relied for that opinion.

in paragraph 17 of my Affidavit I quoted from the testimony of Mr.
C.w.W. Titzwiiliam beiore the Parliamentary Select Committee on the Hudson's
3av Company in 1857. The quoted material in the text of my Affidavit ends with
<uestion and enswer 2366. I meant to inciude question and answer 2367 which
Toliow immediately after. but I failed to do so. v opinion stated in paragraph 15
=eiles in sart cn statements such as that in 2367. it is a clear and succinet
statement thet the Indians were not {ishing as emplovees of the Company, but
acted as indecendent commerciai fishermen trading their fish to the Company.

The material which I neglected to quote in the body of my Affidavit is
‘nciuded in Apoendix "E" to my Affidavit at 2367 on page 119. It reads as follows:

A

2267. Do the Comoeany claim a monopoly of that fishery;
io thev claim the exclusive rignt of fishery upon the coasts

+{ “ancouver Island? — They do not fish themselves; the
ndians are the fishermen, and they trade their fish to the
Zompany.

femphasis added, not in original)

—
s .
ISR SRPREEN- 2o

1
{
H

% 3 2 3 3 (¥



MEMORANDUAM

To: ~laleolm Maclean

From: Barpara Lane

Re: Testimony of James Cooper before Select Committee on {{BC
Date: 28 October 1983 ) .

I recently supplied vou with an Affidavit dated 26 October 1988 in
which I set out certain opinions.cegarding Saanich Indian fisheries prior to and.up to
1852.

In paregraph 12 of my aifidavit, I quoted from testimony given in 1857
by Mr. John Miles beiore a Parliamentary Select Committee on the Hudson's Bay
Company. Mr. Miles' testimony was attached to my Affidavit as Appendix "D".

" In paragraphs 14 and 17 I commented on testimony given by Mr. C.W.W.
Fitzwilliam, M.P. before the same Select Committee. Mr. Fitzwilliams' testimony
was attached to my Affidavit as Appendix "E".

I note for your information that there was another witness whose testi-
mony beiore the Select Comimittee included statements concerning Zisheries in the
waters ground Vancouver Island. This witness was Mr. James Cooper. an independ-
ant settler on Vancouver Island from 1851 to 1857. Idid not refer to or e¢ite Mr.
Cooper’s testimony in my Affidavit.

My primary reason for not doing so is that some of Mr. Cooper's state-
ments need to be understood within the larger context of his commercial relations
with the Hudson's Bay Compeny. This context is alluded to, but is not adequately
set out in the course of his testimony before the Select Committee. To provide
adequarte background and context for some of his statements would have entailed
more extended discussion than appeared appropriate for & prima facie showing of
the bases for my opinions. As well, extended discussion would have required the
attachment of a large number of supporting documents.

Attached to this memorandum is a copy of the entire text of Mr.
Cooper's testimony given 21 May 18357 beiforz the Select Committee.

In the remainder of this memorandum I provide an abbreviated glimpse
of relevant background data. Immediately following are extracts of the Cooper

testimony which deal with {isheries matters. in closing, [ briefly comment briefly

.



an two statements which couid be misleading i read without understanding of the

~eievant background materials.
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3riei Background Notes on Captain James Cooper

Captain James Cooper entered the service of the Hudson's Bay
Company in 1844, as master of a vesse! sailing between London and Fart
ancouver. In 1949 he was master of the bark Columbia. He left the service of
the Company and came out to Vancouver Island in 1851 as an independent settler.
intending to trade with the Indians. Tor fhis trade. he brought out from England. in
sections. a small iron vessel which was put together in Victoria. In 1832 the vessel
went to the Fraser River where Cooper purchased cranberries and potatoes from
the natives and _shibped them to San Francisco. The export of cranberries was a
lucrative trade, initiated by Cooper. and one which wes immediately taken over by
the Company. Cooper was prevented from trading with natives on the mainland.
He was particularly bitter about the Company's claim of exclusive trading rights on
the mainland. Cooper had interpreted those rights to apply only to the fur trade,
and not to other commodities such as fish, potatoes, and cranberries.

Cooper had to confine his operations to trade with the Indians on
Vancouver Island. where the Company heid no exclusive rights of trade. He
axperienced severe financial reverses because of actions taken by the Company to
thwert his commercial ventures. The Company managed to hold the monopoly of
~~a2de both to San Francisco end Honolulu. markets in which Coooer had hoped to
launch a successiul business career. He was resident on Vancouver Island between
1351 and 1857 and is the "ooposition” trading at Cowichan. noted in Mr.
Titzwiiliam’s response to cuestion 2268. Cooper's testimon‘j beiore the inquiry into
the Hudson’s Eav Company needs to De read against this background.

3r. Cooper's statements. given 21 May 1857, refer to {ishery matters in
<he context of the Reciprocity Treaty between Great Britain and the United
States, offer comparisons of the relative value of the fisheries of Vancouver Island
and rraser River. and inciude observations regarding the nature and value of the
Jisheries markets in San Francisco and Honolulu. These are all matters bevond the
scope of the opinions in my Affidavit. However, his comments about the

£3

animportance of f{isheries at Vancouver Island and the smallness of the market for
*ish in Honolulu need to be assessed in light of his business failures and his

frustration at being excluded from the Fraser River business by the Company.

()



fisheries.

The following nre extracts from Mr. Cooper's testimonv which bear on - il

[+

385. [s there anv export at all of produce to the
Californian market now from Vancouver's Island"

3587. You would chiefly send bread-stuffs and timber? —
And coal and salt fish.

3589. The rivers and waters of Vancouver's Island abound in
fish. [ believe? — They do; there are no rivers in
Vancouver's Island of anyv extent; but the Straits of Juan de
Fuca and all the salt water inlets around Vancouver's Island
abound in fish.

VSR |
¥

1

3590. Are there not salmon in the rivers? — Salmon are
csught in salt-water, and also in Fraser's River on the
mainland, in respect of which the Hudson's Bay Company
have the exclusive right of trade., very much to the
drawboack of the settlers and colonists there.

3738. Was there any impediment thrown in vour way as a
eolonist in that countrv? — Yes.

373¢. What? — I was exclusively coniined to my operations
an “zncouver's Island. 1 had the impression when I went
there {irst, that the mainland also was open for trade for
setzlers: but [ found afterwards that it was not.

re

3749. What sort of trade? — In {ishing, for instance. There
are large f{isheries .in Zraser’s River, which exclusively
Seicng to the Hudson's Bay Company.

L]

2741. And vou are pronibited from using that fisherv? —
Tes.

1733. Chairman.] Do the Indians get their subsistence
2niefly bv fishing? — Yes: all the Indians on Vancouver's
>sland subsist by {ish as the staple article.

e

Cw 3 (8 C C (¥



2337. The duty which vou :mentioned is upon f{ishing, is it
no:? — No. there is no duty whatever, either import or
2xdort. in Vancouver’s Island. excepting the 10d. a load

3880. You mentioned something about the fishing; will you
zive 2 little information on that subjeet? — There is no
Jishing of importance on Vvancouver's Island. only on the
~ivars and coasts of the mainland; and there the Hudson's
Zay isecmpany hoid the exclusive right of trade. according to
<hair charter. of the mainlanc.

10

3381. In the Fuca Strait what is the case? — It is all open
there.
3882, Any one may Iish there? ~— Yes; but in Fraser's

“iver. which is the oniy inlet to the mainland, in faet, no
ane is allowed to fish.

5883. Is that where the salmon is principally taken? — It

e

3384. Chairman] That is a very valuable fishery, is it not?

e 2
I+ 2
< lS.

3383. 3885. r. Grogan] I anv quantity of fish were
tzXen dv anv of the emigrants that chose to devote their
ztzention to it. what wouid become of it; have they the
Teans of exporting and seiling it? — Not very ample means.
1333, Have they means at all? — No; thev would have
crcoaply to charter an American vessel to take it to some
sort south, or to the Sandwich Islands.

1387, Have the Company anv vessels that trade in fish
snemseilves? — Tes: Dut thev .very oiten refuse to take
Ireizhe.

5. Llr. Grogani 7¥ith respect to the fish, we understand
1 iz extrerely abundant there? — Yes.

NIl



3898. Has anv attemdt ever been made Dy the colonists to
ooen a market there for {ish? — Yes.

2899, Has it succeeded? — VYes,

3900. And there= is no impediment whatever in the way of
sending anv quantity of fish which the colonists could sell
into this market if thev pleased? — No, I believe not.

3901. You have never known any instances of that kind? —
No.

3966. Mr. J.H. Gurnev] With reference to the fisheries in
the Straits, what are the fish caught there? — Salmon.

3967. The same as in the Ffiver Fraser? — Yes.

Mr. Cooper's characterization of the relative value of the fisheries of
Fraser River and Vancouver Island is correct in that the Fraser River fisheries
were more extensive and contributed the bulk of the cured fish used in the export
irade. However. Saanich Indians and other Indians on .:e Island had been trading
%ish and fish products (such es oil) to Fort Victoria since before the Treaty of
i3 June 1346 when Britain asserted sovereignty over Vancouver Island.

While the Traser River fisheries were more important in terms of
amount of fisn curéd and shipped. Cooper’s statement (see 3880 above) that "There
!5 no fishing of importance on Vancouver's Island, only on the rivers and coasts of
<ke mainland: ... " could be misleading, if taken literally. I think his statement
needs to be read :n the context of his frustration at being excluded from trading
with the Indians at Fraser River. See nis statement (at 3783) that "all the Indians
sn Vancouver's Island subsist by fish as the staple article." Compare also his
statement (3see 3589 above) that "2ll the salt water inlets around Vancouver Island
2pound ia fish™.

Simiiarly, his statement (at 2897) that "t is only a small market at the
3andwich Islancds" needs to be understood in the context of efforts by Victoria
merchants to have the Colony of Vancouver Island included in the Reciprocity
Treaty. Zxporis to the San rrancisco market and to markets in Washington and

dregon Territories were severely handicapped because of the duties imposed at

Js
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these American ports. While it is true that the San Francisco market was larger
than the Hawaiian market, ! think Cooper mav have downplayed the potential of
the Hawaiian market because nhis shio was reallv suited onlv to the coastwise trade.
-Just as he wanted to be able 12 participate in the trade with Indians at the Fraser

River. he wanted to be able to compete in the San Francisco trade.
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l "‘l mm:ent of Justice

400 - §55 West Hastings St.
Vancouver, BC,
V6B 5G3

Memorandmn To:

Froms:

Subject:

Ministere de la Justice
Canada

DIRECT LINE:(604) 666-7169
FAX:(604) 6668956

PROTECTED/SOLICITOR-CLIENT PRIVILEGE

DATE: June 16, 1995
Distribution

Hugh A. MacAulay, Counsel
DOJ - Vancouver Regional Office

Reasons for Judgment: R. v. Hunt
Our File: 134247 & 118354 & 131553

I am enclosing, for your information, a copy of the Reasons for Judgment of the
Honourable Judge Saunderson in R. v. Hunt which were released today. This important
case involved the interpretation of right to “carxy on fisheries as formerly" under the
Douglas Treaty and, in particular, whether that right encompasses the right to fish
commercially. Saunderson, P.C.1., in refreshingly brief reasons, made the following

significant rulings:

1)  That there is no commercial component to the Douglas Treaty permitting Douglas
Treaty signatories to sell fish;

2)  That the Douglas Tfeaty does not include the right to engage in a deep water
interception fishery for chum salmon stocks;

3)  That had a Douglas Treaty right to fish commercially been found to exist, that
right was extinguished; and

. 4)  That if it had been proven that Douglas Treaty rights had been infringed, any such

infringement would

be justified pursuant to the Supreme Court of Canada’s

decision in R. v. Sparrow.

Judge Saunderson concluded that the Douglas Treaty right to "carry on fisheries as

formerly™ was analogous to the aboriginal right to fish as interpreted by the majority of
the British Columbia Court of Appeal in R. v. Van der Peet.

y

ugh MacAulay
sel
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Campbell River Registry

THE PROVINCIAL COURT OF BRITISH COLUMBIA

REASONS FOR JUDGMENT
OF THE HONMOURABLE

DAVID J. HUNY, ROY CRANNER, JUDGE SAUNDEREON

MABLE KXNAGX, AND PETER XNOX

4
[
e’ Tl St Wt e

Cournisel for the Crown Thomas J. Bishop and

. Norman W.P. Fraser
Counsal for the Dafandant . Kim C. Roberts
Place of Trial . ' o campball River
Dates of Trial Novenber 14 to 17,21 to 21, 28 to 30, 1994

1. The defendants are charged with wvarious . offences under the
B ¥Fisheries Act in Octoker of 1992. In defence they asswrt that the
impugned activities are permitted by treaties made betwaan the
D Quakeolth and Queackar tribes of Fort Rupert and Chief Factor James
Dauglas on beh&‘l.é af the Hudson's Bay Company, and that they are
D entitled to the hpne.tit of thosa treaties.
0 . |
. The issue for the court is whether the treaties can ba construed as
D pernitting Indian involvement in today's commercial chum salmon

rishery, with the priority afforded hy 8.35(1) of the Constitution
alut' lae2.
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YACTS

Many facts have been agreed by counsel, and certain others are net

sariocusly diaputo.d. Priefly, an Qctober 22, 1992 the Kwaklutl Band

council, through its manager, tha dafendant David Hunt, ingtructed .

the defendant Roy.Cranmer to ‘engige ih a faod fishery for societal

and ceremonial purposes for the suppart of thc Native Brotherhood

convantion to be.held the tol}wing month in Fort Rupert. v A faw'

days later Mr. Cranmer, operating a commercial seine vessel near
the western entranca to Johnstone §trait, on the north .coast af
Vancouver Island, caught 1,636 chum salmon weighing 16,040 pounds,
by means of a purse seine. He delivared the catch to a fish-packing
vessel cperatad ky the defendants Peter and Mable Knox who, it
appaears, eith& accepted tha fish for sala an mnsignmaﬁt, or acted
ag brokers to affect a sale of the fish to purchasers. The Kwakiutl
Band reallzed_ juat over $11, doo from t:h'e sala, a transaction which
was unquestionably commercial in nature. Those sale proceeds %;ere
usad by the Band to cover axpahses -for air fares, hotel
acconmodatioﬁ, arid meals incurred by delegates attandi_.ng the Native
Brotherhood convantion in Fort ‘Rupart in November 1992. '

At the times and places the fish were caught, there was a closura
in effect for the commercial salwen fishery.

The treaties provide for the surrendar to the Hudson's Bay Company

of a two mils wide strip of land along the coast of northern

L ]
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Vancouver Island batwaen what are now Port McNeill and Pert Haxdy.
The land includaes Fort Rupert, which taday is an Indian raservation

adjacent to the easterly limit of Port Hardy. For the benafit of
the Indians, the treaties contain tha following words:

It 1s understccd that we are. at llbal‘tjf- .-. to carry
qur figheries as tom:arly. i en

D

0

i

i

i

g From the report of Jchn Dewhirst I am satisfied that the Kwakintl

D Band iz the prasent name given to ths Kwakwala speaking tribes of
Fext Rupart, among ther the Quakeolth and Quaacicar, slgnatoxries to

U the treaties in question. My, Dewhirst is an anthropolcg’i;t callad
e; a defence witness. I am algo satisfied, throeugh admimsions of

D the Crown, Mr. Dewhirst's report, and the :he's_timony of Emlly Baker,
that Mesers, Cranmer, Hunt, and ZXnox are dascendants of Xnown

D signatories of tha treatles, and therefore that the defendants and

the Kwakiutl Band enjoy the bkenefits of the treaties.

CHARGES

7 The Crown has laid the faollowing four charges undar tha Fisheries

Act against the defendants: |

salmon in a clegsed area.

Count 2 Massrs. Crammer and Hunt unlawfully sold chum salmon
: which were not legally caught.

count 3 Mahle and Peter Knax unhlawvfully purchased {llegally

D Count 1 Roy Cranmer, aketted by Davig mm'c, fishad for chum
D canght chumr salnen.

lUN 16 “85 11:22 604 748 2733 PAGE. OOSA
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Count 4

The Xnoxss and Mr. Cranngr w

ere in oxsessgi
illagally caught chum salmon. P on ot

FRELIMINARY CONBIDERAITONS

Section 35(1) of the Conatitution Aet, 1982 provides:

The existing aboriginal and treaty rights of the
aboriginal pecoplas of Canada ara herehy racognized
and arffirmed. :

The Suypraeme Court of Canada in R. ¥. Sparrow (1950), 56 C.C.C. (34)

263 at p. 289 stated, "We wish to emphagise the importance of
context and a case-by-case approach to g. 35 () .» '

In.British Columbia, aboriginal irights are basad on activities and
practicas in which natives were involved before the assertion of
sovereigrx(:y by ﬁqlnnd. In R. V. Dick (unreported, February 16,
1993, B.C.P.C. Canmpbell River Registry no. 16,5%55) this ceurt found
that Captain Vancauver asse:n_:'ta.d British sovereignty over the area
around Vancouver Island in "1792, and that in any savant such
sovuéignty occurrad not later than 1846, when tha Treaty of Oregon
vas implementad batween Canada and the United States of America,

The Douglas Treaties in questiocn were therefore gigned no mora than

 fifty-nine years after sovereignty.

i1a.

I raise the matter of aboriginal rights bacause the Crown asserts

that Y...Douglas fre.aty rights to carry on fisheries as formarly

are intimately connected to aboriginal practices" (written

srgunent, p. S). In support, the Crown relies on the passage from

JUN 16 "95 11:22
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Malvin €.C.J, (as he then was) in . v. Brown (unreported, November
15, 1989, County Court of Vancouvar Island, Nanaimo Regiztry nc.
0469) st p. 10: '

Xt ig difficult to sea how the right to *carry on our

Tisheries as formerly” in the treaty under copsideraticn

can be anything more than a recognition of the aboriginal
right to fish that existed at the time tha Nanaimo -Band
entered into the treaty with Governor Douglas in 1854.

Whatever rights they had at that time were as 3 to them,
by virtue of that treaty. - surec

i
0
i
i
i
U - of e different treaty, Wilson J., dizagreaing with tha result but
D ' apparcngly raflecting the viewv of the entire court, wrote, "“The
tvhale emphasis of Treaty 8 was on the preservation of the Indiafz.'s
D traditional way of lifa": R. v. Horseman, {1990)] 4 W.W.R. 97 at p.
111 (s.c.'c.). That treaty contained the words, " ... the said
D Indians ... shall have the right to p\..lrsuel their usuyal vacations of
hunti{'zg, trapping and fighing ...." The analogy to the case at bax
D is evident.

lﬂ The Defendants argue that treaty righte are not riecessarily
identical to aboriginal rights. I ag'rea; & treaty is nottiing more;_
or lesg than a contract. If its meaning is clear, one naed not leok
beyond ite é.m; otherwise, one must try to discern the intention

of the contracting parties.

In this case, the meaning of “carry on cur fisharies as formerly”

is not explained in the treaties, and there is no evidence of what

2.
the signatories understood it to mean. Absent such information, it

D» seeps ‘reasonable to conclude that the parties must have

"
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contemplated the continuation of the Indians' traditicnal fishing
practices. Since the treatias wvere concluded within such a ghort
time of the acsertion of British soversignty, one can anly lack te
aboriginal practices for an understanding of what activities the
treaties protect. In thic regard I can find no conflict with the
principles of treaty 1ntarpretj..ation complled by the ax;“:‘;tish

Calumbia Caurt af Appeal in Saanichton Marina Ltd. V. Claxton
(1989), 57 D.L.R. (4th) 161,

It chould be added that the principles of interpretation in tha
Sxanichtan decisicon refer ta the manner in which the ¢treaty is
construad. They do not affect the court's fact-finding function

relating to whether a given practice existed before the treaty was
madea. ‘

The last of -the preliminary considerations {s to datermine what
types of activity are protected by the treatlas. It would appear

that not all activities or practices gqualify for pratectien;

rather, only those which ara found te have been integral to native

sociaety, not incidental to it. In the words of Macfarlane J.A. in

R. V. Van dax Faat (1993)' 80 B.C.L.R. (Zd) 76 at P« 89'

<.+ the guestion of what is an aboriginal right
daserving protection is not determinad pecessarily
by referance to the activities in which aboriginal
persons were engaged in 1846. The test 1y whether .
suech activities or practices were integral to the
distinctive culture of the aborigines, an engquiry
vhich may or may not need to pre-~date contact with
the Eurcpeans.

—Boosrone
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0
D:L!-':. Having provided tha legal frageverk in vﬁich tha principal factual
issue will ba considgred, I shall turn to the evidance. The burden
is on the defendants to pi'ova, an’ & ﬁalanct of probabilities, that
the Douqla;s Treatias 'dcﬁtmplat‘ed tha commercial sale o¢f chum
salmon: R. ¥. sparrov (above). That entails an examination of the
evidence as it relates to the aboriginal practicez of the

dafandants' ancestors. My. Dewhirst provided the avidance for the
defence on this subject. '

The section of Mr. Dewhirat's report which desalsx with trade begine
with the assartion, “Trade -- buying and selling — was an

intringic pai:t of Kwakiut_i gustanance." He then gives spacific

baing:

In 1841, the Komkiutis traded furs to the Hudsan's Bay

Company in return -for blankets, tohacce, files, guns,
ampunition, and other itams.

Tn 1792, tha Nimpkish traded furs and mountain goat waol
ta tha Nootka for Spanigh muskets.

In 1838, the Coquilt began to compete with iuropaans by
trading guns and ammunition te Indians at Fort Langley.

In 1792, the Guetala supplied Galiano's ghips with salmon
fron the mouth of the Quatse River (in the tarritory
later ceded hy the Douglas Treatims).

In 1834, the Caughquil bartered eulachons for herring
gpawn from the Indians at Bella Bella.

In 1834, the Lekwiltok bartered cCoast Salish slaves
to the Quakeolth and Nawity.

L.
D examples of RKwakiutl trade occurring before the treatias came. into

Bm 16 95 11:24 604 748 2733 PAGE.008
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in 1849, the Rogkimo traded salmon and halibut te the
Hudson's Bay Campany at Fart Rupert.

In 1850, the Fort Rupert Indians (presumably the
Quakeolth and Queackar) supplied deer, wildfowl, and
£igh to the Hudson's Bay Company. )

In 1850, the same Indieans traded blankets for caneas
and carved artifacts from other tribes.

The 4influence of the Europaana is obvicus in most of

cannot, by definition, be aboriginal practices. Even giving the
defendants the benafit of -the doubt by interprating R. ¥. Brown as
permitting recognition of fishing practices between the time of
assertion of sgoveraignty and the date of the treaties, one must
enquire whather the practicer ware “integral to the distinct.ive
culture of the aborigin_es. ¥ That involves a determinatiaon ef how
salmon ~- particularly chum salmon -- were used by the Kwakiutl,

and whather that use was integral to their distinctive culture.

pr. Shella Robinso}x is an anthreopclagist specializing in thé
athnaéraphy and ethnohistory of northwest coagt Indians. Sshe
taestified a'r; behalf of the Crown. as to the natura of the éexchange
of goods by the Kwakiutl: In - har opinion, the principal context in
which aexchange occurrad wis the potlatch, whic:? was %Ygovarnad by .
and. subordinate to kinship naeeds and ;:ela.tions,"' The potlatch
£u1£i11¢ci the functien of “_political and =ocial glue," by
‘camenting and validating relations, and rqinfoi-cing rights to usa

@ach other's resources.' With the exception of eulachon ail,

those
transactions; they either participated in the trade thomselves, or

their products were the gubject of trade. In either casae these
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foodstuffs were not considered valuables for the purpose of
aexchanga. Salan wag certainly a food .staplc for the Kwakiutl: chunm
more s¢ than the other salmon speaies, for once it was cured, being
lean it prasarved well. It was consumed for sybgistance, and gserved

at feasts and other social and ceremonial uccasions, such as the
potlateh. ‘

While no doubt there were instances of barter of sslmon, as pointed
out by Mr. i)ewhirst, these appear to have Leen ;.ncidental to thea
central Rwakiutl use of salmon. Dr. Rohinsdn has provided the
canvas from which a more complete pictura emargas. All the evidance

peérsuades ma that trade in salmon cannot ba said to have baen

There iz algo the undizputed fact that no cash ecenomy existed in
the area before 1851. Thers can be no analogy between a prehistaric
bartar 'systam to satisfy food, social, and ceremonial needs and a
nodern comunercial fishery catering to provincial, national, and ‘

foraign markets.

In sun, I am parsuaded by Crown and defance evidence that there is

no conmercial component to the Douglas Treaties.

i
0
0
0
0
.
0
0
" integmal to mmciues cutture.
xﬂ.
i
0
4
0
i
0
0
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21, CcCan fcarry on our fisheries as formerly" he interpretad to include

T

22.

23,

" JUN 1€ ‘85 11:25

the right to engage in a deep water interception fishery invelving
passing chun salmonh stocka? The answear te¢ the quéstion must take
intc account that the a’horigln'al rignt to fish 4La "site and

activity epacific®: R. v. Van _da'r Peat (above) at p. 99.

In the section aof his repcrt_ent;i.tled "The Annual Round", Mr,
Devhirgt writes, “In September and October, tribes mcved to their
fishing stations at the mouths of rzivers to catch c.hum or dag
salmon. Traditionally, most chum salmen ware taken in nets, wairs
and tfaps." Duncan stacey was qualified by the Crown és an axpert
in several ar.eas, one of which is akoriginal fighing practices on
the coast of British Columbia. His evidence was that chum salmon
were taken by Indians in rivers and their estuaries, not in the
opan ocean. Crown and defence wvithasses are thus 3in substantial

agreement that the aboriginal chum salmon f£ishery was riverine.

No evidence was put hkefove ti:e court suggesting the Kwakiutl were
involved in a deep water fishery as dascribed above. .That is, the
defandants have not provad that their ancestors participated in the
spacific type of activity in which ¥r. Cranmer was involved and
‘;’hich has resulted in the charges against him -- a deep water net
fishory for chum salmon. That activity is not, therefore, protected
by the treaties. '

@012/014
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4. The finding of an ahorigiual riverine, as opposed to deep water,
U fishery for chum salmon detarminag the ‘sita specific' aspect of
proof required for the existence of an aboriginal :::Lght. In other
D wvords, Mr. Crammer's involvement in a deep water ocean fighery is
inconsistent with his ahothinal right only te¢ participate in a'
D riverine fishary, eince the latter by dafinition excludes the
n former. Were the outcome of this issue ts turn on vwhethar the
Quakeolth and Queackar carxied on their abongmal fisheries in the
general area in which Mr. Cranmer was fishing in Octobar 1992, the
regult would be differant. The chum salnon in this case vere. taken
at locations known as Glory Heole, Parson Bay, Cracroft Peint, and
Freshwater Bay at or near the westarn entrance to Johnztona Strait.
While the supporting evidance is not without vaaknesses, I accept
Mr. Dewhirst's opinian that the four fishing locatiens are within
't.he defendants' ancestral territory, which included their villages

af orig:ln, fall fishing stations, and winter villages.

Had a treaty right to fish commercially been found to exist, the
Crown would then hear the bkurden of proving that Parliament has
axtingquighed that right. This court decidad that issue in favour of
the Crown in R. w. Dick, in ths context of a claim for an
aboriqinal, nat a treaty, right. The law relating to extinguishment
Was summarized in that case, and counsel have provided extensive
written argument on the point in the case at bar. I d¢ not intand
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to rapeat the aryuments here, as there has heen no change in the
law since R. v. dick which would dictata a differant daciéion in
relation to these treaties. Defance caunsel invite :ae' to adopt the
digsenting épiniqns of Hutcheon and Lambert JT.A. im R. v. Van der
Test. I respectfully decline to do so,

INFRINGEMEYT aND IUSTTEICATION

26. If I had found.in favour of tha defendants on tha issue of
extinguishnent, and had the defandant&.'proved that the commercial
fighing closuré intringed thair treaty righta (about uh:.ch I make
no £inding), I am satisfied that any such infringament is juatiried
on the criteria in R. v. Spaxrow.

¥EanicT

27. '.I.‘ﬁq defance having failéd to astablish that the Douglas Treaties
give them a constitutional right to fish commercially for chtm
salmon in priority to other commercial fichermen, I Zfind them
guilty of the cpa.;rges. Counsal may wieh to addl:ess the court on

whether cenvictiens should be e:'atered. on all counts.

Campbell River, B.C.
June 16, 199§
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REGINA ) REASONS FOR JUDGMENT

)

V. ) OF THE HONODRABLE
B )

DAVID J. HUNT, ROY CRANMER, B JUDGE SAUNDERSON

HABLE KNOX, AND PETER KNOX )

Counsel for the Crown Thomas J. Bishop and

Norman W.P. Fraser
- Counsal for the-Defandant " "Kim C. Roberts

Place or.Trial Canpbaell River

Dates of Trial November 14 to 17, 21 to 23, 28 to 30, 1994

The defendants are charged with various offences under the
Fisheries Act in October of 1992. In defence they assert that the
impugned activities are permitted by treaties made betwaan the
Quaksolth and Queackar tribes of fért Rupert and Chief Factor Jamas
Douglas on behalf of the Hudson';”ﬁay Company, and that they are

entitled to the benefit of those treaties.

The issue for the court is whether the treaties can be construed as
permitting Indian involvement in today's commercial chum salnon
fishery, with the priority afforded by s.35(1) of the Constitution

Act, 18982:
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FACTS

Many facts have been agreed hy counsel, and certain others are not
seriously disputed. Briefly, on October 22, 1992 the Kwaklutl Band
councll, through its manager, the defendant David Hunt, instructed
the dafendant Roy.Cranmer to ‘engage in a food fishexy for societal
and ceremcnial purposss for the support of the Native Brotherhood
convantion to be held the following month in Fort Rupert.' A few
days later Mr. Cranmer, operating a commercial seina vessel near

the western aentrance to Johnstone Strait, on the north coast of

. Vancouver Island; €aught 1,636 chunm salmoHAwéighiﬁg 16,0;0 pounds,
by means of a purse seine. He delivered the catch to a fish-packing
vessel operated by the dafendants Peter and Mable Knox who, it
appeaears, either accepted the fish for sale on consignment, or acted
as brokers to effect a sale of the fish to purchasers. Tha Kwakiutl
Band realized just over $11,000 from the sale, a transaction which
was unquestionably commaercial in nature. Those sale proceeds were
used by the Band to cover expenses for air fares, hotel
accommodation, and meals incurred by delegates attending the Native

Brotherhood convention in Fert Rupert in November 1992.

At the times and places the fish were caught, there was a closure

in effect for the commercial salmon fishery.

The treaties provide for the surrender to the Hudson's Bay Company

0f a two mile wide strip of larnd along the coast of rorthern
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Vancouver Island between what are now Port McNeill and Port Hardy.

The land includes Fort Rupert, which today is an Indian reservation

adjacent to the easterly limit of Port Hardy. For the benefit of

the Indians, the treaties contain the following words:

It is understocd.that we are at liberty ... to carry on
our fisheries as formerly.

-
..
-

6 From the report of John Dewhirst I am satisfied that the Kwakiutl

Band is the presant name given to the XKwakwala speaking tribes of

Fort Rupert, arnong them t

the treaties in question. Mr. Dewhirst is an anthropologist callad

as a defence witness. I am also satisfiad, through admissions of

the Crown, Mr. Dewhirst's report, and the testimony of Enily Baker,

that Massrs. Cranmer, Hunt, and Xnox are descendants of Xxnown

signatories of the treaties, and therefore that the defendants and

tha Kwakiutl Band enjoy the benefits of the treaties.

CHARGES

The Crown has laid the follcwing four charges under the Fishsries

Act against the defendants:

Count 1 Roy Cranmer, abetted by David Hunt,

fishad for chun
salmon in a closed area.

Count 2 Massrs. Cranner and Hunt unlawfully sold chum saimon
which were not legally caught.

Count 3 Mable and Peter Knox unlawfully purchased illegally

caugh®t chum salmen.
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ng them the Quakeolth and Queackar, signatoriss to. - -
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Count 4 The Knoxes and Mr, .Cranmer were
illegqlly caught chum salmon.

RELIMINARY CO D ONS

Section 35{1) of the Constitution Act, 1982 provides:

The existing aboriginal and treaty rights of the

aboriginal peoples of Canada are hereby recognized
and arffirmed.

The Supreme Court of Canada in R. v. Sparrow (1990), 56 C.C.C. (3d)

263 at p. 289 stated, "We wish to emphasise the importance of

context and a case~by-casa approach-to-s.-35(1)M— - -~ T

"In British Columbia, aboriginal rights are based on activities and
practices in which natives were involved before the assertion of
sovereignty by England. In R. V. Dick (unreported, February 16,
1993, B.C.P.C. Campbell River Registry no. 16,555) this court found
that Captain Vancouver assertéd British sovereignty over the area
around Vancouver Island in 1792, and that in any event such
sovereignty occurred not later than 1846, when the Treaty of Oregen
was implemented between Canada and the United States of America.
The Douglas Treaties in question Qére therefore signed no more than

fifty-nine years after sovereignty.

I railse the matter of aboriginal rights because the Crown asserts

that "...Douglas Treaty rights to carry on fisheries as formerly
are intimately connected to aboriginal practices" (written
a¥fgurment, p. 5). In support, the Crown relies on the passage IZrom

in possession of
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Melvin C.C.J. (as he then was) in R. v. Brown (unreported, November
15, 1989, County Court of Vancouver Island, Nanaimo Registry no.
0469) at p. 10:
It is difficult to see how the right to “carry on our
fisheries as formerly*" in the treaty under consideration
can be anything more than a recognition of the aboriginal
right to fish that existed at the time the Nanaimo Band
entered into the treaty with Governor Douglas in 1854.
Whatevar rights they had at that time were assured to then,
by virtue of that treaty.
Of a different treaty, Wilson J., disagreeing with the result but
apparently raflecting the view of the entires court, wrote, "The
vhole emphasis of Treaty 8 was on the preservation of tha.Indian‘s
traditional wvay of life": R. v. Horseman, [1990] 4 W.W.R. 97 at p.
111 (S.C.C.). .That treaty contained the words, “ ... the said

Indians ... shall have the right to pursue their usual vocations of

hunting, trapping and fishing ...." The analogy to the case at bar

is evident.

The Defendants argue that treaty rights ‘are not necessarily
identical to aboriginal rights. I agree. A treaty is nothing moré
or less than a contract. If its meaning is clear, one need nct look
beyond its écrms; otherwvise, onenmust try to discern the intention

of the contracting parties.

In this case, the meaning of "carry on our fisheries as fcrmerly"
1s not explained in the treaties, and there is no evidence of what
the signatories understood it to mean. Absent such information, it

seens- --reasonable to conclude that the parties wmust have
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contemplated the continuation of the Indians' traditional fishing
practices. Since the treaties were concluded within suéh a short
time of the assertion of British sovereignty, one can only look to
aboriginal practices for an understanding of what activities the
treaties protect. In this regard I can find no conflict with the
principles --of treaty interpretgtion compil®d by the British
Columbia Court of Appeal in Saanichton Marina Ltd. v. Claxton

(1989), S7 D.L.R. (4th) 161.

It should be added that the principles of interprefation inAthg_

Saanichton decision refer to the manner in which the treaty is
construed. They do not affect the court's fact-finding function

relating to whether a given practice existed before the treaty was

made.

The last of the preliminary considerations is to determins what
types of activity are protected by the treaties. It would appear
that not all activities or practices gqualify for protection;
rather, only those which are found to have been integral to native
soclety, not incidental to it. fﬁ-the words of Macfarlane J.A. in
R. v. Van der Peaet (1993), 80 B.C.L.R. (2d) 75 at'p. 89,

... the gquestion of what is an aboriginal right
deserving protection is not determined necessarily
by rerference to the activities in which aboriginal
parsons were engaged in 1846. The test is whether
such activities or practices wera integral to the
distinctive culture of the aborigines, an enquiry
which may or may not rneed to pre-date contact with
the Eurcpeans.

Ca a3 a2 (2 a8 B A A B 3 8 B 8 C® C» C3 3 (1B
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IS THERE A COMMERCIAL COMPONENT TO THE TREATIES?

Having provided the legal framework in which the principal factual
issue will be considerad, I shall turn to the evidence. The burden
és on the defendants to prove, on a balance or probabilities, that
the Douglas Treatias contemplat'ed the commercial sale of chum
salmon: R. v. Sparrow {(above). That entails an examination of the
evidence as it relates to the aboriginal practices of the

defendants® ancestors. Mr. Dewhirst provided the evidance for the

defence on this subjact.

The section of Mr. Dewhirst's report which deals with trade begins

with the assertion, "Tradea -- buying and selling -- was an -

intrinsic part of Xwakiutl sustenance." He then gives spacific

examples of Kwakiutl trade occurring before the treaties came into

being:

In 1841, the Komkiutis traded furs to the Hudson's Bay

Company in return for blankets, tobacco, files, guns,
ammunition, and other itams.

In 1792, the Nimpkish traded furs and mountain goat wool
to tha Nootka for Spanish muskats.

In 1838, the Coguilt begzn to compete with Europeans by
trading guns and ammunition to Indians at Fort Langley.

In 1792, the Gwetala supplied Galiano's ships with salmon
from the mouth of the Quatse River (in the territory
later ceded by the Douglas Treaties).

In 1834, the Caughquil bartered eulachons for herring
spawn from the Indians at Bella Bella.

In 1834, the Lekwiltok bartered Coast Salish slaves
to the Quakeclth and Nawity.
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in 1849, the Koskimo traded salmon and halibut to the
Hudson's Bay Company at Fort Rupert.

In 1850, the Fort Rupert Indians (presumably the
Quakeolth and Queackar) supplied deer, wildfowl, and
fish to the Hudson's Bay Company.

In 1850, the same Indians traded blankets for canoas
and carved artifacts from other tribes.

The influencs of the Europeans is obvious in most of those
transactions; they either participated in the trade themselves, or
their products were the subject of trade. In gither casae these

cannot, by definition, be aboriginal practices. Even giving the

defendants the beneflt of - tbe doubt by 1ntarprat1ng R. v. Brown as

permltt:mg rccognltion of fishing practices between the time of
assertion of soversignty 2and the date of the treaties, one must
enquire whaether the practices were "integral to the distinctive
culture of the aborigin'es." That involves a determination orf how
salmon —-- particularly chum szlmon -- were used by the Kwakiutl,

and whether that use was lntegral to their distinctive culture.

Dr. Sheila Robinson ‘is an anthropologist spacializing in thé
ethnography and ethnohistory of northwest coast Indians. sShe
tastified on behalf of the Crowninas to the nature of the exchange
of goods by the Kwakiutl. In her opinion, the principal context in
which exchange occurred was the potlatch, which was “governed by
and subordinate to Xinship needs and felations," The potlatch
fulfilled +the function of ‘Ypolitical and social glue," Dby
‘camenting and validating relations, and reinforcing righté to use

each other's resources.' With the exception of eulachon oil,
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foodstuffs were not Eonsiderad valuables for the purpose of
exchange. Salmon was certainly a food staple for the Kwakiutl; chum
more so than the other salmon species, for once it was cured, being
lean it preserved well. It was consumed for subsistaence, and served

at feasts and other social and cersmonial occasions, sSuch as the

potlatch.

While no doubt there were instancaes of barter of salmon, as pointed
out by Mr. Dewhirst, these appear to have been incidental to the
central RKwakiut)l use of salmon. Dr. Robinson has provided the
canvas from which a more Complete picture emarges. All the evidence
persuades me that trade in salmon cannot be said to have bsen

integral to Kwakiutl culturs.

There is also the undisputed fact that no cash economy existed in
the area before 1851. There can be no analogy betwean a prehistoric
barﬁer system to satisfy food, social, and ceremonial needs and a
modern commercial fishery catering to provincial, national, and

foraeign markets.

In sun, I am persuaded by Crown and dafernca evidence that there is

no conmnmercial component to the Douglas Treaties.
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THE RATURE OF THE ABORIGINAL KWAKIUTL PISHERY

Can “carry on.our fisheries as formerly" be interpreted to include
the right to engage in a deep water interception fishery involving
passing chur salmon stocks? The answer t6 the question must take
into account that the aboriginﬁl right toxfish is "site and

activity spacific": R. v. Van der Peet (above) at p. 99.

In the section of his report.entitled "The Annual Round¥, Mr.
Dewhirst writes, "“In September and October, tribes moved to their
"fishing stations at the mouths of rivers to catch chum or dog
salmon. Traditionally, most chum salmon were taken in nets, wairs.
and traps." Duncan Stacey was gqualified by the Crown as an axpert
in several ar;as, one of which 1s aboriginal fishing practices on
the coast of British Columbia. His evidence was that chum salmon
were taken by Indlans in rivers and their estuaries, not in the

opan ocean. Crown and defence witnesses are thus in substantial

agreement that the aboriginal chum salmon fishery was riverine.

No.evidence was put before the Equrt suggesting the Kwakiutl were
involved in a. deep water fishery as described above. That is, the
defandants have not proved that their ancestors participated in the
specific type of activity in -which Mr. Cranmer was involved and
which has resulted in the charges against him -- a deep water net
fishery for chun salmoﬁ. That activity is not, therefore, protected

by +he treaties.

'E:]; C® O C® C® B M 3 OCB —® 3 3 B C:] s C3» C2 Ca2 Cn 1
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Tha finding of an aboriginal riverine, as opposad to deep water,
fishery for chum salmon detarmines the ‘site speciflc aspect of
proof required for the ex1stence of an aboriginal right In cther
words, Mr. Cranmer's involvement in a deep water ocean fishery is
inconSLStent with his aborlglnal right only to participatae in a
riverine fishery, sincesthe latter by definition excludes tha
former. Were the outcome of this issue to turn on whether the
Quakeolth and Queackar carried on their aborxglnal fisheries in the
general area in which Mr. Cranmer was fishing in October 1992, the
result would be different. The chum salmon in this Lase @ere taken
‘at locations known as Glory Hole, Parson Bay, cracroft Polnt and
Freshwater Bay at or near the western antrance to Johnstona Strait.
While the supporting evidance is not without weaknesses, I accept
Mr. Dewhirst's opinion that the four fishing locations are within
the defandants ancestral territory, which included their villages

of origin, fall fishing stations, and winter villages.
XTING {ENT

Had a treaty right to fish commerc1a‘ly been found to exist, the

rown would then bear the burden of proving that Parliament has
extinguished that right. This court decided that issue in favour of
the Crown in R. v. Dick, in the context of a claim for an
aboriginal, not a treaty, right. The law relating to extinguishment
was summarized in that case, and counsel have provided extensive

written_argument on the point in the case at bar. I do not intend
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to raepeat the arguments here, as there has been no change in the
law since R. v. Dick which would dictate a different decigion in
relation to these treaties. Defence counsel invite me to adopt the
dissenting opinions of Hutcheon and Lambert JJ.A. in R. v. Van der

Peet. I respectfully declina to do so.
G T JOSTIFICATIO

If I had found in favour of the defendants on the issue of

extinguishment, and had the defendants proved that the commercial

fishing closure infringed thaeir treaty rights (about which I make

no finding), I am satisfied that any such infringement is justified

on the criteria in R. ¥v. €parrow.

VERDICT

Tha defance having failed to astablish that the Douglas Treaties
give them a constitutienal fight to fish commercially for chum
galmon in priority to other commercial fishermen, I find them
guilty of the cpafges. Counsel:may wish to address the court on

whether convictions should be entered on all counts.

Canpbell River, B.C.

_June 16, 1895
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As you know, two weeks ago the Supreme Court handed down its decision githe  r- z
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UPDATE ON MARSHALL CASE RULIN

For the past two wecks there has been much confusjon and tension. But, along with this
uncertainty, there has also been good will and restraiat.

I applaud those who have led the call for calm, for restraint, and for patience — your
leadership has been invaluable, and we know that we can count on your continued

support, and all communities working together.

This issue is my top priority. I believe that through the cooperatién and dialogucithaf‘has
taken place between all groups, aboriginal and nop-aboriginal alike, we have made
positive steps towards clanfymg this complicated situation. :

This has been an extremely difficult time for so many. I understand the fears, and that we
are all facing uncertainty. But we must remember that we share many goals - conserving
U the resource, respect for the law, ensuring access to the resource for all, and producing

certainty. This step today will not give us all the answers, but it will be a positive step
towards reaching these goals.

As T've said over the past two weeks, we must not do what is easiest, but what is right.
We will figure this out, but it won't be easy, and it won't be immediate. It will take time,
and it will only happen if we work together.

Since the Supreme Court announcement of September 17, the intcrpretatibn and
assessment of what it means in practiceal terms has been a preoccupation for me
personally, and all who have an interest in the Atlantic fishery.

While there are many outstanding issues which are not yet resolved, the dimensions of
the judgement as it pertains to the fishery, are becoming clearer.

My intent today, as the Minister responsible for the conservation and management of the -
fishery, is to explain our approach as we move forward to give effect to this judgement in

a step by step and responsible manner.
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First, let me summarize what we understand about the judgement. ‘

The Court has affirmed that the beneficiaries of the Treaty have a right to, among other
things, fish, hunt and gather, and trade the products of these activities for “necessaries”.

Translated into modern terms, the judgement indicates this right entitles the beneficiaries
to have the opportunity to gain a “moderate livelihood" from the exercise of their fishing,

hunting and gathering activities.

The Court has also told us that the right is limited; it does not extend to the open-ended
accumulation of wealth, nor does it provide for an unregulated hacvest.

While the Court ﬁ:made it cléar that there is a Treaty right to fish, it has also made it
clear the exercise of the right is subject to regulation by Government. Catch limits that
would reasonably be expected to provide a moderate livelihood can be enforced without

infringing the Treaty tight.

There are many considerations that will be central to our efforts as we move forward in
concert with all parties.

For example, we consider this to be a commmunal right and not an individual right. To be
clear, even if the right is exercised by individuals, it is for the benefit of the collective.

Another issue is fundamental to the interpretation of the judgement — in oxder to
accommodate the Treaty right we must understand who are the current beneficiaries of

the right, '

The Supreme Court of Canada’s judgement indicates that the Treaty applies to the
~Aboriginal communities that best represeat the “modemn manifestation” of the original

signatories.

We will start to work initially with Bands on issues related to Treaty eligibility so that
enforcement measures can be taken with regard to fishing activities beyond the scope of
the Treaty right. We will also talk to other organizations to clarify this matter.

I will be instructing my staff to take enforcement action against fishing activity of those
who are not the beneficiaries of the Treaty.

We now need to focus on putting in place a process that will allow us to accommodate
the Treaty right. We will involve in this process all who are directly concemed with the
sustainability and viability of the Atlantic fishery.
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Through this process, we will continue to develop a more contemporary relationship
among government, Aboriginal communities and the traditional fishing sector. That
process must take a long-term view. It will not be quick or easy. It will depend on good
will, mutual respect and a shared commitment to conservation and sustainability of the

resource.
I will not attempt to place timeframes on this process - this is too important to rush, but |
know that the task will not be completed in days or even weeks. This will be a significant
challenge for all of us.

In developing tbe new framework for the Atlantic fishery, I will be guided by the
following principles:

First: Conservation

Future well-being of the fishery resource will not be compromised; fishing amrangements
must be designed to ensure, above all, conservation requirements will be respected. As
Minister, [ have the responsibility to protect the resource. Actions that jeopardize
conservation will be addressed through appropriate enforcement response.

Second: Kairness

Fisheries must be managed in 2 manuer consistent with the Marshall decision. In
developing the framework for the fishery, the government will be sensitive to the impacts
on individuals and on the viability of the commercial fishery. We will, as part of the
process, carefully consider the impacts on those directly and most affected by changes.

Third: Transparency

The process of dialogue and negotiation will be conducted in an open and inclusive
manner to avoid uncertainty and surprise.

Fourth: Partnership

As we proceed, my Department will work collaboratively with Aboriginal communities,
the commercial fishing sector, Provincial governments and other federal Departments.

Having spoken about the long-term, I am also keenly aware of the imnmediate need for an
orderly fishery.

There are questions that cannot await the conclusion of our broader consultations. The
rights affirmed by the highest Court of the country apply now.
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To ask those who have awaited that decision for so long to simply forgo legitimate
opportunities to begin exercising rights that have been affirmed by the Court, is asking
too much. However, this fishery must be conducted in an orderly and regulated manner,
consistent with conservation. I will not allow a free for all on the water.

Consultations will begin immediately with Bands and other fishing organizations with a
view to reaching agreement quickly on short term interim fishing arrangements. Our aim
is to ensure that Treaty beneficiaries have access to the resource in a2 manoner that is
consistent with these objectives. We will take into account the interest of those who may
be directly affected.

I want to state very clearly that such interim arrangements will not influence or prejudice
the outcome of theé longer-term process. Meetings are already being arranged and we will
proceed as expeditiously as possible.

Although we do not have answers to all the questions today, we are making progress. We
respect the Treaty right for access to the fishery.

We have clarified who are the beneficiaries of this Treaty right. We are initiating as of
today a short and long-term strategy to manage this decision. We have outlined the
authority of the federal government to regulate this fishery and ensure that conservation is
not comprormised.

Every challenge is an opportunity. The opportunity here is for all of us to demonstrate ’
some of the values that make this country preat: our tolerance, our generosity, our
willingness to work together, and our respect for the law and the Supreme Court.
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- Mz. John G. Paul
Atlandic Policy Congress _
P.0.Box 36 ) S
_ Amberst, Nova Scotia CoE T
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(
Dear Mr. Paul: ‘

Astached for your information js & capy ofthe document “The Morshall
Decisian® Inferpretation, Iroplications and Tuterim Guidelines™. The
document outlines DFO’s position and approach with respect to the Supreme
Court of Canada’s decision in R v, Marshall an September 21 and the
Court’s subsequent decision on November 21%, 1999,

The document is being provxded 10 DFO Regional Director Generals asmﬂ
as to DFO field staff'to pravide guidauce in their actions. el

James MacKenze
Attachment
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THE FAARSHALL DEG!S]ON

lnterpretatxcn, lmplxcations and Interim Guidellnes
1. Gantexi

The Departmont of Fisheries and Oceans® policies regarding Aboriginal
fishing jn Canada have rapidly evolved since 1990 when thé Supreme Court
found in R. w. Sparrow that o Abougmal right existed ta fish for foad,
sacial, and ceremonial purmpo; S an:sult, & regulatary and pa
ework is currently in place atis flexible and allows DFO and
Aboriginal cormmunities 10 co-manage a wide variety of activities ranging
from subsistence to commeteial fisheries.

G/b..dQO

The Marshall decision is & significant step towards increased Aboriginal
involvement in commercial fisheries. As with the Sparrow decision before
it, tha Marshall decision Will require a re-examination of existing policies.
and management rogirges as discussions with Aborigiral groups and thc %

cotnmeroial industyy proceed. -

2. The Marshall Decision: What [t Said

The Supreme Court found: that a 1760 Treaty of Peace and Friendship
between the Bridsh Crown and the Mi'kmaq, affitmed the right ofthe
Mi'kmaq people to continue to provide for their own sustenance by taking
the products of their hunting, fishing, and gathering activities and trading
them for what in 1760 were described &s “necessaries™, The Court gote@ st

the Maliseet and Passamequoddy, who lived in prescat-day New ans’km:k.
The Mi’kmagq agreed to 'make peace upon the same conditions.”

The Court concluded that in today’s terms securing “necessaries™ is
equivalent 10 2 “moderate livelihaod”. In nirn, this was interpreted to
include basics such a5 food, clothing and housing supplemented by a few
amenities. It does not extend to the accumulation of wealth. The Court
went on to canclude that in order to exercise this right to rade ina
- meaningful way, the Treaty beneficiaries have an implied right to front, fish
and gather in order to have something to trade for necessarics. It added that

d,,..<c0:2T - -
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this right to harvest and trade for necessaries can be regulated by
Govemnment and contaméd within limits.

On November 17, 1999, in its reasons for dismissing a motion fora reheanng
of the Marshall appeal and a stay of the judgement, the Court explained and
clarified a number of aspects of its earlier decision For example, the Court
cruphasized the regulatory authority of fedetal government to regulite the -

. weaty right. It clarified that treaty nghts are collective in nature, but may be
exercised by members of the communities holding these rights Under the
autharity of these communities. Purther, it noted that the exerclse of treaty. ..
rights is limited to the ares traditionally used by the local community with™~
which the perticular treaty was made and in connection to wildlife, fish and
resources traditionally ge.thercd” inan Abongmal economy.

3. The ar;s& [Decis:an, Interpretation

The Department of Fisheries and Oceans' view is that the following points
are clear from the Marshall decision and reaffirmed in the reasons for
Judgement in previous case lawn
¢ The Treaty benefits apply ta the Canadian successor groups. of those™ | =
Mi’kmmaq, Maliseet, and Passamaquoddy groups that sxgned the Troaty of
1760 and similar treaties in 1761. )
Treaty beneficiaries have the right to harvest fisheries resqurces so thatt
they can sell fish in support of 2 “modczatc Tivelibood” butnot forthe -
accumulation of wealth,
The right is communal in nature. Although individuals may fish under the
right, the right is beld by the collective/commutity and it may only be -
exeroised fn the area Radigonally used. ) T

The right canpe regulated and x natell regulations fnfringe the 1i

Even in cases where régulation of the right may infringe e dght to some
extent, stch infringement can teke place for legitimate reasons such 2s
conservation, public health and sefety, maintaining tho ordexly . -

" management of the fisheries, regional and economic faimess, and tsldng Ta

into account historical reliance on the fishery by others.

"« In regulating the right, with justification, critetia can be established wnh
respect to the arca to be fished, the amount ta be fished, tha gear to be
nsed, monitoring and tepomng requirements, and clased seasons.
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o The treaty right does not have to be satisfied ahead of all other users.
What is rcqmred is “éthamc access™ to the resource for the purpase of
treaty beneficiaries eaming 2 maderato hvmg

4, The _ggsﬁ_a_j_bects on, lmp!lcatwns

Urider the Aboriginal Fxshexies Strategy, DFO has provided Aboriginal -
groups with access to fish for food, social, and ceretmonial puposes, ag wall”
as access to commercial fisheries through the Allocation Transfer Progrem
and other micans, The Marshall decision will require DFO 1o provide Treaty

- boneficlaries with additional access to fisheries in respouse to the Treaty -
sight,

Most cornmercial fisheries are more-or-fess fully subscribed, and
pariicipation in them is limited by licence, The accommodation af new
" ‘entrants into such fisheries will nsed 1o be carefully managedin addition,
previonts Supreme Court decisions emphasxze the fmportance of Governrient
discussing issues such as access with Aboriginal people involved. DFOJS
-"also commiitted to consult with commercml :nterwts an the best way of'
acco odatmg now exfrants to full ies.)These = .= -
discussions 50 complete. '

The Marshall decision wil result in szgmﬁcant admstmenc to the i
corunercial fishery in Atiantic Canada, In the courss of dxscussxons, Tt
alterpative fisheries manasgement models may be proposed. DFO is open to
now approaches to fisheries management pravided they are faic and
eﬂ:'ectwc, and mect gov:;nmcnt standeards xegardmg health and safety of the
. food supply,

8. Respanse |

The Minister of Fisheries and Oceans has sppointed Mr. James MacKetzie
as Chicf Federal Representative responsible for discussions on new fishing
arrangements for Aboriginal granps, These discussions are currently

underway and are initially fooused on the process to be followed over the
colrse of the winter.
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Discussions will take placc aver the winter to reach interim agreements .
between Aboxigingl groups and the Federal Government on fishing "
arrangements for the year 2000 fisheries. It is hopead that these fishing
arrangements can be completed by April 2000 to provide commercial
harvesrers, both Aboriginal and non-Aboriginal, with stability in the commg

year.

To 2ssist Mr. MacKenzie, Mr. Gﬂlcs Thériault has been appointed as
Assistant Federal Representative. It is his job to liase and facititate
consultations with commercial and other interests. He repotts directly to Mr.

MacKenzie and represonts au integral part of the overell process, which
gecks to fairly nccommodzfe new entants into fully subscribed fisheries.

D Fishing by somc Abongmal groups cammenced immediately aftor the * ~
September 17%, 1999 Supreme Court desision. Pending the compleﬁon of =
agreoments between Aboriginal groups and DFO on fishing arangements, |
U inferim measures must ba adopted to ensure, among other things, that
conservation goals arc met, that the fishery is orderly, aad thar the interests
D of other usexs of the resource ere cansidered. These interim measures will be

based on the existing policy and regnlatory frmmework as adjusted to
accornmoadate the Treaty right.

‘While these measures are intended to accommodata the Treaty xight in the
“near-term, they do not mmlnm
The longer-term that may arise in the course of discussions to accomnodatc
Aboriginal access. RN

6. In tenm Guijdelines

DFO will be guided by tie following interim guidelines that will apply,
pending the outcome of discussions Aboriginal groups. These interim
arrangements are withont prejudice 1o the legal positions of DFO and
Aboriginal groups, or the longer-term arangements to bo agread upan in the

ongoing discussions.
DEO will respect the Treaty right in the following manner:

_,_,_,.:.’.-—-——c:

M ale I s~ 7
[l S5 - N 7T fR  NC ADn
> Ly - )Qm_)qq_?_nﬁ;xv.; B n —_— q
LJr—‘.q.— :7‘. FJG.S‘T-‘;« ‘33



TreTuavewy e

) L
K
. . 1 T -Uuoryygy - r~ucp
. Clna imam o o x 0 XY v - . <,
P DRI LI - PR ﬂ"q.}"c‘:‘u“.“""?‘{w 2 U T L
. . N . - ., Sasd=h. in' gpdla Lot e :
N y ORI NS - O »

-
— .
A g TP

fiav Z2Y $Y U3t ldap Ltaigae Parigead LE13a1 Hu3-~d¥43dy -:. __ B

@ DFQwill negotiate access _tb commercial fishedes with Aboriginal
Broups. - -
° DFO will provide interim fisheries #ccess to Aboriginal £I0UpS On & case
by case basis rking into account .
© The primary importancé of conservation goals and the precautiopary | -
approsch when developing ways to accommodate new entrants. Y
=« The dlsPlacemcnt or impact upon existing harvesters and econontic - -
and regional faitness fssnes, | o
* DFO will consult with Aboriginal groups on the management of their
fisheries, and where agreements ere reached, ensure that steps are taken
to have thejr communities play a role in the menagement of their fisheries
consistent with the agreement and commmunal icence. -
* In cases where no agrecment is reached, DRO will issue & commmunal
licence. The licence will establish conditions for barvest, -

;
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in the following manner: -

Fishing activity in fisheries managed by DFO must be authorised by DFO. -
In the commercial fishery, this is achieved through licences issued to
individual or corporate fishets and fishing epterprises, and in Aboriginal
fisheries through communal licences issued to Abariginal groups (usless
alternative means become available). To accommodate the Treaty right on

an interim basiy, DFO will:

» Issue communal licences, that:
¢ establish enforcesble conservation measures such as type and quaniity.
of fishing gear, ... o Sils
s establish an agreedwupon .cmmti_lquﬁo_t;f& the fishedes, orinthe, -
absence of an agreement, establish a reasonsble quantity/quote for the
fisheries, . . oo e e .
‘e establish thg:r'{mc and area of hayvest where required,
« cstablish monitoring and raporting procedures. .
« In addition to the fishexies management measures described 2bove,
_harvesting will be conducted in complience with regulatiuns relating to
public health and safety\ ,
« “TgTotect the integrity of the Treary right and to ensure the orderly
management of the fishery, if requested by sither a Guardian or a Fishery
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r Ofﬁcer, those pezsons f shing under the authont}' of a comunmal hccucc
i_ must provide proof of designation by the Abongmal group that has been
1 autharisedtofish. *« | 7~ = == mmeee .-
€% Utiless oih&wise am to between an Aboriginal group and DFO
nonmal enforcement procédures will apply to non-Aborigmal people on .
baard a vessel Wsed 1o fish outside of authorised, licensed caommerciat ;
fisherdes. :
. o Unanthorised entry into, zmd fishing in, Cenadian waters by persons who
are not citizens of Canada will be subject to enforcement action vnder the Td
\Coasral Fisherles Protection dctogardloss of sy clabmby theratobs "
Treaty beneficiaries. : A

1
o
Ny

7. Next Steps : e '. «

D DFO will continue d:scussxdns with Aboriginal groups and connnerc1a1
interests and will be maving towarggstabli‘shmg ﬁshmg agrecraeats between

D ' DFO and Aboriginal groups.for 2000. This process is not meant fo yield
final arangements that define the Treaty right. Rather its purpose is fo
establish practical fishing amngemms to agcommaodars fishing interests of

D Aboriginal groups. The interim measuzes noted gbove will remain in effect ..
until they are superceded by revised management measures derived ﬁum thq

U " discussion process. .
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PART II - GROUP WORK

~ INSTRUCTIONS: (30 minutes)

After you have finished the rank order procedure, you will form 3 or 4 groups of 5 or 6
individuals. Your group work task is to develop consensus on the five things your group believes
are the most important aspects of the relationship between Canada and Aboriginal people.

In developing consensus the group should attempt to achieve unanimous support from all group
members on the five things. This may require some compromising based on a good “give and
take” discussion process.

After your group has arrived at its consensual position, a member of the group should be
appointed to report the results. ; A

L.
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Cour supréme du Canada

Supreme Court of Canada

September 17, 1999 le 17 septembre 1999

JUDGMENT JUGEMENT

NALD ' S v. HER S - and -

ATTORNEY GENERAI, FOR NEW DBRUNSWICK, THE WEST NOVA
FISHE S CQALITION C CILOFNOVA SCQTIA

UNION OF NEW BRUNSWICK INDIANS (26014) (N.S.)

e,

' “CORAM:  The Chief Justice and L’Heureux-Dubé, Goathier,
B _ . Cory, McLachlin, Tacobucgj and Binnie JJ.
. h . ) {
B The appeal is allowed and an acquittal on all charges is ordered, Gonthier and
McLachlin JJ. dissenting. The constitutional question is answered as follows:

Arc the prohibitions on catching and retaining fish without a licence, on
fishing during the close time, and on the unlicensed sale of fish, contained
in ss. 4(1)(a) and 20 of the Maritime Provinces Fishery Regulations and
s. 35(2) of the Fishery (General) Regulations, inconsistent with the treaty
rights of the appellant contained in the Mi’kmagq Treaties of 1760-61 and
therefore of no force or effect or application to him, by virtue of ss. 35(1)
and 52 of the Constitution Act, 19827

Question:

Answer: Yes. Gonthier and McLachlin JI. would answer in the negative.

Le pourvoi est accueilli et 1'acquittement est ordonné 2 I'égard de toutes les
accusations. Les juges Gonthier et McLachlin sont dissidents. La question

constitutionnelle regoit la répanse suivante:
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Question:

Réponse:

————

—— e,

v QTLITAO 1U.-00 , nd NALIYE ACCAIRD™ UU4 000 uydlu# o/ 13

2-

L’interdiction de prendre et de garder du poisson sans permis, ainsi que
celles de pécher pendant la période de fermeture et de vendre du poisson
sans permis, prévues respectivement par ['al. 4(1)a) et P'art. 20 du
Réglement de péche des provinces maritimes ainsi que par le par. 35(2) du
Réglement de péche (dispositions générales), sont-clles incompatibles avec
les droits conférés a ’appclant par les traités conclus par les Micmacs en
1760 ct 1761 et, par conséquent, inopérantes a son endroit, par 'effet du
par. 35(1) et de 'art. 52 de la Loi constitutionnelle de 19827

Oui. Les juges Gonthier et McLachlin répondraient par la négative.

CJ.C
J.C.C.

3
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Supreme Caurt of Canada %

DONALD JOHN MARSHALL. JR.

Y.

HER MAJESTY THE QUEEN

and

THE ATTORNEY GENERATL FOR NEW

BRUNSWICK,

THE WEST NOVA FISHERMEN S COALITION,
THE NATIVE COUNCIL QF NOVA SCOTIA and
THE UNION QF NEW BRUNSWICK INDIANS

(26014)

CORAM:

The Rt. HonAntonio Lamer, P.C.

The Hon. Mme Justice L'Heureux-Dubé
The Hon;Mr. Justice Gonthier

The Hon. Mr, Justice Cory

The Hon. Madam Justice McLachlin
The Hon. Mr. Justice [acobucci

The Hon. Mr. Justice Binnie

Appeal heard:
November 5, 1998

Judgment rendered:
September 17,1999

Reasons for judgment by:
The Hon. Mr. Justice Binnie

Concurred in by:

The Rt. Hon. Antonio Lamer, P.C.

The Hon. Mme Justice L'Heureux-Dubé
The Hon. Mr. Justice Cory

The Hon. Mr. Justice [acobuccti
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Cour supréme du Canada

DONALD JOHN MARSHALL IR,

C.

SA MAJESTE LA REINE

et

LE PROCUREUR GENFERAL DU NOUVEAU-
BRUNSWICK, '

LA WEST NOVA FISHERMEN’S COALITION.
LE NATIVE COUNCIL OF NOVA SCOTIA et
L’UNION OF NEW BRUNSWICK INDIANS

(26014)

CORAM: :

Le trés hon. Antonio Lamer, c.p.
L'honorable juge L'Heureux-Dubé
L'honorable juge Gonthier
L’honorable juge Cory
L'honorable juge Mcltachlin
L'honorable juge Iacobucci

L honorable juge Binnic

Appel entendu:
le S novembre 1998

Jugement rendu:
le 17 septembre 1959

Motifs de jugement:
L'honorable juge Binnie

Souscrivent a l'avis de I'honorable juge Binnie:
Le trés hon. Antonio Lamer, c.p. '
L'honorable juge L'Heureux-Dubé

L honorable juge Cory

L'honorable juge lacabucct
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Dissenting reasons by:
The Hon. Madam Justice McLachlin

Concurred in by:
The Hon. Mr. Justice Gonthier

Counsel at hearing:

For the appellant:
Bruce H. Wildsmith, Q.C.

Eric A. Zscheile

For the respondent:
Michael A. Paré
Tan MacRae =
Gordon Campbell

———

For the interveiter the Attomey General for New
Brunswick: __
Bruce Judah, Q.C.

For the intervener the West Nova Fishermen’s
Coalition:

A. William Moreira, Q.C.

Daniel R. Pust

For the intervener the Native Courncil of Nova
Scotia:
D. Bruce Clarke

For the intervener the Union of New Brunswick
Indians:
Henry J. Bear

11-uy »
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Motifs dissideats:
L’honorable juge McLachlin

Souscrit a I'avis de I'honorable juge McLachlin:
L’honorable juge Gonthier

Avocats a l'audience:

Pour Pappelant:
Bruce H. Wildsmith, c.r.
Eric A. Zscheile _

Pour I'intimée:
Michael A. Paré
Ian MacRae ‘
Gordon Campbell

Pour I’intervenant le procureur général du Nouveau-
Brunswick: I
Bruce Judah, cr, ¥

Pour I'intervenante la West Nova Fishermen’s -,
Coalition o i :

A. William Moreira, c.r.

Daniel R. Pust

Pour I'intervenant le Native Council of Nova
Scotia:

D. Bruce Clarke

Pour I’intervenante "Union of New Brunswick
Indians:
Heury J. Bear
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" AVIS/NOTICE

La-version frangaise des motifs de jugement n'est pas disponible pour I"instant.

Elle Ie sera dans les meilleurs délais.

The French version of the reasons for judgment is not available at this time. The

| French version will be issued at the earliest possible time.
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r. v. marshall

Donald John Marshall, Jr. Appeliant

Her Majesty The Queen Respondent

and

The Attorney General for New Brunswick,

the West Nova Fishermen’s Coalition,

the Native Council of Nova Scotia

and the Union of New Brunswick Indians Interveners

——,

File No.: 26014.
1998: November 5; 1999: September 17.

Present: Lamer C.J. and L Heureux-Dubé, Gonthier, Cory, McLachlin, Iacobucci and
Binnie JJ.

on appeal from the court of appeal for nova scotia

Indians -- Treaty rights — Fishing rights — Accused, a Mi'kmaq Indian,
fishing with prohibited net during close period and selling fish caught without a licence
in violation of federal fishery regulations -- Whether accused possessed treaty right to

catch and sell fish that exempted him from compliance with regularions - Mi'kanag

i
i
i
i
0
)
0
T — | 0
i
i
i
]
0
i
0
i



L Y PP P e e aa wva —
P LY T s a

-2
Treaties of 1760-61 -- Maritime Provinces Fishery Regulations, SOR/93-53, ss. 4(1)(a),

20 -- Fishery (General) Regulations, SOR/92-33, 5. 35(2).

The accused, a Mi’kmaq Indian, was charged with three offences set out in
the federal fishery regulations: the selling of ecls without a licence, fishing without a
licence and fishing during the close season with illegal nets. He admitted that he had
caught and sold 463 pounds of eels without a licence and with a prohibited net within
close times. The only issue at trial was whether he possessed a treaty right to catch and
sell fish under the treaties of 1760-61 that exempted him from compliance with the
regulations. During the negotiations leading to the treaties of 1760-61, the aboriginal
leaders asked for truckhouses ‘;for the furnishing them with necessaries in exchange for

their peltry” in response to the Govemnor’s inquiry “whether they were directed by their

. Tribes to proposc any other particulars to be treated upon at this time”. The written

document, however, contained only the promise by the Mi’kmaq not to “traffick, bartet

or exchange any commodities in any manner but with such persons or the managers of

such truck houses as shall be appointed or established by His Majesty’s Govemor™. |
While this “trade clause” is framed in negative terms as a restraint on the ability of the
Mi’kmaq to tradc with non-government individuals, the trial judge found that it reflected
a grant to them of the pasitive right to bring the products of their hunting, fishing and
gat.hering to a truckhouse to trade. He also found that when the exclusive trade
obligation and the system of truckhouses and licensed traders fell into disuse, the “right
to bring” disappeared. The accused was convicted on all three counts. The Court of
Appeal upheld the convictions. It concluded that the trade clause does not grant the
Mi’kmaq any rights, but represented a mechanism imposed upon them to help ensure that
the peace between the Mi'kmagq and the British was a tasting one, by obviating the need

of the Mi’kmaq to trade with the enemies of the British or unscrupulous traders.
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Held(Gonthier and McLachlin JJ. dissenting): The appeal should be allowed

and an acquittal entered on all charges.

Per Lamer CJ. and L'Heureux-Dubé, Cory, lacobucci and Binnie JJ.:
When interpreting the treaties the Court of Appcal erred in rejecting the use of extrinsic
evidence in the absence of ambiguity. Firstly, even in a modern commercial context,
extrinsicévidence is available to show that a written document docs not include all of the
terms of an agreenient. Secondly, extrinsic evidence of the historical and cultural
context of a treaty may be received even if the treaty document purports to contain all of
the terms and even absent any ambiguity on the face of the treaty. Thirdly, where a
treaty was concluded orally and afterwards written up by representatives of the Crown,

it would be unconscionable for the Crown to ignore the oral terms while relying on the

. .wnlten ones.

There was more to the treaty entitiement than merely the right. to bring fish
and wildlife to truckhouses. While the treaties set out a restrictive covenant and do not
say anything about a positive Mi’kmagq right to trade, they do not contain all the promises
made and all the terms and conditions mutually agreed to. Although the trial judge drew
positive implications from the negative trade clause, such limited relief is inadequate
where the British-drafted treaty document docs not accord with the British-drafted
minutes of the negotiating sessions and more favourable terms are evident from the other
documents and evidence the trial judge regarded as reliable. Such an overly deferential
attitude to the treaty document was inconsistent with a proper recognition of the
difficulties of proof confronted by aboriginal people. The trial judge’s narrow view of
what constituted “the treaty” led to the equally narrow legal conclusion that the Mi’kmaq
trading entitlement, such as it was, terminated in the 1780s. It is the common intention

of the parties in 1760 to which effect must be given. The trade clause would not have
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advanced British objectives (peaceful relations with a self-sufficient Mi’kmagq pcople)
or Mi'kmagq objectives (access to the European “necessaries” on which they had come
to rely) unless the Mi’kmaq were assured at the same time of continuing access,

implicitly or explicitly, to a harvest of wildlife to trade.

This appeal should be allowed because nothing less would uphold the honour
and integrity of the Crown in its dealings with the Mi’kmaq people to s.e’curc their peace
and friendship, as i)est the content of those freaty promises can now be ascertained. If
the law is prepared to supply the deficiencies of written contracts prepared by
sophisticated parties and their legal advisors in order to produce a sensible result that
accords with the intent of both parties, though unexpressed, the law cannot ask less of
the honour and dignity of the Crown in its dealings with First Nai_ions. An intéxprétation
- ~~of events that turns a positive Mi’kmaq trade demand into a ncgéﬁve Mi’kmaq covenant

is; nc;t consistent with the honour and integrity of the Crown. Nor-is it consistent to
conclude that the Govemor, seeking in good faith to address the trade der.n_ands of the
Mi’kmagq, accepled the Mi’kmaq suggestion of a trading facility while denying any treaty
protection to Mi’kmaq access to the things that were to be traded, even though these
things were identified and priced in the treaty negotiations. The tFadc arrangement must
be interpreted in a manner which gives meaning and substarice to the oral promises made
by the Crown during the treaty negotiations. The promise of access to “necessaries”
through trade in wildlife was the key point, and where a right has been granted, there
must be more than a mere disappearance of the mechanism created to facilitate the

exercise of the right to warrant the conclusion that the right itself is spent or

extinguished.

There is a distinction to be made between a liberty enjoyed by all citizens

and a right conferred by a specific legal authority, such as a treaty, to participate in the
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same activity. A general right enjoyed by all citizens can be made the subject of an
enforceable treaty promise. Thus the accused need not show preferential trading rights,
but only treaty trading rights. Following the enactment of the Constitution Act, 1 98;7, the
fact the content of Mi'kmagq rights under the treaty to hunt and fish aand trade was no
greater than those enjoyed by other inhabitants does not, unless those rights werc
extinguished prior to April 17, 1982, detract from the higher protection they presently

offer to the Mi’kmagq people.

The accused’s wreaty rights are limited to sccuring “necessaries™ (which
should be construed in the modern context as equivalent to a moderate livelihaad), and
do not extend to the o pen-ended accumnulation of wealth. Thus construed, however, they
are {reaty rights within the meaning of s. 35 of the Constitution Act, 1982, The surviving
sgbstance of the treaty is not the literal promise of a truckhouse, but a treaty right to

continue to obiain necessaries through hunting and fishing by trading the products of

those traditional activities subject to restrictians that can be justified under the Badger -

test. What is contemplated is not a right to trade generally for economic gain, but rather
aright to trade for nccessaries. The treaty right is a regulated right and can be contained
by regulation within its proper limits. Catch limits that could reasonably be expected to
produce a moderate livelihood for individual Mi’kmagq familics at present-day standards
can be established by regulation and enforced without violating the treaty right. Such
regulations would accommodate the treaty right and would not constitute an infringement

that would have to be justified under the Badger standard.

The accused caught and sold the ccels to support himself and his wife. His
treaty right to fish and trade for sustenance was exercisable only at the absolute
discretion of the Minister. Accordingly, the close season and the imposition of a

discretionary licencing system would, if enforced, interfere with the accused’s treaty
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right to fish for trading purposes, and the ban on sales would, if enforced, infringe his

right to trade for sustenance. In the absence of any justificauon of the regulatory

prohibitions, the accused is entitled to an acquittal.

Per Gonthier and McLacblin IJ. (dissenting): Each treaty mmust be
considcred in its unique historical and cultural context, and extrinsic evidence can be_
used in interpreting aboriginal treaties, absent ambiguity. It may be useful to approach
the interpretation of a treaty in two steps. First, the words of the treaty clause at issue
should be examined to determine their facial meaning, insofar as this can be ascertained,
noting any patent ambiguities and misunderstandings that may have arisen from
linguistic and cultural differences. This exercise will lead to one or more possible

interpretations of the clause. At the second step, the meaning or different meanings

. ..—which have arisen from the wording of the treaty right must be considered against the

ifcéty‘s historical and cultural backdrop. A consideration of the historica} background

may suggest latent ambiguities or alternative interpretations not detected at first reading™”

The treaties of 1760-61 do not grant a general right to trade. The core of the
trade clause is the obligation on the Mi’kmagq to trade only with the British. Ancillary
to this is the implied promise that the British will establish truckhouses where the
Mi_’kmaq can'trade. These words do not, on their face, confer a general right to trade.
Nor does the historic and cultural context in which the treaties were made establish such
aright. The trial judge was amply justified in concluding that the Mi’kmaq understood
the treaty processas well as the particular terms of the treaties they were signing. On the
historical record, moreover, neither the Mi'kmagq nor the British intended or understood
the treaty trade clause as creating a gencral right to trade. To achieve thc mutually

acsired objective of peace, both parties agrced to make certain concessions. The

Mi'kmaq agreed to forgo their trading autonomy and the general trading rights they
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possessed as British subjects, and to abide by the treaty trade regime. The British, in
exchange, undertook to provide the Mi'kmagq with stable tréding outlets where Edropean
goods were provided at favourable terms while the exclusive trade regime existed. Bath
the Mi'kmagq and the British understood that the “right to bring” goods to trade was a
limited right contingcnt on the existence of a system of exclusive trade and truckhouses.

The finding that both parties understood that the treaties granted a specific, and limited,

right to bring gogds to truckhouses to trade is confirmed by the post-treaty conduct of the

Mi’kmagq and the British. Soon after the treaties were entered into, the British stopped
insisting that the Mi’kmagq trade only with them, and replaced the expensive truckhouses
with licenced traders in 1762. The system of licenced traders, in turn, died out by the
1780s. The exclusive trade and truckhouse systemn was a temporary mechanism to
achiéve peace in a troubled region between parties with a long history of hostilities.
When the restriction on the Mi'kmagq trade fell, the need for compensation for the
removal of their trading autonomy fell as well. At this point, the Mi’kmaq were vested
with the general non-treaty right to hunt, to fish and to trade posscsscd‘ by all other
British subjects in the region. The conditions supporting the right to bring goads to trade

at truckhouses, as agreed to by both parties, ceased to exist.

It follows from the trial judge’s finding that the “right to bring” goods to
trade at truckhouses dicd with the exclusivce trade obligation upon which it was prémis,ed
that the treaties did not grant an independent right to truckhouses which survived the

demise of the exclusive trade system. This right therefore cannot be relied on in support

of an argurnent of a trade right in the modem context which would exempt the accused

from the application of the fisheries regulations.
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R. v. Marshall

Donald John Marshall, Jr. Appellant
V.

Her Majesty The Queen Requndent
and

The Attorney General for New Brunswick,

the West Nova Fishermen's Coalitiois;

the Native Council of Nova Scotia

and the Union of New Brunswick Indians Interveners

Indexed as: R. v. Marshall

File No.: 26014.

1999: November 17.

Present: Lamer C.J. and L'Heureux-Dubé, Gonthier, McLachlin, Iacobucci and Binnie JJ.
MOTION FOR REHEARING AND STAY

Indians -- Treaty rights -- Fishing rights -- Accused, a Mi'kmaq Indian, acquitted of
charges of fishing in violation of federal fishery regulations -- Accused found to possess
treaty rights exempting him from compliance with regulations -- Whether accused should .
have been acquitted absent new or further trial to determine justification of regulations --
Whether government can regulate treaty right to fish by licensing regulations and closed
seasons -- Scope of government power to regulate treaty right --Whether judgment should
be stayed pending disposition of rehearing if so ordered.

Appeals -- Supreme Court of Canada -- Jurisdiction -- Rehearing --Intervener i in appeal
applying for rehearing -- Whether Supreme Court has jurisdiction to entertain
application -- Rules of Supreme Court of Canada, SOR/83-74, r. 1 “party".

An intervener in the Marshall appeal, the West Nova Fishermen's Coalition, applied for a
rehearing of the appeal and, if granted, for a stay of the judgment pending the rehearing.
The Coalition also sought a further trial limited to the issue whether the application of the
fisheries regulations to the exercise of a Mi'kmaq treaty right could be justified on
conservation or other grounds. The parties and other interveners opposed the rchearmg
and any further trial. The intervener's application was primarily directed to the presumed
effects of the Court's judgment on the lobster fishery. The Marshall appeal, however,
related to fishing eel out of season contrary to federal fishery regulations. In its judgment
of September 17, 1999, a majority of the Court concluded that Marshall had established
the existence and infringement of a local Mi'kmaq treaty right to carry on small scale
commercial eel fishery. The Crown had not attempted to justify either the licensing
restriction or the closed season to limit the exercise of the appellant's treaty right. The
appellant was therefore acquitted. The issue of justification was a new issue neither raised
by the parties nor decided in this Court nor dealt with in the courts below.

Held: The motion for a rehearing and stay of the judgment should be denied.



In light of the extended definition of “party” in Rule 1 of the Supreme Court Rules, this
Court has jurisdiction to entertain an intervener's application for a rehearing but will only
do so in exceptional circumstances. Not only are there no such circumstances here but the
intervener's application also violated the basis on which an intervener is permitted to
participate in the appeal in the first place, namely acceptance of the record as defined by
the Crown and the defence. In so far as the Coalition's questions are capable of being
answered on the trial record in this case, the responses are already evident in the majority
judgment and the prior decisions of this Court referred to therein.

The Crown elected not to try to justify the licensing or closed season restriction on the eel
fishery in this prosecution, but the resulting acquittal cannot be generalised to a
declaration that licensing restrictions or closed seasons can never be imposed as part of
the government's regulation of the Mi'kmagq limited commercial "right to fish". The
factual context for justification is of great importance and the strength of the justification
may vary depending on the resource, species, community and time.

The federal and provincial governments have the authority within their respective
legislative fields to regulate the exercise of a treaty right where justified on conservation
or other grounds. The Marshall judgment referred to the Court's principal
pronouncements on the various grounds on which the exercise of treaty rights may be
regulated. The paramount regulatory objective is conservation and responsibility for it is
placed squarely on the Minister responsible and not on the aboriginal or non-aboriginal
users of the resource. The regulatory authority extends to other compelling and
substantial public objectives which may include economic and regional fairness, and
recognition of the historical reliance upon, and participation in, the fishery by non-"
aboriginal groups. Aboriginal people are entitled to be consulted about limitations on the
exercise of treaty and aboriginal rights. The Minister has available for regulatory
purposes the full range of resource management tools and techniques, provided their use
to limit the exercise of a treaty right can be justified on conservation or other grounds.
The Coalition's application is based on a misconception of the scope of the Court's
majority judgment of September 17, 1999 and the appellant should not have his acquittal
kept in jeopardy while issues much broader than the specifics of his prosecution are
litigated.
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MOTION FOR REHEARING AND STAY of R. v. Marshall, rendered September 17,
1999. Motion dismissed.

Written submissions by A. William Moreira, Q.C., for the applicant the West Nova
Fishermen's Coalition.

Written submissions by Bruce H. Wzldsmzth Q.C., for Donald John Marshall, Jr.,
respondent on the motion.

Written submissions by Graham Garton, Q.C., and Robert J. Frater, for Her Majesty the
Queen, respondent on the motion.

Written submissions by D. Bruce Clarke, for the Native Council of Nova Scotia,
respondent on the motion. '

Written submissions by Henry J. Bear, for the Union of New Brunswick Indians,
respondent on the motion. '
Solicitors for the applicant the West Nova Fishermen's Coalition): Daley, Black &
Moreira, Halifax.

Solicitor for Donald John Marshall, Jr., respondent on the motion: Bruce H. Wildsinith,
Barss Corners, Nova Scotia.

Solicitor for Her Majesty the Queen, respondent on the motion: The Attorney General of
Canada, Ottawa. ‘ . ]
Solicitors for the the Native Council of Nova Scotia, respondent on the motion: Burchell,
Hayman, Barnes, Halifax.

. Solicitors for the Union of New Brunswick Indians, respondent on the motion: Getty,

Bear, Fredericton.

€THE COURT:

1 The intervener, the West Nova Fishermen's Coalition ("the Coalition"), applies for a
rehearing to have the Court address the regulatory authority of the Government of
Canada over the east coast fisheriés together with a new trial to allow the Crown to
justify for conservation or other purposes the licensing and closed season restriction on
the exercise of the appellant's treaty right, and for an order that the Court's judgment,
dated September 17, 1999, be stayed in the meantime. The application is opposed by the
Crown, the appellant Marshall and the other interveners.

2 Those opposing the motion object in different ways that the Coalition's motion rests on
a series of misconceptions about what the September 17, 1999 majority judgment decided
and what it did not decide. These objections are well founded. The Court did not hold that
the Mi'kmaq treaty right cannot be regulated or that the Mi'kmaq are guaranteed an open
season in the fisheries. Justification for conservation or other purposes is a separate and
distinct issue at the trial of one of these prosecutions. It is up to the Crown to decide
whether or not it wishies to support the appllcablhty of government regulations when
prosecuting an accused who claims to be exercising an aboriginal or treaty right.

3 The Attomney General of Canada, in opposing the Coalition's motion, acknowledges
that the Crown did not lead any evidence at trial or make any argument on the appeal that
the licensing and closed season regulations which restricted the exercise of the treaty
right were justified in relation to the eel fishery. Accordingly, the issue whether these’
restrictions could have been justified in this case formed no part of the Court's majority
judgment of September 17, 1999, and the constitutional question posed in this
prosecution was answered on that basis.

The September 17, 1999 Acquittal




4 In its majority judgment, the Court acquitted the appellant of charges arising out of
catching 463 pounds of eel and selling them for $787.10. The acquittal was based on a
treaty made with the British in 1760, and more particularly, on the oral terms reflected in
documents made by the British at the time of the negotiations but recorded incompletely
in the “truckhouse" clause of the written treaty. The treaty right permits the Mi'kmaq
community to work for a living through continuing access to fish and wildlife to trade for
"necessanies”, which a majority of the Court interpreted as “food, clothing and housing,
supplemented by a few amenities".

5 The Coalition argues that the native and non-native fishery should be subject to the
same regulations. In fact, as pointed out in the September 17, 1999 majority judgment,
natives and non-natives were subject to the unilateral regulatory authority of successive
governments from 1760-61 to 1982. Until adoption of the Constitution Act, 1982, the
appellant would clearly have been subject to regulations under the federal Fisheries Act
and predecessor enactments in the same way and to the same extent as members of the
applicant Coalition unless given a regulatory exemption as a matter of government
policy.

6 As further pointed out in the September 17, 1999 majority judgment, the framers of the
Constitution caused existing aboriginal and treaty rights to be entrenched in s. 35 of the
Constitution Act, 1982. This gave constitutional status to rights that were previously
vulnerable to unilateral extinguishment. The constitutional language necessarily included
the 1760-61 treaties, and did not, on its face, refer expressly to a power to regulate.
Section 35(1) simply says that “[t]he existing aboriginal and treaty rights of the aboriginal
peoples of Canada are hereby recognized and affirmed"”. In subsequent cases, some
aboriginal peoples argued that, as no regulatory restrictions on their rights were expressed
in plain language in the Constitution, none could be imposed except by constitutional
amendment. On the other hand, some of the Attorneys General argued that as aboriginal
and treaty rights had always been vulnerable to unilateral regulation and extinguishment
by government, this vulnerability was itself part of the rights now entrenched in s. 35 of
the Constitution Act, 1982. In a series of important decisions commencing with R. v.
Sparrow, [1990] 1 S.C.R. 1057, which arose in the context of the west coast fishery, this
Court affirmed that s. 35 aboriginal and treaty rights are subject to regulation, provided
such regulation is shown by the Crown to be justified on conservation or other grounds of
public importance. A series of tests to establish such justification was laid out. These
cases were reférred toin the September 17, 1999 majority judgment, but the applicable
principles were not elaborated because justification was not an issue which the Crown
chose to make part of this particular prosecution, and therefore neither the Crown nor the
defence had made submissions respecting the government's continuing powers of
regulation. The Coalition recognizes that it is raising a new issue. It submits “that it is
‘plain in the Reasons for Judgment, and in the earlier decisions of the Provincial Court of
Nova Scotia at trial and of the Nova Scotia Court of Appeal on initial appeal, that that
issue [of regulatory justification] has been neither considered nor decided.”

7 The Coalition nevertheless says it would be an "injustice" to its members if the
appellant is not put through a new trial on the issue of justification. The Coalition asks
the Court in effect to transform the proceeding retroactively into an advisory reference or
declaratory action. The Attorney General of Canada objects to this transformation. It was
the Crown's decision to proceed against the appellant by way of an ordinary prosecution.
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The appellant responded to the Crown's evidence. He was found not guilty of the case put
against him. '
No Stay of Judgment

8 The appellant, like any other accused who is found to be not guilty, is ordinarily
entitled to an immediate acquittal, not a judgment that is suspended while the government
considers the wider implications of an unsuccessful prosecution. The Attorney General of
Canada did not at the hearing of this appeal, and does not now in its response to the
Coalition's motion, apply for a stay of the effect of the Court's recognition and
affirmation of the Mi'’kmaq treaty right. Should such an application be made, the Court
will hear argument on whether it has the jurisdiction to grant such a stay, and if so,
whether it ought to do so in this case. |

Status of the West Nova Fishermen's Coalition

9 Those in opposition challenge the status of the Coalition to bring thlS application. It is
argued that the Coalition, being an intervener, does not have the rights of a party to ask
for a rehearing. The Coalition was added as an intervener to this proceeding by order
dated April 7, 1998. Pursuant to s. 1 of the Rules of the Supreme Court of Canada,
SOR/83-74, as pointed out by the Coalition in its Reply, an intervener enjoys the status of
a party to the appeal unless the text of a particular rule provides otherwise or unless the
context of a particular rule does not so permit. While it would only.be in exceptional
circumstances that the Court would entertain an intervener's application for a rehearing,
the extended definition of “party” in s. 1 of the Rules gives the Court the jurisdiction to
do so. Not only are there no such exceptional circumstances here, but also the Coalition's
motion violates the basis on which interveners are permitted to participate in an appeal in
the first place, which is that interveners accept the record as defined by the Crown and
the defence. Moreover, in so far as the Coalition's questions are capable of being
answered on the trial record in this case, the responses are already evident in the
September 17, 1999 majority judgment and the prior decisions of this Court therein
referred to. The Crown, the appellant Marshall and the other interveners all oppose a new
trial on the issue of justification. They are right to do so, for the reasons whlch follow.

10 The Coalition requests a rehearing on the following issues:

1 Whether the appellant is entitled to have been acquitted on a charge of unlicensed sale
of fish, contrary to s. 35(2) of the Fishery (General) Regulations, in the absence of a new
(or further) trial on the issue of whether that Regulation is or can be justified by the
government of Canada;

2 Whether the appellant is entitled to have been acquitted on a charge of out-of-season
fishing, contrary to Item 2 of Schedule II of the Maritime Provinces Fishery
Regulations, in the absence of a new (or further) trial on the issue of whether those
Regulations are or can be justified by the government of Canada;

3 Whether the government of Canada has power to regulate the exercise by Mi'kmaq
persons, including the appellant, of their treaty right to fish through the imposition of
licensing requirements;

4 Whether the government of Canada has power to regulate the exercise by Mi'kmaq
persons, including the appellant, of their treaty right to fish through the imposition of
closed seasons;

5 In any event, what is the scope of regulatory power possessed by the government of
Canada for purposes of regulating the treaty right; and




6 ... pursuant to section 27 of the Rules of the Supreme Court of Canada, requests an
Order that [the Court's] judgment pronounced herein on the 17th day of September, 1999
be stayed pending disposition of the rehearing of the appeal, if ordered.

11 These questions, together with the Coalition's request for a stay of judgment, reflect a
basic misunderstanding of the scope of the Court's majority reasons for judgment dated
September 17, 1999. As stated, this was a prosecution of a private citizen. It required the
Court to determine whether certain precise charges relating to the appellant's participation
in the eel fishery could be sustained. The majority judgment of September 17, 1999 was
limited to the issues necessary to dispose of the appellant's guilt or innocence.

12 An order suspending the effect of a judgment of this Court is infrequently granted,
especially where (as here) the parties have not requested such an order. This was not a
reference to determine the general validity of legislative and regulatory provisions, as
was the case, for example, in Reference re Manitoba Language Rights, [1985] 1 S.C.R.
721, where the Court suspended its declaration of invalidity of Manitoba enactments until
“the expiry of the minimum period required for translation, re-enactment, printing and
publishing". Nor was this a case where the Court was asked to grant declaratory relief
with respect to the invalidity of statutory provisions, as in M. v. H., [1999] 2S.C.R. 3,
where the Court suspended the effect of its declaration of invalidity of the definition of
“spouse" for the purpose of s. 29 of the Ontario Family Law Act, R.S.0O. 1990, c. F. 3, for
a period of six months to enable the legislature to consider appropriate amendments.

13 Here the Crown elected to test the treaty issue by way of a prosecution, which is”
governed by a different set of rules than is a reference or a declaratory action. This appeal
was directed solely to the issue whether the Crown had proven the appellant guilty as
charged. In his defence, the appellant established that the collective treaty right held by
his community allowed him to fish for eels in what was described as "a small-scale
commercial activity to help subsidize or support himself and his common-law spouse”,
and that the existing regulations under the Fisheries Act, R.S.C., 1985, c. F-14, had not
recognized or accommodated that treaty right.

14 As stated in para. 56 of the September 17, 1999 majority judgment, the treaty nght
was “to continue to obtain necessaries through hunting and fishing by trading the
products of those traditional activities subject to restrictions that can be justified under

the Badger test" (emphasis added). The Badger test (R. v. Badger, [1996] 1 S.C.R. 771)
will be discussed below. The Crown, as stated, did not offer any evidence or argument
justifying the licensing and closed season restrictions (referred to in the statute and
regulations as a “close time™) on the appellant's exercise of the collective treaty right,
such as (for example) a need to conserve and protect the ecl population. The eel
population may not in fact require protection from commercial exploitation. Such was the
assertion of the Native Council of Nova Scotia in opposition to the Coalition's motion:

... Mr. Marshall was fishing eels. There are no possible conservatior issues involving the
ecl fishery. They are not an endangered species and there is no significant non-native
commercial fishery. They are a traditional harvest species, being harvested by Mr.
Marshall in a traditional method and in relatively small quantities. There is simply no
justificatory evidence that the Crown could have led. ‘

The Attorney General of Canada's written argument on the appeal to this Court
specifically stated that “[s]ince no such treaty rights have been established in this case,
then there was no requirement for the Crown to justify its Fisheries Act regulations in
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accordance with R. v. Sparrow, [supra], or R. v. Gladstone, [[1996] 2 S.C.R. 723]". The
written argument of the Attorney General for New Brunswick did not refer to the issue of
justification at all, and neither the Attorney General of Nova Scotia nor the Attorney
General of Prince Edward Island intervened on the appeal. The majority judgment
delivered on September 17, 1999, therefore directed the acquittal of the appellant on the
evidence brought against him. The issue of justification was not before the Court and no
judgment was made about whether or not such restrictions could have been justified in
relation to the eel fishery had the Crown led evidence and argument to support their
applicability.

Grounds on which the Coalition Secks a Rehearing

1. Whether the appellant is entitled to have been acquitted on a charge of unlicensed sale
of fish, contrary to s. 35(2) of the Fishery (General) Regulations, in the absence of a new’
(or further) trial on the issue of whether that Regulation is or can be justified by the

- government of Canada.

15 The appellant, as any other citizen facing a prosecution, is entitled to know in a timely
way the case he has to meet, and to be afforded the opportunity to answer it. The
Coalition seeks a new trial on a new issue. The September 17, 1999 majority decision
specifically noted at para. 4 that the treaty right

. was always subject to regulation. The Crown does not suggest that the regulations in
qucstxon accommodate the treaty right. The Crown's case is that no such treaty right
exists. Further, no argument was made that the treaty right was extinguished prior to

-[enactment of the Constitution Act, 1982], and no justification was offered by the Crown

for the several prohibitions at issue in this case. [Emphasis added.]
The Attorney General of Canada affirms in opposition to the Coalition's motion the

limited nature of the issues raised at trial:

In this case, the intervener wishes to contest the appellant s entitlement to an acquittal by
raising issues as to whether the regulations under which the appellant was charged could
be justified in accordance with the test in R. v. Sparrow. That would clearly be a new
issue in the proceedings. It is not open to the intervener to raise an issue that did not arise
between the parties to the appeal. [Emphasis added.]

In its Reply, the Coalition argues that to require the parties to deal with the issue of
regulatory justification in the same trial as treaty entitlement "would be to impose an
unreasonable and unworkable burden in aboriginal rights litigation at the trial level".
Whatever may be the advantages or disadvantages of splitting these issues into a two-
stage trial, no such proposal was made to the trial judge by the parties, and no such
procedure was considered, much less adopted, in this case. As stated, the Crown here
opposes a rehearing and opposes a new trial. The issues of concern to the Coalition
largely relate to the lobster fishery, not the eel fishery, and, if necessary, can be raised
and decided in future cases that involve the specifics of the lobster fishery. It is up to the
Crown to initiate enforcement action in the lobster and other fisheries if and when it
chooses to do so. ,

2. Whether the appellant is entitled to have been acquitted on a charge of out-of-season
fishing, contrary to Item 2 of Schedule Il of the Maritime Provinces Fishery Regulations,
in the absence of a new (or further) trial on the issue of whether those Regulattons are or
can be justified by the govemment of Canada.




16 The Coalition argues that a rehearing and a further trial are necessary because of
“uncertainty" about the authority of the government to manage the fisheries. The
Attomey General of Canada, acting on behalf of the federal government which regulates
the fisheries, opposes the Coalition's position.

17 In the event of another prosecution under the regulations, the Crown will (as it did in
this case) have the onus of establishing the factual elements of the offence. The onus will
then switch to the accused to demonstrate that he or she is a member of an aboriginal
community in Canada with which one of the local treaties described in the September 17,
1999 majority judgment was made, and was engaged in the exercise of the community's
collective right to hunt or fish in that community's traditional hunting and fishing
grounds. The Court's majority judgment noted in para. 5 that no treaty was made by the
British with the Mi'kmaq population as a whole: £

.. the British signed a series of agreements with individual Mi'kmaq communities in .

1760 and 1761 intending to have them consolidated into a comprehensive Mi'kmaq treaty
that was never in fact brought into existence. The trial judge, Embree Prov. Ct. J., found
that by the end of 1761 all of the Mi'kmagq villages in Nova Scotia had entered into
separate but similar treaties. [Emphasis added.]

The British Governor in Halifax thus proceeded on the basis that local chiefs had no
authority to promise peace and friendship on behalf of other local chiefs in other
communities, or to secure treaty benefits on their behalf. The treaties were local and the
reciprocal benefits were local. In the absence of a fresh agreement with the Crown, the
exercise of the treaty rights will be limited to the area traditionally used by the local
community with which the "separate but similar" treaty was made. Moreover, the treaty
rights do not belong to the individual, but are exerc1scd by authority of the local
community to which the accused belongs, and their exercise is limited to the purpose of
obtaining from the identified resources the wherewithal to trade for "necessaries".

18 The September 17,1999 majority judgment further pointed out that the accused will
be required to demonstrate (as the appellant did here) that the regulatory regime
significantly restricts the exercise of the treaty right. The majority judgment concluded on
this point, at para. 64, that:

In the circumstances, the purported regulatory prohibitions against fishing without a
licence (Maritime Provinces Fishery Regulations, s. 4(1)(a)) and of selling eels without a -
licence (Fishery (General) Regulations, s. 35(2)) do prima facie infringe the appellant s
treaty rights under the Treaties of 1760-61 and are inoperative against the appellant
unless justified under the Badger test. [Emphasis added.]

19 At the end of the day, it is always open to the Minister (as it was here) to seek to
justify the limitation on the treaty right because of the need to conserve the resource in
question or for other compelling and substantial public objectives, as discussed below.
Equally, it will be open to an accused in future cases to try to show that the treaty right
was intended in 1760 by both sides to include access to resources other than fish, wildlife
and traditionally gathered things such as fruits and berries. The word “gathering" in the
September 17, 1999 majority judgment was used in connection with the types of the
resources tradmonally “gathered” in an aboriginal economy and which were thus
reasonably in the contemiplation of the parties to the 1760-61 treaties. While treaty rights
are capable of evolution within limits, as discussed below, their subject matter (absent a
new agreement) cannot be wholly transformed. Certain unjustified assumptions are made
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in this regard by the Native Council of Nova Scotia on this motion about “the effect of
the economic treaty right on forestry, minerals and natural gas deposits offshore”. The
Union of New Brunswick Indians also suggested on this motion a need to "negotiate an
integrated approach dealing with all resources coming within the purview of fishing,
hunting and gathering which includes harvesting from the sea, the forests and the land".
This extended interpretation of “gathering” is not dealt with in the September 17, 1999
majority judgment, and negotiations with respect to such resources as logging, minerals
or offshore natural gas deposits would go beyond the subject matter of this appeal.
20.The September 17, 1999 majority judgment did not rule that the appellant had
established a treaty right “to gather" anything and everything physically capable of being
gathered. The issues were much narrower and the ruling was much narrower. No
evidence was drawn to our attention, nor was any argument made in the course of this
appeal, that trade in logging or minerals, or the exploitation of off-shore natural gas
deposits, was in the contemplation of either or both parties to the 1760 treaty; nor was the
argument made that exploitation of such resources could be considered a logical
evolution of treaty rights to fish and wildlife or to the type of things traditionally
“gathered" by the Mi'kmagq in a 1760 aboriginal lifestyle. It is of course open to native
communities to assert broader treaty rights in that regard, but if so, the basis for such a
claim will have to be established in proceedings where the issue is squarely raised on
proper historical evidence, as was done in this case in relation to fish and wildlife. Other
resources were simply not addressed by the parties, and therefore not addressed by the
Court in its September 17, 1999 majority judgment. As acknowledged by the Union of
New Brunswick Indians in opposition to the Coalition's motion, “there are cases wending -
their way through the lower courts dealing specifically with some of these potential
issues such as cutting timber on Crown lands".
21 The fact the Crown elected not to try to justify a closed season on the eel fishery at
issue in this case cannot be generalised, as the Coalition's question implies, to a
conclusion that closed seasons can never be imposed as part of the government's
regulation of the Mi'kmagq limited commercial “right to fish". A "closed season" is clearly
a potentially available management tool, but its application to treaty rights will have to be
Justified for conservation or other purposes. In the absence of such justification, an
accused who establishes a treaty right is ordinarily allowed to exercise it. As suggested in
the expert evidence filed on this motion by thé Union of New Brunswick Indians, the
establishment of a closed season may raise very different conservation and other issues in
the eel fishery than it does in relation to other species such as salmon, crab, cod or
lobster, or for that matter, to moose and other wildlife. The complexities and techniques
of fish and wildlife management vary from species to species and restrictions will likely
have to be justified on-a species-by-species basis. Evidence supporting closure of the wild
salmon fishery is not necessarily transferable to justify closure of an eel fishery.
22 Resource conservation and management and allocation of the permissible catch
inevitably raise matters of considerable complexity both for Mi'kmaq peoples who seek
to work for a living under the protection of the treaty right, and for governments who
seek to justify the regulation of that treaty right. The factual context, as this case shows,
is of great importance, and the merits of the government's justification may vary from
resource to resource, species to species, community to community and time to time. As
this and other courts have pointed out on many occasions, the process of accommodation



of the treaty right may best be resolved by consultation and negotiation of a modem
agreement for participation in specified resources by the Mi'kmagq rather than by
litigation. The Chief Justice emphasized in Delgamuukw v. British Columbia, [1997] 3
S.C.R. 1010 (a case cited in the September 17, 1999 majority decision), at para. 207:
On a final note, I wish to emphasize that the best approach in these types of cases is a
process of negotiation and reconciliation that properly considers the complex and
competing interests at stake.

23 The vanious governmental, aboriginal and other interests are not, of course, obliged to
reach an agreement. In the absence of a mutually satisfactory solution, the courts will
resolve the points of conflict as they arise case by case. The decision in this particular
prosecution is authority only for the matters adjudicated upon. The acquittal ought not to
be set aside to allow the Coalition to address new issues that were ngither raised by the
parties nor determined by the Court in the September 17, 1999 majority judgment.’

3. Whether the government of Canada has power to regulate the exercise by Mi'kmaq
persons, including the appellant, of their treaty right to fish through the zmposmon of
licensing requirements.

24 The Government's power to regulate the treaty right is repeatedly affirmed in the
September 17, 1999 majority judgment. In addition to the reference at para. 4 of the
majority decision, already mentioned, that the treaty right “was always subject to
regulation", the majority judgment further stated, at para. 7,

In my view, the treaty rights are limited to securing “necessaries" (which I construe in the
modern context, as equivalent to a moderate livelihood), and do not extend to the open-
ended accumulation of wealth. The rights thus construed, however, are, in my opinion,
treaty rights within the meaning of s. 35 of the Constitution Act, 1982, and are subject to
regulations that can be justified under the Badger test.... [Emphasis added.]

At para. 38, the majority judgment noted that:

Dr. Patterson went on to emphasize that the understanding of the Ml'kmaq would have
been that these treaty rights were subject to regulation, which I accept.

At para. 58, the limited nature of the right was reiterated:

What is contemplated therefore is not a right to trade generally for economic gain, but
rather a right to trade for necessaries. The treaty right is a regulated right and can be
contained by regulation within its proper limits. [Emphasis added.]

At para. 64, the majority judgment again referred to regulation permitted by the Badger
test. The Court was thus most explicit in confirming the regulatory authority of the
federal and provincial govemments within their respective legislative fields to regulate
the exercise of the treaty right subject to the constitutional requirement that restraints on
the exercise of the treaty right have to be justified on the basis of conservation or other
compelling and substantial public objectives, discussed below.

25 With all due respect to the Coalition, the government's general regulatory power is
clearly affirmed. It is difficult to believe that further repetition of this fundamental point
after a rehearing would add anything of significance to what is already stated in the
September 17, 1999 majority judgment.

26 As for the specific matter of licences, the conclus1on of the majority judgment was not
that licensing schemes as such are invalid, but that the imposition of a licensing
restriction on the appellant's exercise of the treaty right had not been justified for
conservation or other public purposes. The Court majority stated at para. 64:
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... under the applicable regulatory regime, the appellant's exercise of his treaty right to
fish and trade for sustenance was exercisable only at the absolute discretion of the
Minister. Mi'kmaq treaty rights were not accommodated in the Regulations because,
presumably, the Crown's position was, and continues to be, that no such treaty rights
existed. In the circumstances, the purported regulatory prohibitions ... are inoperative
against the appellant unless justified under the Badger test. [Emphasis added.]
27 Although no evidence or argument was put forward to justify the licensing
requirement in this case, a majority of the Court nevertheless referred at para. 64 of its
September 17, 1999 decision to R. v. Nikal, [1996] 1 S.C.R. 1013, where Cory J., for the
Court, dealt with a licensing issue as follows, at paras. 91 and 92:
With respect to licensing, the appellant [aboriginal accused] takes the position that once
his rights have been established, anything which affects or interferes with the exercise of
those rights, no matter how insignificant, constitutes a prima facie infringement. It is said
that a licence by its very existence is an infringement of the aboriginal right since it infers
that government permission is needed to exercise the right and that the appellant is not
free to follow his own or his band's discretion in exercising that right.
This position cannot be correct. It has frequently been said that rights do not existin a
vacuum, and that the rights of one individual or group is [sic] necessarily limited by the
rights of another. The ability to exercise personal or group rights is necessarily limited by
the rights of others. The government must ultimately be able to determine and direct the
way in which these rights should interact. Absolute freedom in the exercise of even a
Charter or constitutionally guaranteed aboriginal right has never been accepted, nor was
it intended. Section 1 of the Canadian Charter of Rights and Freedoms is perhaps the
prime example of this principle. Absolute freedom without any restriction necessarily
infers a freedom to live without any laws. Such a concept is not acceptable in our society.
28 The justification for a licensing requirement depends on facts. The Crown in-this case
declined to offer evidence or argument to support the imposition of a licensing -
requirement in relation to the small-scale commercial eel fishery in which the appellant
participated.
4. Whether the government of Canada has power to regulate the exercise by Mi'kmagq
persons, including the appellant, of their treaty right to fish through the imposition of
closed seasons.
29 The regulatory device of a closed season is at least in part directed at conservation of
the resource. Conservation has always been recognized to be a justification of paramount
importance to limit the exercise of treaty and aboriginal rights in the decisions of this
Court cited in the majority decision of September 17, 1999, including Sparrow, supra,
and Badger, supra. As acknowledged by the Native Council of Nova Scotia in opposition
to the Coalition's motion, "Conservation is clearly a first priority and the Aboriginal
peoples accept this". Conservation, where necessary, may require the complete shutdown
of a hunt or a fishery for aboriginal and non-aboriginal alike. '
30 In this case, the prosecution of the appellant was directed to a “closed season" in the
eel fishery which the Crown did not try to justify, and that is the precise context in which
the majority decision of September 17, 1999 is to be understood. No useful purpose --
would be served for those like the Coalition who are interested in justifying a closed
season in the lobster fishery if a rehearing or a new trial were ordered in this case, which
related only to the closed season in the eel fishery.




5. In any event, what is the scope of regulatory power possessed by the government of
Canada for purposes of regulating the treaty right?

31 On the face of it, this question is not raised by the subject matter of the appeal, nor is it
capable of being answered on the factual record. As framed, it is so broad as to be ,
incapable of a detailed response. In effect, the Coalition seeks to transform a prosecution
on specific facts into a general reference seeking an advisory opinion of the Court on a
broad range of regulatory issues related to the east coast fisheries. As was explained in
Reference re Secession of Quebec, [1998] 2 S.C.R. 217, the Court's jurisdiction to give
advisory opinions is exceptional and can be invoked only by the Governor in Council
under s. 53 of the Supreme Court Act, R.S.C., 1985, c. S-26. In this instance, the
Govemor in Council has not sought an advisory opinion from the Court and the Attorney
General of Canada opposes the Coalition's attempt to initiate what she-calls a “private
reference".

32 Mention has already been made of “the Badger test" by which governments may
Justify restrictions on the exercise of treaty rights. The Court in Badger extended to
treaties the justificatory standard developed for aboriginal rights in Sparrow, supra. Cory
J. set out the test at para. 97 as follows:

In Sparrow, at p. 1113, it was held that in considering whether an mfnngcment of
aboriginal or treaty rights could be justified, the following questions should be addressed
sequentially:

First, is there a valid legislative objective? Here the court would inquire into whether the
objective of Parliament in authorizing the department to enact regulations regarding
fisheries is valid. The objective of the department in setting out the particular regulations
would also be scrutinized....

At page 1114, the next step was set out in this way:

If a valid legislative objective is found, the analysis proceeds to the second part of the
Justification issue. Here, we refer back to the guiding interpretive principle derived from
Taylor and Williams and Guerin, supra. That is, the honour of the Crown is at stake in
dealings with aboriginal peoples. The special trust relationship and the responsibility of
the government vis-a-vis aboriginals must be the first consideration in determining
whether the legislation or action in question can be justified....

Finally, at p. 1119, it was noted that further questions might also arise depending on the
circumstances of the inquiry:

These include the questions of whether there has been @Mlgw in
order to effect the desired result; whether, in a situation of expropriation, fair
compensation is available; and, whether the aboriginal group in question has been
consulted with respect to the conservation measures being implemented. The abori ginal
peoples, with their history of conservation-consciousness and interdependence with
natural resources, would surely be expected, at thie least, to be informed regarding the
determination of an appropriate scheme for the regulation of the fisheries.

We would not wish to set out an exhaustive list of the factors to be considered in the
assessment of justification. Suffice it to say that recognition and affirmation requires
sensitivity to and respect for the rights of aboriginal peoples on behalf of the government,
courts and indeed all Canadians. (Emphasns added [by Cory J. in Badger].)

33 The majority judgment of September 17, 1999 did not put in doubt the validity of the

Fisheries Act or any of its provisions. What it said, in para. 66, was that, "the close
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season and the imposition of a discretionary licensing system would, if enforced, interfere
with the appellant's treaty right to fish for trading purposes, and the ban on sales would, if
enforced, infringe his right to trade for sustenance. In the absence of any justification of
the regulatory prohibitions, the appellant is entitled to an acquittal” (emphasis added).
Section 43 of the Act sets out the basis of a very broad regulatory authority over the
fisheries which may extend to the native fishery where justification is shown:
REGULATIONS

43 The Governor in Council may make regulations for carrying out the purposes and
provisions of this Act and in particular, but without restricting the generality of the
foregoing, may make regulations

. (a)for the proper management and control of the sea-coast and inland fisheries;

(b)respecting the conservation and protection of fish; : s
(c)respecting the catching, loading, landing, handling, transporting, possession and

disposal of fish;

(d)respecting the operation of fishing vessels;

(e)respecting the use of fishing gear and equipment;

(e.1)respecting the marking, identification and tracking of fishing vessels;

(e.2)respecting the designation of persons as observers, their duties and their carriage on

board fishing vessels;

(Nrespecting the issue, suspension and cancellation of licences and leases;

(g)respecting the terms and conditions under which a licence and lease may be issued;
(g.1)respecting any records, books of account or other documents to be kept under this

Act and the manner and form in which and the period for which they shall be kept;
(g-2respecting the manner in which records, books of account or other documents shall
be produced and information shall be provided under this Act;

(h)respecting the obstruction and pollution of any waters frequented by fish;
(Drespecting the conservation and protection of spawning grounds;

(respecting the export of fish or any part thereof from Canada;

(K)respecting the taking or carrying of fish or any part thereof from one province to any
other province; '

(Dprescribing the powers and duties of persons engaged or employed in the
administration or enforcement of this Act and providing for the carrying out of those
powers and duties; and o

(m)where a close time, fishing quota or limit on the size or weight of fish has been fixed
in respect of an area under the regulations, authorizing persons referred to in paragraph
() to vary the close time, fishing quota or limit in respect of that area or any portion of
that area.

[Emphasis added.] .

(Pursuant to this regulatory power, the Governor in Council had, in fact, adopted the
Aboriginal Communal Fishing Licences Regulations, discussed below.) Although s. 7(1)
of the Fisheries Act purports to grant the Minister an "absolute discretion" to issue or not
to issue leases and licences, this discretion must be read together with the authority of the
Govemor in Council under s. 43(f) to make regulations "respecting the issue, suspension
and cancellation of licences and leases". Specific criteria must be established for the
exercise by the Minister of his or her discretion to grant or refuse licences in a manner
that recognizes and accommodates the existence of an aboriginal or treaty right. In R. v. -




Adams, {1996] 3 S.C.R. 101, also cited in the September 17, 1999 majority judgment, the
Chief Justice stated as follows at para. 54:

In light of the Crown's unique fiduciary obligations towards aboriginal peoples,
Parliament may not simply adopt an unstructured discretionary administrative regime
which risks infringing aboriginal rights in a substantial number of applications in the

absence of some explicit guidance. If a statute confers an administrative discretion which .

may carry significant consequences for the exercise of an aboriginal right, the statute or
its delegate regulations must outline specific criteria for the granting or refusal of that
discretion which seek to accommodate the existence of aboriginal rights. In the absence
of such specific guidance, the statute will fail to provide representatives of the Crown
with sufficient directives to fulfil their fiduciary duties, and the statute will be found to
represent an infringement of aboriginal rights under the Sparrow test. [Emphasis added.}
While Adams dealt with an aboriginal right, the same principle applies to treaty rights.

34 The Aboriginal Communal Fishing Licences Regulations, SOR/93-332, referred to in
the September 17, 1999 majority judgment, deal with the food fishery. These regulations
provide specific authority to impose conditions where justified respecting the species and
quantities of fish that are permitted to be taken or transported; the locations and times at
which landing of fish is permitted; the method to be used for the landing of fish and the
methods by which the quantity of the fish is to be determined; the information that a
designated person or the master of a designated vessel is to report to the Minister or a
person specified by the licence holder, prior to commencement of fishing; the locations
and times of inspections of the contents of the hold and the procedure to be used in
conducting those inspections; the maximum number of persons or vessels that may be
designated to carry on fishing and related activities; the maximum number of designated
persons who may fish at any one time; the type, size and quantity of fishing gear that may
be used by a designated person; and the disposition of fish caught under the authority of
the licence. The Governor in Council has the power to amend the Aboriginal Communal
Fishing Licences Regulations to accommodate a limited commercial fishery as described
in the September 17, 1999 majority judgment in addition to the food fishery.

35 Despite the limitations on the Court's ability in a prosecution to address broader issues
not at issue between the Crown and the defence, the majority judgment of September 17,
1999 nevertheless referred to the Court's principal pronouncements on the various
grounds on which the exercise of treaty rights may be regulated. These include the
following grounds:

36 (a) The treaty nght itself is a limited right. The September 17, 1999 majority judgment
referred to the "narrow ambit and extent of the treaty right" (para. 57). In its written
argument, the Coalition says that the only regulatory method specified in that judgment
was a limit on the quantities of fish required to satisfy the Mi'kmaq need for necessaries.

This is not so. What the majority judgment said is that the Mi'kmagq treaty right does not

extend beyond the quantities required to satisfy the need for necessaries. The Court stated
at para. 61 of the September 17, 1999 majority judgment:

Catch limits that could reasonably be expected to produce a moderate livelihood for
individual Mi'kmagq families at present-day standards can be established by regulation
and enforced without violating the treaty right. In that case, the regulations would
accommodate the treaty right. Such regulations would not constitute an infringement that
would have to be justified under the Badger standard. [Emphasis by underlining added.]
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37 In other words, regulations that do no more than reasonably define the Mi'kmaq treaty
right in terms that can be administered by the regulator and understood by the Mi‘kmaq
community that holds the treaty rights do not impair the exercise of the treaty right and
therefore do not have to meet the Badger standard of justification.

38 Other limitations apparent in the September 17, 1999 majority judgment include the
local nature of the treaties, the communal nature of a treaty right, and the fact it was only
hunting and fishing resources to which access was affirmed, together with traditionally
gathered things like wild fruit and berries. With regard to the Coalition's concern about
the fishing rights of its members, para. 38 of the September 17, 1999 majority judgment
noted the trial judge's finding that the Mi'kmaq had been fishing to trade with non-natives
for over 200 years prior to the 1760-61 treaties. The 1760-61 treaty rights were thus from
their inception enjoyed alongside the commercial and recreational fishery of non-natives.
Paragraph 42 of the September 17, 1999 majority judgment recognized that, unlike the
scarce fisheries resources of today, the view in 1760 was that the fisheries were of
“limitless proportions". On this point, it was noted in para. 53 of the September 17, 1999
majority judgment:

It was established in Simon, [Simon v. The Queen, [1985] 2 S.C.R. 387}, at p. 402, that
treaty provisions should be interpreted "in a flexible way that is sensitive to the evolution
of changes in normal" practice, and Sundown [R. v. Sundown, [1999] 1 S.C.R. 393], at
para. 32, confirms that courts should not use a "frozen-in-time" approach to treaty rights.
The Mi'kmagq treaty right to participate in the largely unregulated commercial fishery of
1760 has evolved into a treaty right to participate in the largely regulated commercial
fishery of the 1990s. The notion of equitable sharing seems to be endorsed by the
Coalition, which refers in its written argument on the motion to "the equal importance of
the fishing industry to both Mi'kmaq and non-Mi'kmaq persons". In its Reply, the
Coalition says that it is engaged in discussions "with representatives of the Acadia and
Bear River Bands in southwestern Nova Scotia and takes pride that those discussions
have been productive and that there is reason to hope that they will lead to harmonious
and mutually beneficial participation in the commercial lobster fishery by members of
those Bands". Equally, the Mi'kmagq treaty right to hunt and trade in game is not now, any
more than it was in 1760, a commercial hunt that must be satisfied before non-natives
have access to the same resources for recreational or commercial purposes. The emphasis

-1in 1999, as it was in 1760, is on assuring the Mi'kmaq equitable access to identified

resources for the purpose of earning a moderate living. In this respect, a treaty right
differs from an aboriginal right which in its origin, by definition, was exclusively

~ exercised by aboriginal people prior to contact with Europeans.

39 Only those regulatory limits that take the Mi'kmagq catch below the quantities
reasonably expected to produce a moderate livelihood or other limitations that are not
inherent in the limited nature of the treaty right itself have to be justified according to the
Badger test. '

40 (b)The paramount regulatory objective is the conservation of the resource. This
responsibility is placed squarely on the Minister and not on the aboriginal or non-
aboriginal users of the resource. The September 17, 1999 majority decision referred to
Sparrow, supra, which affirmed the government's paramount authority to act in the
interests of conservation. This principle was repeated in R. v. Gladstone, [1996] 2 S.C.R.




723, Nikal, supra, Adams, supra, R. v. Cété, [1996] 3 S.C.R. 139, and Delgamuukw,
supra, all of which were referred to in the September 17, 1999 majority judgment.

41 (c) The Minister's authority extends to other compelling and substantial public
objectives which may include economic and regional fairness, and recognition of the
historical reliance upon, and participation in, the fishery by non-aboriginal groups. The
Minister's regulatory authority is not limited to conservation. This was recognized in the
submission of the appellant Marshall in opposition to the Coalition's motion. He
acknowledges that "it is clear that limits may be imposed to conserve the species/stock
being exploited and to protect public safety". Counsel for the appellant Marshall goes on
to say, "Likewise, Aboriginal harvesting preferences, together with non-Aboriginal
regional/community dependencies, may be taken into account in devising regulatory
schemes" (emphasis added). In Sparrow, supra, at p. 1119, the Court said “We would not
wish to set out an exhaustive list of the factors to be considered in the assessment of
justification". It is for the Crown to propose what controls are justified for the
management of the resource, and why they are justified. In Gladstone, supra (cited at
para. 57 of the September 17, 1999 majority judgment), the Chief Justice commented on
the differences between a native food fishery and a native commercial fishery, and stated
at para. 75 as follows:

Although by no means making a definitive statement on this issue, I would suggest that
with regards to the distribution of the fisheries resource after conservation goals have
been met, objectives such as the pursuit of economic and regional faimess, and the
recognition of the historical reliance upon, and participation in, the fishery by non-
aboriginal groups, are the type of objectives which can (at least in the right .
circumstances) satisfy this standard. In the right circumstances, such objectives are in the

interest of all Canadians and, more importantly, the reconciliation of aboriginal societies .

with the rest of Canadian society may well depend on their successful attainment. -
[Emphasis in original.}]

This observation applies with partxcular force to a treaty right. The aboriginal right at
issue in Gladstone, supra, was by definition exercised exclusively by aboriginal people
prior to contact with Europeans. As stated, no such exclusivity ever attached to the treaty
right at issue in this case. Although we note the acknowledgement of the appellant
Marshall that "non-Aboriginal regional/community dependencies ... may be taken into
account in devising mgulatory schemes", and the statements in Gladstone, supra, which
support this view, the Court again emphasizes that the specifics of any particular
regulatory regime were not and are not before us for decision.

42 In the case of any treaty right which may be exercised on a commercial scale, the
natives constitute only one group.of participants, and regard for the interest of the non-
natives, as stated in Gladstone, supra, may be shown in the right circumstances to be
entirely legitimate. Proportionality is an 1mportant factor. In asking for a rehearing, the
Coalition stated that it is the lobster fishery “in which the Applicant's members are
principally engaged and in which, since release of the Reasons for Judgment, controversy
as to exercise of the treaty right has most seriously arisen". In response, the affidavit
evidence of Dr. Gerard Hare, a fisheries biologist of some 30 years experience, was filed.
The correctness of Dr. Hare's evidence was not contested in reply by the Coalition. Dr.
Hare estimated that the non-native lobster fishery in Atlantic Canada, excluding
Newfoundland, sets about 1,885,000 traps in in-shore waters each year and “[t]o put the




situation in perspective, the recent Aboriginal commercial fisheries appear to be
minuscule in comparison”. It would be significant if it were established that the combined
aboriginal food and limited commercial fishery constitute only a “minuscule” percentage
of the non-aboriginal commercial catch of a particular species, such as lobster, bearing in
mind, however, that a fishery that is "“minuscule” on a provincial or regional basis could
nevertheless raise conservation issues on’a local level if it were concentrated in
vulnerable fishing grounds.
43 (d)Aboriginal people are entitled to be consulted about limitations on the exercise of
treaty and aboriginal rights. The Court has emphasized the importance in the
Jjustification context of consultations with aboriginal peoples. Reference has already been
made to the rule in Sparrow, supra, at p. 1114, repeated in Badger, supra, at para. 97,
that: : -
The special trust relationship and the responsibility of the government vis-a-vis
aboriginals must be the first consideration in determining whether the legislation or
action in question can be justified.
The special trust relationship includes the right of the treaty beneficiaries to be consulted
about restrictions on their rights, although, as stated in Delgamuukw, supra, at para. 168:
The nature and scope of the duty of consultation will vary with the circumstances.
This variation may reflect such factors as the seriousness and duration of the proposed
restriction, and whether or not the Minister is required to act in response to unforeseen or
urgent circumstances. As stated, if the consultation does not produce an agreement, the
adequacy of the justification of the government's initiative will have to be litigated in the
courts. : :
44-(e)The Minister has available for regulatory purposes the full range of resource
management tools and techniques, provided their use to limit the exercise of a treaty
right can be justified. If the Crown establishes that the limitations on the treaty right are
imposed for a pressing and substantial public purpose, after appropriate consultation with
the aboriginal community, and go no further than is required, the same techniques of
resource conservation and management as are used to control the non-native fishery may
be held to be justified. Equally, however, the concerns and proposals of the native
communities must be taken intoe account, and this might lead to different techniques of
conservation and management in respect of the exercise of the treaty right.
45 In its written argument on this appeal, the Coalition also argued that no treaty right
should “operate to involuntarily displace any non-aboriginal existing participant in any
commercial fishery", and that “neither the authors of the Constitution nor the judiciary
which interprets it are the appropriate persons to mandate who shall and shall not have
access to the commercial fisheries". The first argument amounts to saying that aboriginal
and treaty rights should be recognized only to the extent that such recognition would not
occasion disruption or inconvenience to non-aboriginal people. According to this
submission, if a treaty right would be disruptive, its existence should be denied or the
treaty right should be declared inoperative. This is not a legal principle. It is a political
argument. What is more, it is a political argument that was expressly rejected by the
political leadership when it decided to include s. 35 in the Constitution Act, 1982. The
democratically elected framers of the Constitution Act, 1982 provided in s. 35 that “[t]he
existing aboriginal and treaty rights of the aboriginal peoples of Canada are hereby
recognized and affirmed” (emphasis added). It is the obligation of the courts to give



effect to that national commitment. No useful purpose would be served by a rehearing of
this appeal to revisit such fundamental and incontrovertible principles.

6. ... pursuant to section 27 of the Rules of the Supreme Court of Canada, requests an
‘Order that [the Court's] judgment pronounced herein on the 17th day of September, 1999
be stayed pending disposition of the rehearing of the appeal, if ordered.

46 At no stage of this appeal, either before or after September 17, 1999, has any
government requested a stay or suspension of judgment. The Coalition asks for the stay
based on its theory that the ruling created broad gaps in the regulatory scheme, but for the
reasons already explained, its contention appears to be based on a misconception of what
was decided on September 17, 1999. The appellant should not have his acquittal kept in
Jeopardy while issues which are much broader than the specifics of his prosecution are
litigated. The request for a stay of the acquittal directed on September 17, 1999, is
therefore denied.

A Stay of the Broader Effect of the September 17, 1999 Majority Judgment

47 In the event the respondent Attorney General of Canada or the intervener Attorney
General for New Brunswick should determine that it is in the public interest to apply for a
stay of the effect of the Court's recognition and affirmation of the Mi'kmagq treaty right in
its September 17, 1999 majority judgment, while leaving in place the acquittal of the
appellant, the Court will entertain argument on whether it has the jurisdiction to grant
such a stay, and if so, whether it ought to do so in this case.

Disposition

48 The Coalition's motion is dismissed with costs.

Motion dismissed.

Solicitors for the applicant the West Nova Fishermen's Coalition): Daley, Black &
Moreira, Halifax.

Solicitor for Donald John Marshall, Jr., respondent on the motion: Bruce H. Wildsmith,
Barss Corners, Nova Scotia.

Solicitor for Her Majesty the Queen, respondent on the motion: The Attorney General of
Canada, Ottawa.

Solicitors for the Native Council of Nova Scotia, respondent on the motion: Burchell,
Hayman, Barnes, Halifax.

Solicitors for the Union of New Brunswick Indians, respondent on the motion: Getty
Bear, Fredericton.éé
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